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Chairman’s Statement

TEHRESE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”), | am pleased to present the annual report
of China Sandi Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the
nine months ended 31 December 2018.

RESULTS

The financial year end date of the Company has been changed
from 31 March to 31 December following the publication of
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2018. This is the first financial
year after such change. Accordingly, the financial reporting
period as presented in the financial statements covers the
period of nine months from 1 April 2018 to 31 December
2018. The change of financial year end date of the Company
is to align its financial year end date with that of the principal
subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"),
which are statutorily required to close their accounts with
the financial year end date of 31 December. The Board
considers that the change of financial year end date of the
Company will facilitate the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements of the Group. For the nine months ended
31 December 2018, the Group recorded a total revenue of
approximately HK$149.8 million, representing a decrease
of approximately 79% compared with the year ended 31
March 2018. It was mainly due to the decrease of revenue in
the property development segment. The loss attributable to
the owners of the Company for the nine months ended 31
December 2018 amounted to HK$81.0 million as compared
with a profit of HK$156.3 million in last year. Basic loss per
share was HK1.82 cents (for the year ended 31 March 2018:
basic earnings per share of HK3.60 cents). However, the
contracted sales of the Group for the nine months ended
31 December 2018 reached approximately HK$916.6 million
with a total gross floor area (“GFA") of approximately 64,432
square meters (“sg.m").

REVIEW OF THE PERIOD

In 2018, the worldwide economy was weakened due to the
adverse factors which included Sino-US trade conflicts, the
slowing growth momentum of major economies, the rising
global interest rate trend and Brexit, thus increasing the risk of
economic downturn in the coming years. However, the Group
is confident to the future development of the PRC economy
arising from China’s further opening-up and reforms over the
long term.

EAIPR

KB F =R AR A ([
ARNEE((2EDe ([2F8]) R
REBADFARENBEAT (HIE AL
BEE-T-NF+-A=+—HiLh
ARz &R

R BAEEBRE-_TE—N\E=A=+—
HItFE 2 KEZGEMBRERE  AQF
CUHBEFEAERHER=-_A=1T—H#
BhAT-_A=t—"B -AEEAEZEFEZ
BEMBFEE Bt BBEREREY) 20
REHERE T - N\FWUWA—BE_Z
—N\F+—A=+—8 1@ A HMRE-- &
BARE B EFEAEERBHEESHY
BEELHERHEEMNRPEARKEME
([FENDZFEWNBRARIZHMBFRELEE
HE -3 25X EWBRARIRETEERA
MW+ A=+—B2YBRFELEBHLE
BHIRE -EE2RAE EFEARAPERE
EHEHBHEFNNERASE ZRE0
WER-BE_ZT—\F+ZA=F+—HLAI
& A - NEE 81 48 W 25 #7149,800,000/%8
T REE-E-N\FA=+—HLHF
ERmADHIT9% - Wk D EZHRNYERE D
HzWBRIIB-BE—_FT—N\F+=
AZ+—BLEAEA ARAEE AEN
/&5 18 A&81,000,00058 7T M £ F 8l A% F
#9156,300,000/8 7T - F AR E A E 18 51.82
B (HEZEZ=_FT - N\F=A=+—HLF
B BREXRRFI60E) A K&
EREzEz—_T—N\F+-_A=+—H1A
il A 2 & 485 E &E3E47916,600,00078 7T -
MRS ([REME])K64,432F 5K
([FFHK]) -

Z<HA [ 2] B

RIZ-N\F ZPXBEHHR TBLE
RBIEZRBENE 2ERNEBEREBER
METHRRZE  2IREEED  FLR
RBELBETRBEBRINA - A AEE S
EE — MR RN E SR P
RBERKERFTMIED

China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018 . ;



On 21 September 2018, the Group entered into an agreement
to acquire the entire issued share capital of All Excel Industries
Limited, which indirectly holds the entire equity interest in
Fuzhou Gaojia Real Property Development Company Limited
ENEERMEREBR AR (“Fuzhou Gaojia”) which in
turn through its subsidiaries owns the properties in Shanghai
City, Fujian Province, Baoji City and lJilin Province. The related
properties have a total gross floor area of approximately
1,378,750 sq.m., comprising residential area of approximately
633,431 sg.m., office/hotel area of approximately 236,552
sq.m., retail area of approximately 231,209 sq.m., and
carparks and others of approximately 277,558 sq.m.,
representing approximately 45.9%, 17.2%, 16.8% and 20.1%
of the total gross floor area of the properties respectively.

The Group believes that with the qualification of Class 1
Real Estate Development Enterprise (5 b 2% 0 % —
M & &) attained by Fuzhou Gaojia, this acquisition can
enhance the scope of the property development projects
in which the Group is allowed to participate in the future.
The Board is also of the view that this acquisition provides
an attractive opportunity for the Company to (i) diversify its
property development and property investment business into
different regions in the PRC and (ii) strengthen the earnings
and financial position of the Group. Details of the acquisition
are set out in the announcement on 21 September 2018
and shareholders’ circular dated 26 December 2018. This
acquisition is completed on 30 January 2019.

PROSPECTUS

The Group is principally engaged in the property development
and property investment business in the PRC. According to
the statistics released by the National Bureau of Statistics,
China’s gross domestic product reached approximately
RMB9O0 trillion in 2018 with a growth rate of 6.6%, and the
overall economy is still operating within a reasonable level.
The Group is cautiously optimistic about the economy and
property market in the PRC in the long run. The management
will actively continue to look for investment opportunities in
relation to the real estate business in the PRC and maintain
a policy of selectively and continuously replenishing our land
bank, so as to enhance our overall competitiveness and lay a
solid foundation for the Group’s long term development. The
management believes that the Group is well-poised for the
challenges ahead and is determined to strive for higher returns
to our shareholders.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement

TEHRESE

APPRECIATION S|

On behalf of the Board, | would like to thank our valued RAZERRESTeRGIZL HEGLE
customers, suppliers and business associates for their BYEMENES TR LS ARG AER
invaluable contributions and support. | also want to express EEERMTEE I ALBEHENFEET
my gratitude to our management team and all staff of the Eo 18 NAFBGHIREMIFE S NE
Group for their hard work during the period under review. Last e

but not least, | am most grateful to our shareholders for their

continuous support and confidence.

Guo Jiadi FE
Chairman 26 hniE
Hong Kong, 22 March 2019 HEE —_T-NF=ZA=-t+=H
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 (the “Period”),
the Group recorded a total revenue of approximately
HK$149.8 million, representing a decrease of approximately
HK$557.9 million compared with the year ended 31 March
2018.

Loss attributable to the owners of the Company for the Period
amounted to approximately HK$81.0 million as compared with
a profit of approximately HK$156.3 million last year. Basic loss
per share was HK1.82 cents (year ended 31 March 2018: basic
earnings per share of HK3.60 cents).

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final
dividend for the nine months ended 31 December 2018 (year
ended 31 March 2018: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in property development and
holding of property for investment and rental purpose, as well
as money lending business.

Property development
Contracted property sales

Contracted sales of the Group for the nine months ended
31 December 2018 reached approximately HK$916.6 million
with a total gross floor area (“GFA") of approximately 64,432
square meters (“sgq.m”). The Group focuses on its projects in
respect of peripheral facilities seeking to fulfill needs of the
middle to upper class households.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEN®R DM

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) X ERE ()

Property development (continued) MERRE (&)

Contracted property sales (continued) BRYEHEE (&)

The table below illustrates the contracted sales (stated before TRIWRAKERBEEZE_ZT—N\F+_H
the deduction of applicable taxes) achieved by the Group for —t—BIENEARZALHEEEE (k@
the nine months ended 31 December 2018: BREa)

Contracted Sales for the nine months ended 31 December 2018
BE-Z-N\E+-A=+-ALhBERANHER
Average price
of contracted  Percentage

Contracted  Contracted sales of total
sales amount sales area HK$/sq.m  contracted
Location Property projects Type HK$'000 (sq.m) (Note)  sales amount
BHHE
THEE
BHHE ANHE Br/ HANHE
¢8 % Fhx L
ik N%ER i TERT (FHK) (Hit) Aalt
Fuzhou City, Fujian Province Fuzhou Sandi Chuangfu Carparks 1,930 390 4,949 0.2
BRERMM Plaza 2
BM=ReIEES
Wauyishan City, Fujian Province  Wuyishan Sandi New Times  Residential 206,626 16,873 12,246 225
REERRUM Square (=2
RERL=@HBERES
Xian City, Shaanxi Province Qujiang Xiangsong Fengdan
REEAELM * Xian Sandi
FZ =i o fT A S
- Phase 1 Residential 30,987 2,051 15,108 34
- 8158 i3
- Phase 2 Residential 285,522 21,822 13,084 312
-£28 F=x
- Phase 3 Residential 391,569 23,296 16,808 42.7
- 334 =
Total 916,634 64,432 14,226 100.0
@zt
Note: K&t

The calculation of average price per sq.m is based on the sales BEFRFHEBRENRNBRE ER LA
revenue before the deduction of business/value-added tax and other REEMHINE THREZ HE RS BETE-
surcharges/taxes.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

= =3 =4 aN
EEENWR DN
BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) XBEE#)
Property development (continued) MERRE (&)
Portfolio of property development projects YWEBRREIEHHAS
The table below summaries the portfolio of property THREMHR-_E—NF+-_A=+—H2
development projects as at 31 December 2018: MEERIBHAES:
Under development/
Completed future
) development
BRH ¥R/ ARER
Saleable GFA Planned GFA
delivered/ GFA  GFAunder forfuture
Actual/expected Site area presold  available for ~ development  development Group's
Location Property projects Type completion dates  sq.m sgm  salesqm sqm sqm  interest’%
BRE/ AR

RETHE AfE  BE®  BEAE
BR/Rit tHER REER  REER BEER  REER AREER

i NxEE g2 TR A Fax Fak  FRORG)  FAORGE)  FAKGE) 0 B
Fuzhou City, Fujian Fuzhou Sandi Chuangfu
_Province, Pz
REERMD RM=RaIERA
-Zone A Commercial/office 2017 18,330 22,403 4,948 - - 95
-AR BE/HD
-Zone B Hotel 2019 - - 69,998 - 9
- Bfe B
SJu%—total 18,330 22,403 4,948 69,998 - 95
/ \E
Wayishan City, Wauyishan Sandi New Times ~ Residential/ 2022 168,669 - - 87,023 70,009 55

_Fujan Provinee _ Square _Commercia
BEARELD  AAL-eRSRRA 438

Xian City, Shaanxi ~ Qujiang Xianasong Fengdan

Province * Xian Sandi
REZAELD RZ=j o BT R A o
- Phase 1 Residential/ 2019 54,996 68,423 4132 71,363 - 95
-318 . Commercia
e/ B%
- Phase 2 Residential/ 2021 34,192 - - 142,595 - 95
-5 . Compmercia
e/ B%
- Phase 3 Residential/ 2022 35,116 - - 164,463 - 95
- %34 . Commercia
e/ B%
%Qmm 124304 6343 4132 384N - %
/ \E
Total 311,303 90,826 9,080 535,442 70,009
Total attributable GFA 86,285 8,626 473,861 38,505
BEERENR

. TEZBZERARAT  2018FH 9
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWK DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Property development (continued)

Portfolio of property development projects (continued)

Notes:

(i)  The table above includes properties for which the Group has
obtained the relevant land use rights certificate(s) but has not
obtained the requisite construction permits or the Group has
received the confirmation letter on bidding of granting land use
rights but in progress to obtain the land use right certificate(s).
The figures for “GFA available for sale”, “GFA under
development” and “Planned GFA for future development”
are based on figures provided in the relevant governmental
documents, such as the property ownership certificates, the
construction work planning permits, the pre-sale permits,
the construction land planning permits or the land use rights
certificate. The categories of information are based on our
internal records.

(i) The figures of “Saleable GFA pre-sold” and “GFA available
for sale” include saleable GFA of car parks lot; the figures
of "GFA under development” and “Planned GFA for future
development” also include non-saleable GFA such as ancillary
area.

(iii)  "GFA available for sale” and “GFA under development” and
“Planned GFA for future development” are derived from the
Group’s internal records and estimates.

The following section provides further details of the development
progress and completion of each of the projects.

1 0 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018 . ;
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) EBORE )
Property development (continued) MHEBR (F)

Portfolio of property development projects (continued) YERREEHHAS (&)

1) Fuzhou Sandi Chuangfu Plaza 1) #BIN=#HAEES
Fuzhou Sandi Chuangfu Plaza comprises two zones, wBN=HaEEESBIEMERR  EIA
namely Zone A and Zone B. The construction works of ENMBE - ABERTREERT UK
Zone A was completed and a total GFA of 22,403 sg.m BEE_ZT-N\F+ZA=+—H'B2
had been sold up to 31 December 2018. Zone B consists EHAEEEIE22,403F /5 K B&®
of three blocks of hotel buildings which is expected to be BIEZEBERE BRER=ZZ—N
completed in 2019. FETo

HEZEEZERERAR 2018F 1 1



1

Management Discussion and Analysis
EERBNwR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property development (continued)

Portfolio of property development projects (continued)

2)

3)

Wuyishan Sandi New Times Square

The project situated at 4 kilometres west of Da Hong
Pao Scenic Area (a PRC National 4A-level scenic spot),
Wuyishan City, Fujian Province, with a total site area of
168,669 sg.m, is planned to develop into low-density
residential properties with a commercial complex.

Construction work had been commenced in July 2018
and the project is expected to be completed in 2022. The
first phase of residential properties had been launched for
pre-sales following its sales permit granted in November
2018 and contracted sales of approximately HK$206.6
million were recorded during the nine months ended 31
December 2018.

Qujiang Xiangsong Fengdan e Xian Sandi

Qujiang Xiangsong Fengdan Xian Sandi is a residential
project located in the Qujiang New District in Xian City,
which is a new urban development zone designated for
promoting the cultural and tourism industry. The project
occupies a site area of approximately 124,304 sg.m in
total and divided into 3 phases in development, each
phase mainly comprised of high-rise apartments with
ancillary facilities.

2 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEEN®R DM

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) XBEE#)
Property development (continued) MERRE (&)
Portfolio of property development projects (continued)

WERRBEEASE (&)

Phase 1 consist of zone A and B. Zone A consist of
3 blocks of residential buildings with certain retail
units, was completed in 2017 and mostly delivered to
the buyers since then. Zone B consists of 2 blocks of
residential buildings and a kindergarten, is expected to
complete in 2019. Pre-sales for Phase 1 had commenced
since 2015 and the contracted sales amount of
approximately HK$31.0 million was recorded during the
nine months ended 31 December 2018.

Phase 2 and Phase 3 are currently under construction and
scheduled to complete in 2021 and 2022 respectively.
Pre-sales for Phase 2 had commenced since 2017 and
Phase 3 had launched for pre-sales in September 2018
after pre-sales permits were granted for 2 blocks of
residential buildings. During the nine months ended 31
December 2018, Phase 2 and Phase 3 had achieved the
contracted sales amount of approximately HK$285.5
million and HK$391.6 million respectively.
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FTEEBEFERETEEEN - RZF
—tFRT REHEMIERNTF
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWK DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property development (continued)

Portfolio of property development projects (continued)
Land bank replenishment

The Group's strategy is to maintain a land bank portfolio sufficient
to support the Group’s own development pipeline for the next
few years. As at 31 December 2018, the Group had a quality land
bank amounting to a total GFA of approximately 614,531 sq.m,
comprising (a) a total GFA of approximately 9,080 sq.m completed
but remain unsold, (b) a total GFA of approximately 535,442 sq.m
under development and construction, and (c) a total planned GFA
of approximately 70,009 sq.m. held for future development.

The property investment business

The current property investment business is mainly operated
by Fujian Sinco Industrial Co., Ltd. (“Fujian Sinco”) which is
engaged in development, operation and management of a home
improvement plaza (“Sandi Plaza”). During the nine months
ended 31 December 2018, the Group recorded the rental,
property management and related fee income of approximately
HK$104.2 million (year ended 31 March 2018: approximately
HK$113.4 million). The Sandi Plaza had an occupancy rate
of approximately 92.5% which represent an increase in the
occupancy rate as compared to the year ended 31 March 2018
of approximately 89.9%. The Board is confident on this property
investment business and believes it will continuously bring a
positive and stable return to the Group in the future.

Other investments

Our other investments including investing surplus cash from
operations in listed equity securities and loan receivables in Hong
Kong and the PRC. We have invested in listed high yield stocks
with growth potentials. We have also invested in loan receivables
for interest incomes. The objectives of these investments are to
strike a balance between risk and return in order to maximise
return to shareholders. The equity securities acquired are
principally for short term investment purpose. The Group would
closely monitor performances of the mentioned investments and
will seek for disposal opportunities for profit if any. Our principal
business is still engaged in property development and property
investment business and thus we will continue to proactively
take up opportunities in real estate market. Therefore, the Group
would consider disposing or downsizing the existing listed-equities
investment portfolio when the Group has funding needs for
expanding the property development business in the future.

4 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Significant events during the Period

(i)

Major Transaction in Relation to A Property
Development Project in Xi‘an

On 9 August 2018, Fujian Sinco Industrial Co., Ltd
("Fujian Sinco”) and Grand International Development
Limited (“Grand International”), both being wholly-
owned subsidiaries of the Company entered the into a
cooperation agreement (the “Cooperation Agreement”)
with Xi'an Chongfeng Real Estate Company Limited, an
independent third party of the Group, whereby, among
other things, (i) Fujian Sinco and Grand International
shall make capital contribution of RMB6.2 million and
US$30 million (equivalent to RMB201 million) to the
Xi'an Zhichengda Real Estate Company Limited (the
“Xi'an Zhichengda” or “Target Company”) in cash; (ii)
Fujian Sinco and Grand International shall provide the
shareholder’s loan of RMB360.9 million to the Target
Company; and (iii) Fujian Sinco shall provide the advance
of RMB50 million to the representatives, which hold 26%
equity interests (the “Representatives”) in the through
the Target Company. On the same date, Fujina Sinco
and Grand International entered into the Memorandum
with Zhongnan lJiafeng, Chongfeng Real Estate and the
Representatives in relation to certain matters regarding
the cooperation for the Land Parcels. Upon completion of
the Capital Contribution, the Group will be interested in
the Target Company of 37%.

The principal assets of the Target Company are three
parcels of land located at the south of Zhenghe Jiu
Road, the west of Tai'an Road, the east of Taiping Road
and the north of Zhenghe Lu Road, Fengdong New
Town, Xixian District, Xi‘an with a total site area of
approximately 182,646 square metres for residential and
commercial uses and the total construction GFA would
be approximately 625,630 square metres (the “Land
Parcels”). The portion of the Land Parcels for residential
purpose has a land use rights of 70 years while the
portion of the Land Parcels for commercial purpose has a
land use rights of 40 years.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWK DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Significant events during the Period (continued)

(i)

(i)

Major Transaction in Relation to A Property
Development Project in Xi‘an (continued)

According to the latest development proposal of the Land
Parcels, the Land Parcels are planned to be developed
into a mixed property development project, with a total
construction gross floor area of approximately 418,830
square metres for commercial and residential uses, and
a total construction gross floor area of approximately
206,800 square metres for ancillary facilities, including
carpark. The construction of Nan Mei Commodity Trading
Centre Phases 1 and 2 (X @MESFLEE — =
H3) is scheduled to commence by the end of 2018 and
complete by December 2021. The construction of Nan
Mei Commodity Trading Centre Phase 3 (FIXEmE 5
2JB B = B9) is scheduled to commence in the second or
third quarter of 2019.

On 28 September 2018, the Group paid up the registered
capital in the aggregate amount of RMB207.2 million in
full and, the Group is interested in the Xi‘an Zhichengda
as to 37%. The interests in Xi'an Zhichengda is
accounted for as an associate in the financial statements
of the Group.

Further details are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 9 August 2018 and the circular of the
Company dated 21 December 2018.

Very Substantial Acquisition and Connected
Transaction — Acquisition of the Entire Issued
Share Capital of All Excel Industries Limited (“All
Excel”) Involving Issue of Consideration Shares
and Convertible Bonds Under Specific Mandate
Reference is made to the announcement (the
“Announcement”) of the Company dated 21 September
2018. Capitalised terms used in this report have the same
meanings as defined in the Announcement unless the
context requires otherwise.

6 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEEN®R DM

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) EHOE e
Significant events during the Period (continued) AHEEKRSE (&)

(ii) Very Substantial Acquisition and Connected

(i) EEAKRBEARBERS - K

Transaction — Acquisition of the Entire Issued
Share Capital of All Excel Industries Limited
(“All Excel”) Involving Issue of Consideration
Shares and Convertible Bonds Under Specific
Mandate (continued)

On 21 September 2018, Grand Supreme Limited
("Grand Supreme”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company (as purchaser), Primary Partner International
Limited (“Primary Partner”), a company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability which
is wholly held by Mr. Guo lJiadi (“Mr. Guo”), a director
and controlling shareholder of the Company (as vendor)
and Mr. Guo (as guarantor) entered into the Agreement,
pursuant to which Grand Supreme has conditionally
agreed to acquire, and Primary Partner has conditionally
agreed to sell the Target Share at the Consideration of
HK$ 1,500 million, which shall be satisfied as to HK$200
million by way of cash, as to HK$600 million by way of
the issue of the Promissory Note, as to HK$200 million
by the issue of the Consideration Shares and as to
HK$500 million by the issue of the Convertible Bonds,
and the Guarantor has conditionally agreed to guarantee
the performance by Primary Partner of its obligations
thereunder.

The Target Share represents the entire issued share
capital in All Excel, which indirectly holds the entire
equity interest in Fuzhou Gaojia which in turn through
its subsidiaries owns the Properties. The substance of
the Acquisition is the principal property assets held by
the Target Group, comprising (i) the Shanghai Property
Project; (ii) the Fujian Property Project; (iii) the Baoji
Property Project and (iv) the Jilin Property Project.

The Properties have a total GFA of approximately
1,378,750 sq.m., comprising residential area of
approximately 633,431 sq.m., office/hotel area of
approximately 236,552 sq.m., retail area of approximately
231,209 sg.m., and carparks and others of approximately
277,558 sg.m., representing approximately 45.9%,
17.2%, 16.8% and 20.1% of the total GFA of the
Properties respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEN®R DM

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) EBOE#)
Significant events during the Period (continued) AHEEKRSE (&)

(ii) Very Substantial Acquisition and Connected

(i) EEAKRBEARBERS - K

1

(iii)

Transaction — Acquisition of the Entire Issued
Share Capital of All Excel Industries Limited
(“All Excel”) Involving Issue of Consideration
Shares and Convertible Bonds Under Specific
Mandate (continued)

The Acquisition was approved at the Company’s special
general meeting held on 16 January 2019 and completed
on 30 January 2019. Upon the completion of Acquisition,
All Excel has become an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company and the financial results of the Target
Group will be consolidated into the financial statements
of the Group.

Further details are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 21 September 2018, 16 January 2019
and 30 January 2019 and the circular of the Company
dated 26 December 2018.

Investment in coal bed methane project in Sundo
Gas Limited

On 19 February 2016, the Company as subscriber, Sundo
Gas Limited (“Sundo Gas”) as issuer and Mr. Zhong
Changming (“Mr. Zhong") entered into a subscription
agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”), pursuant
to whom the Company has conditionally agreed to
subscribe for the redeemable exchangeable bonds
(the "Exchangeable Bonds”) in the aggregate principal
amount of HK$133.3 million with 20% interest rate
per annum, and a pledge of not less than 36.7%
equity interests in Jiangsu Guosheng Hengtai Energy
Development Co., Ltd (“Jiangsu Guosheng”) shall
be given in favour of Fujian Sinco as security for the
Exchangeable Bonds.

8 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018

ﬁ-

BEEEXERAA ([2E]) 22
BMERITRA FRREFFRE
RITREKORTLRKRES (&)

WESEEERARRR _ET—NF—
ATRBRITZERFINAE L&
B EER-_ZT-NAF-A=1+H%
RoMRBEHTKIL  2EBRA
ARAzEEEENBRARKERE
Bz MBRREEEEANKE ZMF
|k

E—TSHBIERNAQAFTHBA-_ZE—N
FAA-+—H —ZE—hhF—A
F+RARZTE-NAF-—A=FTHZA
ERARNGHHA-T—N\F+=-A
“+HRNEZBEE-

(iii) 7 Sundo Gas Limited R EEER

HH

RZE—RNE-A+hLB ARQF
(fEARE A) Sundo Gas Limited
([Sundo Gas] ' {EREITA)REE
REBAAE(BEEETL—HR
BiHhz ((RERE]) Bt A2
AEEKHREERBERASRE
133,300,000/ 7T & F| %£20% 2 7] i&
A RBES([AIRBRES]) M
B IEHEREREREREGR AT
(DI&RER ) D367 %R EE
By EELE (EREHNIKIE-



Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEEN®R DM

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) ¥ EE s

Significant events during the Period (continued) AHBMEKREE(£)
(iii) Investment in coal bed methane project in Sundo (iii) 7 Sundo Gas Limited# 2 ERE R
Gas Limited (continued) HE (&)

The Exchangeable Bonds can exchange for in aggregate
up to a maximum of 123,934 shares in UC Energy, which
is a subsidiary of Sundo Gas, upon the occurrence of an
initial public offering and listing of and permission to deal
in shares of UC Energy on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”) or such
other internationally recognized investment exchange
of the same or higher international standing at the
exchange price of approximately US$138.76 per share
in the capital of UC Energy, representing 18.5% of the
issued ordinary shares of UC Energy at the subscription
date.

The subscription of the Exchangeable Bonds was
completed on 13 October 2016 and then matured
on 29 October 2017. Sundo Gas however failed
to redeem the Exchangeable Bonds and pay to the
Company outstanding principal amount thereunder in
the aggregate sum of HK$123.8 million (equivalent to
RMB110 million) as at 27 November 2018.

On 27 November 2018, Fujian Sinco entered into a loan
agreement with Shannan Tianyuan Investment Centre
and Shannan Shenyuan Investment Centre (collectively,
the “Borrowers”), pursuant to which the Fujian Sinco has
agreed to lend to the Borrowers the loan in the principal
amount of up to RMB110 million (the “Loan”) at interest
of 20% per annum for a term of 18 months (the “Loan
Agreement”). On the same date, the Company, Sundo
Gas and Mr. Zhong entered into a confirmation letter that
upon entering into of the Loan Agreement, Sundo Gas
and Mr. Zhong shall not have further obligations to repay
the outstanding principal amount of the Exchangeable
Bonds (to the extent equivalent to the principal amount
of the Loan). The Loan is in effect an extension of
the principal amount provided to Sundo Gas by the
Group under the Exchangeable Bonds. the repayment
obligations of the Borrowers under the Loan Agreement
are secured by the pledge of 98.12% equity interest
in Jiangsu Guosheng. In addition, Mr. Zhong agreed to
grant an irrevocable joint liability guarantee in favour of
the Fujian Sinco for a term of two years commencing
from the expiry date of the term of the Loan Agreement.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWK DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Significant events during the Period (continued)

(iii) Investment in coal bed methane project in Sundo
Gas Limited (continued)

Further details are set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 24 August 2015, 29 December 2015, 19
February 2016, 14 June 2016, 13 October 2016 and 27
November 2018 and note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements.

OUTLOOK

Going forward, Sino-US trade disputes and Brexit are likely
to cloud the global economic sentiment. However, the Group
is confident to the future development of the PRC economy
arising from China’s further opening-up and reforms over the
long term. The Group is also positive in the PRC government’s
“One Belt One Road” initiative which is important to
accelerate the development of the domestic economic system
of China.

As the capital of China’s Shaanxi province, Xi'an is one of the
three international metropolises and the 9th Regional Central
City of China designated by China’s central government.
Besides, Xi'an is a transport hub and open frontier. It is an
important fulcrum city on the “One Belt One Road” initiative,
and the central city in the west of the China section of the
New Eurasian Continental Bridge. Fujian is not only the main
starting point of the ancient maritime Silk Road, but is a core
area of the “21st Century Maritime Silk Road” on the “One
Belt One Road” initiative. This should support and provide the
new business opportunities and we anticipate the economy
in both Xian and Fujian will continue to generate sustained
growth. The Group will continue to deepen its development
projects in Shaanxi province and Fujian province, and we will
strategically expand our geographical coverage, enhance our
regional and provincial penetrations in the PRC real estate
market.

In a view of creating the maximum value for customers,
shareholders, employees and society, the Group will continue
to drive the diversified channels for the land acquisition and
proactively look into various opportunities in the property
investment sector to expand its operating scale for continuous
development and accomplish sustainable growth in the years
ahead.

0 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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Management Discussion and Analysis

OPERATING RESULTS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group's revenue is primarily revenue from sales of
properties and rental income, property management and
related fee income, which contributed approximately 30.4%
and 69.6% respectively of the revenue for the nine months
ended 31 December 2018. The Group’s revenue decreased
from approximately HK$707.7 million for the year ended 31
March 2018 to approximately HK$149.8 million for the nine
months ended 31 December 2018. This decrease was primarily
due to the decrease in revenue from sales of properties. The
table below sets forth the breakdown of the Group’s revenue
by operating segment as indicated:
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ended 31 December

For the year ended

2018 31 March 2018
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HK$'000 % HK$000 %
FET TFET
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWK DN

OPERATING RESULTS AND FINANCIAL
REVIEW (continued)

Revenue from sales of properties

The Group’s revenue from sales of properties decreased to
approximately HK$45.6 million for the nine months ended 31

December 2018 (year ended 31 March 2018: approximately
HK$594.3 million).

The table below summarises the revenue from sales of
properties for the nine months ended 31 December 2018:

EEXERMKEERE#)

MEHE WS
HE-_Z-N\Ft+_A=+—81A
BMA AEEBYWEHERZRIEY
45,600,000 (B2 — \F=H
=+—HIEFE : 4594,300,000/8 7T ) °

TEBEHE—FT-/\F+_A=1+—~8
LENAE A 2 R SHE Was

Average price  Percentage
Sales GFA per sq.m of total
revenue sold HKS$/sq.m sales
Location Property projects Type HK$'000 (sg.m) (Note) amount
BYHK
EERE FHEER
HEWSE R Br/TAR GEHEE
i 8 WEER HERR (F&T) (FAK) (Kizt) BAL
Fuzhou City, Fujian Fuzhou Sandi Chuangfu  Commercial/office 23,350 2,078 11,237 51.2
Province Plaza GEYE 7N
BRARMT BM=2EIEES
Xian City, Shaanxi Qujiang Xiangsong Residential/
Province Fengdan e Xian Sandi Commercial
REEAZD FR=me iIEERS 2/ B%
- Phase 1 22,248 1,202 18,509 48.8
- 518
Total #25t 45,598 3,280 13,902 100.0
Note: B & -

The calculation of average price per sq.m is based on the sales
revenue after the deduction of business/value-added tax and other
surcharges/taxes.

Rental income and property management and related
fee income

Revenue for the nine months ended 31 December 2018
includes the rental income and property management and
related fee income in amount aggregate to approximately
HK$104.2 million (year ended 31 March 2018: approximately
HK$113.4 million), representing a decrease of approximately
HK$9.2 million compared with last year.

2 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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Management Discussion and Analysis

OPERATING RESULTS AND FINANCIAL
REVIEW (continued)

Cost of properties sales

The Group’s cost of properties sales decreased to
approximately HK$37.2 million for the nine months ended 31
December 2018 (year ended 31 March 2018: approximately
HK$366.3 million). The decrease was primarily attributable to
the decrease in the total GFA of properties delivered during the
Period.

Change in fair value on investment properties

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018, the Group
recognised net fair value loss of approximately HK$1.1 million
on its investment properties (year ended 31 March 2018: net
fair value gain of approximately HK$2.8 million).

Other gains and losses

Other gains and losses for the Period represented net exchange
loss of approximately HK$26.3 million arising from the
depreciation in Renminbi during the Period (year ended 31
March 2018: net exchange gain of approximately HK$25.2
million).

Other expenses

The Group's other expenses for the nine months ended 31
December 2018 amounted to approximately HK$57.9 million
(year ended 31 March 2018: approximately HK$91.3 million),
representing a decrease of approximately HK$33.4 million.

The fall was mainly attributable to the decrease in sales
commission of approximately HK$44.6 million paid for
properties contracts which were previously expensed when
incurred. As a result of application of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standard 15 Revenue from Contract with Customers
during the Period, sales commission are now required to
capitalise as contract costs and only charged to profit or
loss when the revenue from the related sale is recognised.
However, the decrease is partially offset by the increase in
legal and professional fee of approximately HK$5.5 million
mainly incurred for the major acquisition and very substantial
acquisition undergone during the Period. Further details of the
other expenses are set out in note 8(b) to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWK DN

OPERATING RESULTS AND FINANCIAL
REVIEW (continued)

Finance costs

Finance costs consist of interest expenses on bank borrowings,
bonds payable and contract liabilities. The finance costs
amounted to approximately HK$34.6 million (year ended 31
March 2018: approximately HK$54.2 million) for the nine
months ended 31 December 2018, decreased by approximately
HK$19.6 million or 36.1% compared with last year. The
decrease in finance costs was mainly due to the decrease in
interest on bank borrowings.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense mainly comprises the PRC enterprise
income tax and land appreciation tax amounted to
approximately HK$24.6 million for the nine months ended 31
December 2018 (year ended 31 March 2018: approximately
HK$91.0 million). The substantial fall was represented by the
decrease of PRC enterprise income tax and land appreciation

BEXENTKLOE 8

& A

BMEKABRRBIOTEE EBNEHFRE
HagziBetH - Bz —N\F
+ZA=+—HLENEAAZBMEKRELY
34,600,000 T (B Z2=_ZF—/\F=H
=+ —HILFE : 454,200,000/ 0) * &
= R 4 4919,600,0007% 7T 5636.1% ©
BERABLDEEHRIBITEER BT
g(o

P8R

HE_Z—N\F+ZA=+—HLENE
A FEHRBEYEEREFBECEMRS
i & 4 b 32 (B F1 4924,600,00008 7T (&
2T \FEZA=Z+—BILFE:H
91,000,000/ 7T ) ° KM ThE 2 RN EL

E-ET-N\F+-_A=+t—BHIthEAH®

tax which was mainly attributable to the decreasing sales R EEER DT o
of properties recognised during the nine months ended 31
December 2018.
Investments in securities HERE
As at As at
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HK$°000 HK$'000
R-ZE-NF RZZT—)N\F
+=A —A
=+—H =+—H
FET FET
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong, at fair ~ HE LR AFESH A FE
value 69,006 125,745

The above equity securities are classified as financial assets at
FVTPL (31 March 2018: investments held for trading) in the
consolidated financial statements as they have been acquired
principally for the purpose of selling in the near term.

4 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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Management Discussion and Analysis

OPERATING RESULTS AND FINANCIAL
REVIEW (continued)

Investments in securities (continued)

The carrying amount of the investments held for trading
are equal to its fair values, which have been determined by
reference to the quoted market bid prices available on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange. During the nine months ended 31
December 2018, the Group has recorded a net unrealised fair
value loss of approximately HK$56.7 million (year ended 31
March 2018: a net unrealised fair value gain of approximately
HK$21.0 million and, net realised gain on disposal of
approximately HK$0.6 million).

As at 31 December 2018, the investments held for trading
represented an investment portfolio comprising 4 equity
securities listed in Hong Kong. All of them are securities listed
on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. There
were no significant acquisitions or disposals of the equity
securities during the nine months ended 31 December 2018.

The Group’s equity securities were represented as follows:
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Unrealised

fair value Dividend Percentage

gain (loss)  income for of total held
Percentage of for the the nine for trading Percentage of
shareholdings  nine months months investments total assets of
at31 ended ended 31  Fair value at at31  the Group at
December  31December ~ December 31December ~ December 31 December
2018 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018
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JREEA  WE(FE) REMA  2AFE #EEMM AEERMM
Company name/(Stock code) Note % HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 % %
LAER/ (RARE) Wit % FAT FAT AT % %
Kingston Finandial Group Limited (1031) ~ £F|E£BEBERAT(1031) 4 0.3 (52,740) 639 59,453 8.2 08
Others i b (3.999) - 9,553 138 0.1
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OPERATING RESULTS AND FINANCIAL
REVIEW (continued)

Investments in securities (continued)

Notes:

(@ Kingston Financial Group Limited (“Kingston Financial”) is
principally engaged in the provision of a wide range of financial
services which include securities brokerage, underwriting
and placements, margin and initial public offering financing,
corporate finance advisory services, futures brokerage and asset
management services. Kingston Financial also provides gaming
and hospitality services in Macau.

(b)  None of these investments represented more than 1% of the
total assets of the Group as at 31 December 2018.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had bank borrowings
of approximately HK$736.6 million denominated in RMB (31
March 2018: approximately HK$1,230.1 million denominated
in RMB) and other debts comprising bonds payable in total
amount to approximately HK$10.7 million (31 March 2018:
approximately HK$10.3 million). As at 31 December 2018
and 31 March 2018, all bank borrowings were secured with
fixed interest rate. The bank borrowings with maturities falling
due within one year, in the second year, in the third to the
fifth year, over five years amounted to HK$136.3 million and
HK$82.2 million, HK$301.3 million and HK$216.8 million
respectively (31 March 2018: HK$184.6 million, HK$243.2
million, HK$444.2 million and HK$358.1 million respectively).
Further details of the bank borrowings and bonds payable
are set out in note 28 and 31 respectively to the consolidated
financial statements.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of approximately HK$149.1 million (31 March
2018: approximately HK$201.6 million) which were mainly
denominated in HK$ and RMB.

6 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018

ﬁ-

EEXERMKEERE#)

BERE (4)
Bt

@ ZMNETREEARQAA([EMNES
BOIZXEBARH2ESRRE B85
EHEL BHEMAE RESRERR
MEERE CXMEBRBERSE HERL
KRBEETERE 2N E SR IFERM
REER RBEERS

by RZZT-—NF+ZA=+—8 #BEZZ
REMAEEBLEEI%N L

RBEESRMKEER
RZE—N\EFE+=ZA=+—H8B Xx&E
2 RITEE #736,600,00008 7T A AR
BAE(ZZE—N\F=ZA=Z+—H8:4
1,230,100,000/87C - MARBHE) - KH
1 ES B IEEMNESHE54/410,700,000
BET(ZE—-—NE=Z=A=+—8:4
10,300,000 7T) cRZE—NF+ = A
—t—HEZE-—NF=ZA=+—8"'F
BRITEEHBERBRETFE - ER1F
N RE2FE -NEIEZFESFERSFEM B
HZRITEELE D R /136,300,000
JT 82,200,000 7t ~ 301,300,000/ 7T &
216,800,000 T (ZFE—NF=A=+—
H : 9 54184,600,000 7T - 243,200,000
7 7T+ 444,200,0005% 7T }2.358,100,000/%8
TL) cBRRITEEREMESNFED R
R SRR 28 K%31 ©

RZZE—NF+_A=+—H A£B8FH
B4 MRS SFEL149,100,0008 ¢ (=
Z-N\F=ZA=+—H:4201,600,000/%
L) EFEUB TR ARESE



Management Discussion and Analysis

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES (continued)

As at 31 December 2018, the gearing ratio for the Group
was approximately 19.0% (31 March 2018: approximately
30.2%), calculated based on the net debts (comprising
bank borrowings and bonds payable less cash and cash
equivalent) of approximately HK$598.2 million (31 March
2018: approximately HK$1,038.8 million) over the total
equity of approximately HK$3,144.9 million (31 March 2018:
approximately HK$3,436.1 million). The debt ratio was
approximately 59.3% (31 March 2018: approximately 52.5%),
calculated as total liabilities over total assets of the Group.

The Group’s current available liquidity resources are sufficient
to meet its capital commitments. As at 31 December 2018, the
Group's net current assets amounted to approximately HK$0.4
million (31 March 2018: approximately HK$839.3 million). The
Group's current ratio, being percentage of its current assets
and its current liabilities, amounted to approximately 100.0%
(31 March 2018: approximately 142.2%).

The Group continued to adopt a prudent funding and treasury
policy to manage its liquidity needs. The objective is to
maintain adequate funds for financing working capital and
capture investment opportunities as and when they become
available. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The capital structure of the Group and fund raising activities
during the nine months ended 31 December 2018 are
summarised as follows:

(i) Bank borrowings

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had bank
borrowings of approximately HK$736.6 million (31
March 2018: approximately HK$1,230.1 million), of
which approximately HK$136.3 million are repayable
within one year and the remaining HK$600.2 million are
repayable beyond one year. The Group’s bank borrowings
bears interest rates ranging from approximately 5.70%
to 5.88% per annum. All the bank borrowings were
denominated in RMB.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE (continued)

()

Bank borrowings (continued)

At 31 December 2018, the Group’s bank borrowings
were secured by the Group's investment properties with
carrying amount of approximately HK$3,569.2 million
(31 March 2018: approximately HK$3,953.0 million);
rental proceeds over the investment property; Group’s
land use right and properties under development with
carrying amount of approximately HK$358.1 million (31
March 2018: approximately HK$358.2 million); Group’s
properties under development for sale and properties
held for sale with carrying amount of approximately
HK$34.0 million (31 March 2018: approximately
HK$1,249.2 million); corporate guarantees for the bank
loan with principal amount of approximately HK$676.9
million (31 March 2018: approximately HK$814.9 million)
executed by the Company; corporate guarantees for
the bank loan with principal amount of approximately
HK$59.7 million (31 March 2018: approximately
HK$287.3 million) executed by Fuzhou Gaojia Real
Property Development Company Limited, which is
beneficially owned by Mr. Guo Jiadi, director of the
Company; corporate guarantees for the bank loan with
principal amount of approximately HK$59.7 million (31
March 2018: approximately HK$127.9 million) executed
by Guoshi Investment Group Co. Limited (“Guoshi
Investment”), which is ultimately owned by Mr. Guo Jiadi,
director of the Company; and personal guarantees for
the bank loan with principal amount of approximately
HK$736.6 million (31 March 2018: approximately
HK$1,230.1 million) executed by Mr. Guo Jiadi, a director
of the Company, and Ms. Shen Bizhen, the spouse of Mr.
Guo Jiadi.

8 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE (continued)

(ii) Bonds payable
As at 31 December 2018 and 31 March 2018, the
Company had a 4-year 7% coupon bonds with principal
amount to HK$11 million (the “7% Coupon Bonds")
to certain independent third parties. The 7% Coupon
Bonds are denominated in HK$. Interest is payable
semiannually and the principal will be repaid when the
7% Coupon Bonds fall due on 23 July 2019. There is no
early redemption of the 7% Coupon Bonds neither by the
Company nor the 7% Coupon Bonds holders during the
nine months ended 31 December 2018.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

Save as set forth in the section headed “Business Review
— Significant events during the Period (i) Major Transaction
in Relation to A Property Development Project in Xi'an and
(ii) Very Substantial Acquisition and Connected Transaction
— Acquisition of the Entire Issued Share Capital of All Excel
Industries Limited (“All Excel”) Involving Issue of Consideration
Shares and Convertible Bonds Under Specific Mandate” in this
report, there were no other material acquisitions or disposals
of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the Period.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Save as disclosed in note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements, there is no material subsequent event undertaken
by the Company or by the Group after 31 December 2018 and
up to the date of this report.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE EQUITY
FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES

The use of the net proceeds from the equity fund raising
activities during the Period are summarised as follows:
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE EQUITY
FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES (continued)

Issue of Warrant Shares of the Company

On 19 December 2017, a total of 312,500,000 shares were
allotted and issued to the Beyond Steady Limited, the warrant
holder, raising gross proceeds of approximately HK$75.0
million. The Group intends to apply the net proceeds for
general working capital, capital expenditures and future
investments.

As at 31 December 2018, approximately HK$5.0 million has
been utilised as general working capital, and approximately
HK$70.0 million had been utilised to satisfy part of the
investment costs in an associate. Details of Investments in
Associate are set out in the section headed “Business Review”
in this report.

CHARGE ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had investment
properties, a land use right, properties under development
and certain inventories of properties of an aggregate carrying
value of HK$3,961.3 million (31 March 2018: HK$5,560.4
million) which had been pledged to secure the Group’s bank
borrowings. Besides, all the shares of an associate held by
the Group were pledged to secure a loan granted to that
associate.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had entered into agreements with certain banks to
provide guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities granted
to purchasers of the Group’s properties. As at 31 December
2018, the Group provided guarantees for mortgage loans in an
amount of approximately HK$1,437.0 million (31 March 2018:
approximately HK$911.3 million) to banks in respect of such
agreements.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has commitments in
respect of investment properties amounted to approximately
HK$273.2 million (31 March 2018: approximately HK$299.8
million), properties under development for sale and properties
under development amounted to approximately HK$815.0
million (31 March 2018: approximately HK$923.5 million).

0 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018

ﬁ-

BRAKRETBHREREFEZA
®(4)

BOIXRATAAREERS
R-—ZZE—+tFE+-_A+hhB & H#
312,500,000/% %10 & Aic 3% [ 8817 TR AR i
5B ABeyond Steady Limited * £ FT15
FXIA 425 4975,000,0007% 7T © AN & B it 5
FISRIBFRAE—REEES BAH
X RARRIEE -

R-ZZE-NE+-_A=+—8" %
5,000,000 TE AIE—MEEE S 4
70,000,000 702 RS E S DB & N A
ZERERAR - REBERNRIRE ZFBIHRN
AL [HEEOE] —f-

AEBzEEERKH
R-ZZE—NF+_A=+—8 KEEHE
BRI 1 43,961,300,0005 7T ( —ZF — )\ 4F
= A=+—H:5,560,400,000/ 7T ) Z &
BEWE THERE ERPMEREME
FTEEHER EALEBRITEE ZER-
AN REBFEZ —MBE A ZTA
RO BEERB EARTRZBMELTERZ
EiR-

HAREE
AEBEEETRTIN B R TAE
EYEERNRBEREREER N
—NEFE+-A=+—8 AEBRZSHE
MERTTIREIRIEE FHEIR%1,437,000,000
BT (ZE—-N\NF=A=+—8:4
911,300,000/ 7T ) °

BAREIE
R-ZE—NF+_B=+—H KEEAE
RA1R & W E KA YEX)273,200,00058 7T ( —
Z—\F=A=+—H:#299,800,000/%
L) BEFEERTUWERERTUED
#HE#7815,000,0008 T (—ZT— \FE=A
=+—H :#9923,500,000/8 7T ) °



Management Discussion and Analysis

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from the business operations in the PRC
and Hong Kong denominated in RMB and HK$ respectively.
The functional currency of the Company and certain of its
subsidiaries which operate in Hong Kong as investment
holding companies or companies providing corporate services
to other group entities is HK$. The functional currency of the
Company’s principal operating subsidiaries in the PRC is RMB.
The RMB is not freely convertible into other foreign currencies
and conversion of the RMB into foreign currencies is subject to
rules and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated
by the PRC government. As at 31 December 2018, the Group
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of
its foreign currency assets and liabilities. The Group will closely
monitor its foreign currency exposure and will consider using
hedging instruments in respect of significant foreign currency
exposure as and when appropriate. As at 31 December 2018,
the Group had no investment in any financial derivatives,
foreign exchange contracts, interest or currency swaps,
hedging or other financial arrangements for hedging purposes
to reduce any currency risk nor made any over-the-counter
contingent forward transactions.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2018, the Group employed a total of
approximately 137 employees (31 March 2018: 84) of which
134 employees (31 March 2018: 81) were hired in the PRC
and 3 (31 March 2018: 3) employees in Hong Kong. Total
remuneration paid to the employees for the nine months
ended 31 December 2018 amounted to approximately
HK$16.0 million (year ended 31 March 2018: approximately
HK$17.1 million). In addition to competitive remuneration
package offered to the employees, other benefits included
contributions to mandatory provident fund, as well as group
medical and accident insurance. On-going training sessions
were also conducted to enhance the competitiveness of the
Group’s human assets. The Company also maintains a share
option scheme, pursuant to which share options may be
granted to the Directors, executives and employees of the
Company to provide them with incentives in the growth of the
Group.
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PROPERTY VALUATION

Property valuation on the Group’s investment properties
located in the PRC as at 31 March and 31 December 2018
had been carried out by an independent qualified professional
valuer, Asset Appraisal Limited. The property valuation was
used in preparing the annual results. The valuation was based
on direct capitalization approach by making reference to
comparable market information as available in the relevant
markets. The Group’s investment properties were valued at
approximately HK$3,601.8 million as at 31 December 2018
(31 March 2018: approximately HK$3,953.0 million) and a net
fair value loss of approximately HK$1.1 million (year ended 31
March 2018: a net fair value gain of approximately HK$2.8
million) was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss for the nine months ended 31 December 2018.

2 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 (the “Period"”)
and up to date of this report, the Company has complied
with the code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) set out in
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code"”) under
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
(the “Listing Rules”) on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange except
for the deviations from the Code Provision A.2.1, A.6.7, E.1.2
and the Rule 3.28 and the Board is committed to complying
with the CG Code to the extent that the Directors consider it
to be practical and applicable to the Company. The corporate
governance principles of the Company emphasis an effective
Board, sound internal control, appropriate independence
policy, transparency and accountability to the shareholders of
the Company (“the Shareholders”). The Board will continue
to monitor and revise the Company’s corporate governance
policies in order to ensure that such policies may meet the
general rules and standards required by the Listing Rules.
The Board believes that sound and reasonable corporate
governance practices are essential for sustainable growth
of the Group and for safeguarding the interests and the
Group’s assets. The Company had complied with the CG Code
throughout the Period and up to date of this report except for
the following deviations:

Code Provision A.2.1

The roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer
should be segregated and not be exercised by the same
individual. The chairman is responsible for the corporate
strategic planning and formulation of corporate policies for
the Group, while the chief executive officer is responsible for
overseeing day-to-day management of the Group’s business.
Mr. Guo Jiadi (“Mr. Guo”) currently serves as the Chairman
of the Board (the “Chairman”). Up to date of this report,
no individual was appointed as the chief executive officer of
the Company (the “CEO”). The day-to-day management of
the Group’s business is monitored by the executive Directors
and senior management. Given the size and that the
Company’s and the Group’s current business operations and
administration have been stable, the Board is justified that
the current structure is able to effectively discharge the duties
of both positions. However, going forward, the Board will
review from time to time the need to separate the roles of the
Chairman and the CEOQ if the situation warrants it.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued)
Code Provision A.6.7

Code provision A.6.7 stipulates that independent non-
executive directors and other non-executive directors
should attend general meetings and develop a balanced
understanding of the view of shareholders of the Company.
Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter and Mr. Zheng Yurui were unable to
attend the annual general meeting (the “2018 AGM") of
the Company held on 20 August 2018 due to other business
engagements. Ms. Ma Shujuan and Mr. Zheng Yurui were
unable to attend the special general meeting of the Company
held on 16 January 2019 due to other business commitments.
As an action plan to address the aforesaid deviation, the
Company will require all the independent non-executive
Directors and other non-executive Directors to attend all future
general meetings in order to comply with the code provision
A.6.7 of the CG Code.

Code Provision E.1.2

The code provision E.1.2 currently in force stipulates, among
other things, that the chairman of the issuer should attend the
annual general meeting. Mr. Guo being the Chairman, was
unable to attend the 2018 AGM due to another commitment
and Mr. Guo appointed Ms. Amika Lan E Guo, an executive
Director, to act as his representative at the 2018 AGM and
take the chair of the said 2018 AGM and to ensure that
proceedings of the meeting would be conducted in order. The
Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken
to ensure the Company’s corporate governance practices are
no less exacting than those in the CG Code. This constitutes a
deviation of the code provision E.1.2.

Rule 3.28

The former company secretary of the Company, Ms. Chan
Po Yu, had resigned since 28 December 2018, as such the
Company no longer complied with the requirement under
Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules and, hence, the relevant code
provisions in respect of company secretary. The Company is
in the process of identifying a suitable candidate to fill the
vacancy in the office of company secretary.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board's primary responsibilities include the formulation of
long-term corporate strategies, policy decisions and overseeing
the management of the Group’s operations. In addition, the
Board evaluates the performance of the Group and assesses
the achievement of targets periodically set by the Board.
In carrying out its duties and projects, the Board delegates
certain specific considerations to designated board committees
and management task forces. The daily management,
administration and operations of the Company are delegated
to the CEO, executive Directors and senior management and
divisional heads. The delegated functions and work tasks
are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has to be
obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions
entered into by the abovementioned officers. All Directors have
full and timely access to all relevant information in discharging
their duties, and in appropriate circumstances are normally
granted rights to seek independent professional advices at the
Company’s expense.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

The composition of the Board reflects the necessary balance of
skills and experience for effective leadership and independence
in decision making. As at the date of this report, the Board
comprises 8 Directors, whose biographical details and their
relationships are set out in the “Biographical Details of the
Directors of the Company” on pages 59 to 64 of the Report
of the Directors. There are 3 executive Directors, namely Mr.
Guo Jiadi, Ms. Amika Lan E Guo and Mr. Wang Chao; a non-
executive Director, Dr. Wong Yun Kuen and 4 independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Yee Ping, Michael,
Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter, Ms. Ma Shujuan and Mr. Zheng Yurui.
The Company has complied with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of
the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of a sufficient
number of independent non-executive Directors and at
least one of the independent non-executive Directors has
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise throughout the nine months
ended 31 December 2018. The Company has received annual
confirmations from all independent non-executive Directors
that they did not have any businesses or financial interests with
the Group and were independent in accordance with Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules.
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APPOINTMENT AND SUCCESSION PLANNING
OF DIRECTORS

The Board as a whole is responsible for reviewing its
composition, developing and formulating the relevant
procedures for the nomination and appointment of Directors;
and monitoring their succession. The Board's established
policies include procedures for the appointment of Directors
nominated by the Company’s shareholders. The existing Bye-
laws of the Company empower the Board to appoint any
person as Director either as an additional member or to fill a
casual vacancy.

The term of office for each of the executive Directors and the
independent non-executive Directors is 3 years. The existing
Bye-laws of the Company provide that at each annual general
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or, if
their number is not 3 or a multiple of 3, then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at least once every 3 years. A retiring Director
shall be eligible for re-election. The Company at the general
meeting at which a Director retire may fill the vacated office.
In addition, all Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy or
as an additional Director shall retire in the next annual general
meeting but eligible for re-election.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules (the “Model Code"”) as the
code of conduct in respect of the securities dealing by the
Directors. The Company has made specific enquiry of all
Directors in respect of the securities dealing by the Directors
and all Directors have confirmed that they have complied
with the Model Code throughout the nine months ended 31
December 2018.

BOARD COMMITTEE

The Company has established 3 Board committees, namely
the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee, each of which is delegated with
specific roles and responsibilities by the Board. All the Board
committees follow the same principles and procedures as
those of the Board. The Board receives the minutes of each
committee on a regular basis, including their decision and
recommendations.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit Committee. The Audit
Committee of the Company presently comprises the following
independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Chan Yee Ping, Michael (Chairman)
Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter
Mr. Zheng Yurui

The Chairman of the Audit Committee possesses the
appropriate professional qualification or accounting or related
financial management expertise and members of the Audit
Committee comply with the requirements under Rule 3.21
of the Listing Rules. None of the members of the Audit
Committee is a former partner of the Company’s existing
external auditors. The primary responsibilities of the Audit
Committee include the followings:

(@ To review the Company's financial information
including annual report and half-yearly report and the
appropriateness of any significant financial reporting
judgments contained therein;

(b) To review the relationship with the external auditors
by reference to the work performed by the auditors,
their fees and terms of engagement, and make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of external auditors; and

() To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company’s financial reporting system, internal control
system and risk management system and associated
procedures. Further information is disclosed in the section
titled “Risk Management and Internal Controls” below.

The Company’s results for the nine months ended 31
December 2018 and interim results for the six months
ended 30 September 2018 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee before the submission to the Board.

During the nine months ended 31 December 2018, two
meetings had been held by the Audit Committee. Attendance
of each member at the Audit Committee meeting is set out in
the table under the section headed “Meeting Attendance” of
this report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

Summary of work

During the Period, the Audit Committee reviewed the interim
and annual results with the external auditors and its duties
in accordance with the Audit Committee’s written terms of
reference.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available
for inspection on the Company’s website and the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange’s website.

Auditors’ Remuneration

BDO Limited resigned as the auditor of the Company with
effect from 2 November 2018 and Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
("Deloitte”) was appointed by the Board as auditor of the
Company with effect from 9 November 2018 to fill the casual
vacancy so arisen.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the remuneration paid/
payable to Deloitte, the external auditor of the Company, for
the following services provided for the nine months ended 31
December 2018.
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Remuneration
Paid/Payable

Nature of services REMHE B EAME
HK$'000

FET

Audit services E AR 1,400
Non-audit services (note) IEBZRAE (HaE) 3,950
5,350

Note: Non-audit services provided by Deloitte for the nine months
ended 31 December 2018 included reporting accountants’
service in relation to the Very Substantial Acquisition and
Connected Transaction.

The Audit Committee has expressed its views to the Board
that the level of fees paid/payable to the Company’s external
auditor is reasonable. There has been no major disagreement
between the external auditor and the management of the
Company for the nine months ended 31 December 2018.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a Nomination Committee.
The existing Nomination Committee comprises the following
independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Zheng Yurui (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Yee Ping, Michael
Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter

The Nomination Committee is responsible for all matters
relating to the appointment of Directors either to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the existing Board. Any Director
appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office only until the next annual
general meeting and shall be eligible for re-election at such
meeting. Every Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every 3 years and shall be eligible for re-
election in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for identifying
suitable qualified candidates and making recommendations
to the Board for consideration. The process of selecting
and recommending candidates for directorship includes the
consideration of referrals and the engagement of external
recruitment professionals. The selection criteria is based mainly
on the assessment of their professional qualifications and
experience relevant to the Company’s businesses.

The Nomination Committee held one meetings during the
nine months ended 31 December 2018. Attendance of each
member at the Nomination Committee meeting is set out in
the table under the section headed “Meeting Attendance” of
this report. Attendance of each member at the Nomination
Committee meeting is set out in the table under the section
headed “Meeting Attendance” of this report.

Summary of work

During the Period, the Nomination Committee discussed
and made recommendation to the Board on the re-election
of retiring Directors in accordance with the Nomination
Committee’s written terms of reference.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are
available for inspection on the Company’s website and the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s website.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

Summary of Board Diversity Policy, including
measureable objective, monitoring and review of the
Policy

The board diversity policy (the “Policy”) aims to set out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Company’s Board. The
Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance.

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced
development, the Company sees increasing diversity at
the Board level as an essential element in supporting the
attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable
development. In designing the Board’s composition, Board
diversity has been considered from a number of aspects.
All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having
due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board.

Measurable Objectives

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills knowledge and length of service. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board. The Board's
composition has been disclosed in the Report of the Directors.

Monitoring and review

The Nomination Committee has monitored the implementation
of the Policy and there is no derivation from this Policy for
the nine months ended 31 December 2018. The Nomination
Committee will keep on review this Policy, as appropriate,
to ensure the effectiveness of this Policy. The Nomination
Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required, and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration
and approval.
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NOMINATION POLICY

A nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) sets out the
selection criteria, procedures and process of appointing and re-
appointing a Director. The selection criteria used in assessing
the suitability of a candidate include, inter alia, his/her
academic background and professional qualifications, relevant
experience in the industry, character and integrity and whether
he/she can contribute to the diversity of the Board as detailed
in the Policy. The procedures and process of appointing and re-
appointing a Director are summarised as follows:

— nomination and invitation of suitable candidates by any
member of the Nomination Committee or the Board;

—  evaluation of the candidate by the Board based on all
selection criteria as set out in the Nomination Policy;

—  performing due diligence in respect of each candidate
and making recommendation for the Board’s
consideration and approval;

- in case of nomination of an independent non-executive
Director, assessing the candidate’s independence under
the relevant Code Provisions and the Listing Rules;

— where nominating an independent non-executive
Director for election at general meetings, having due
consideration of matters under Code Provision A.5.5;

— in the context of re-appointment of retiring Directors,
reviewing the candidate’s overall contribution and
performance and making recommendations to the Board
and/or the shareholders for consideration in connection
with his/her re-election at general meetings; and

— convening a meeting of the Board to consider the
appointment or re-appointment of the candidate as a
Director.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee.
The Remuneration Committee comprises the following
independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Yee Ping, Michael
Mr. Zheng Yurui

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee
include making recommendation on the policy and structure
for the remuneration of Directors and senior management of
the Company, the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing such policy, and the review of
specific remuneration packages of all executive Directors
and senior management of the Company by reference to
corporate goals and objective resolved by the Board from time
to time. The Remuneration Committee will review and make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and senior management.

The principal elements of the executive Directors’ remuneration
package include basic salary, benefits in kind, discretionary
bonus, retirement benefits and participation in the share
option scheme adopted by the shareholders of the Company
in 2011. The remuneration packages of the executive Directors
will be proposed by the Chairman of the Group annually for
the review by the Remuneration Committee based on the
following factors:

(@) the executive Director’s responsibilities and contribution;
(b) the executive Director’s individual performance; and

(¢) performance of the business unit(s) headed by the
executive Director.

The independent non-executive Directors’ remuneration
includes Directors’ fee and participation in the share
option scheme, and subject to annual assessment and
recommendation by the Remuneration Committee. The term
of appointment of the independent non-executive Directors is
three years. Other detailed terms of appointment have been
disclosed in the Report of the Directors and the consolidated
financial statements. The Board's authority to fix Directors’
remuneration was granted by the Company’s shareholders at
the annual general meeting.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued)

The Remuneration Committee held one meetings during the
nine months ended 31 December 2018. Attendance of each
member at the Remuneration Committee meeting is set out in
the table under the section headed “Meeting Attendance” of
this report.

Summary of work

During the Period, the Remuneration Committee reviewed
and made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of the Directors and number of share options to be granted
to the Directors and management of the Group in accordance
with the Remuneration Committee’s written terms of
reference.

The term of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available for inspection on the Company’s website and the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s website.

Details of the remuneration of each Director for the nine
months ended 31 December 2018 are set out in the note 13 to
the consolidated financial statements.

MEETING ATTENDANCE

The Board meets at least four times each year and as business
need arises. The Company’'s memorandum of association and
the Articles provide for participation at meetings via telephone
and other electronic means. The Directors have full access to
information on the Group and independent professional advice
at all times whenever deemed necessary by the Directors.

During the nine months ended 31 December 2018, 5 board
meetings had been held for reviewing business performance,
considering and approving the overall strategies and policies of
the Company, and other business matters. Attendance of each
member at the board meetings, board committee meetings
and general meetings of the Company, on a named basis,
during the nine months ended 31 December 2018 is set out in
the table below.
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MEETING ATTENDANCE (continued) SEHERBR &)

Number of meetings attended/
Number of meetings held during the nine months ended 31 December 2018

BLE-2-N\F+ZA=t-BAEARLEEERY/

BANEENY
Remuneration  Nomination Audit
Board  Committee  Committee ~ Committee General

Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings
FMZEE REZEE ENZEE

Directors EX FE3-4-F g3 - g3 REAE
Mr. Guo Jiadi Bmast 55 NATEE  NATER  NATER 0/
Ms. Amika Lan E Guo Amika Lan E Guo Tt 55 NATRER  NATER  NATER 171
Mr. Wang Chao TREE 55 NATHER  NATER  NATHERA 171
Dr. Wong Yun Kuen BREET 55 NATRER  NATER  NATHER 171
Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter E el 5/5 1 1 212 0/1
Mr. Chan Yee Ping, Michael RETRE 5/5 /1 11 22 11
Ms. Ma Shujuan SRELL 55  NATER  NATER  NATER 1/1
Mr. Zheng Yurui BEH%EE 5/5 171 17 0 0/1
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS TEERBAE

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate S8 ERBITERELCEE AT 2T
governance duties as set out in the terms of reference B ED 3G FE B ESBEFRS 2
equivalent to code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code. During SABETS c AANEARS  BEE DK/ ANT Y
the Period, the policies of the corporate governance of the DEESHHE -

Company were reviewed by the Board.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITIES EERSHBE Y ST

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance covering AATEREEIRE AEERSHARE
the liabilities of the Directors and officers that may arise out EQE%%%?Jﬂﬁé%izg{ﬂ%fﬁ{%ﬁﬁf
the corporgte activities which has bgen complied with the FZG VOB TA RS AT BREESEE
Code. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis. 7T A

22 7Y
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare financial
statements for each financial period/year which give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group. The Board
is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or condition that might cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue in business. Accordingly, the
Board has prepared the financial statements of the Company
on a going concern basis. The Board also acknowledges its
responsibility to present a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment in the Company’s annual and interim reports, other
price-sensitive announcements and other financial disclosures
required under the Listing Rules, and reports to the regulators
as well as to information required to be disclosed pursuant to
statutory requirements.

The above statements, which should be read in conjunction
with the independent auditor’s report set out from pages
95 to 103 of this annual report, are made with a view to
distinguishing for Shareholders how the responsibilities of
the Directors differ from those of the auditor in relation to
the Group’s consolidated financial statements. Having made
appropriate enquiries and examined major areas which could
give rise to significant financial exposures, the Directors have
a reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to adopt
the going concern basis in preparing the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for the nine months ended 31 December
2018, the Directors considered the Group has applied
appropriate accounting policies consistently, made judgments
and estimates that are prudent and reasonable in accordance
with applicable accounting standards. The interim and annual
results and reports were published within the time limits as
required under the Listing Rules after the end of the relevant
periods to provide stakeholders with transparent and timely
financial information.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
OF DIRECTORS

Every newly appointed Director will receive formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion
of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding
of the business and operations of the Company and full
awareness of Director’s responsibilities and obligations under
the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors are continually updated on developments in the
statutory and regulatory regime and the business environment
to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities. Continuing
briefing and professional development for Directors will be
arranged at the expenses of the Company where necessary.
During the nine months ended 31 December 2018, each
of the Directors has participated in continuous professional
development by attending seminars and/or studying materials
relevant to Director's duties and responsibility. Their training
records have been provided to the Company.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing
to take in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and
establishing and maintaining appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the
management and overseeing their design, implementation
and monitoring of the risk management and internal control
systems. The Company has developed and adopted various risk
management procedures and guidelines with defined authority
for implementation by key business processes and office
functions.

The Group has developed and adopted various risk
management procedures and guidelines with defined authority
for implementation by key business processes and office
functions.

6 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS (continued)

All divisions/departments conducted internal control
assessment regularly to identify risks that potentially impact
the business of the Group and various aspects including key
operational and financial processes, regulatory compliance
and information security. Self-evaluation has been conducted
annually to confirm that control policies are properly complied
with by each division/department.

During the nine months ended 31 December 2018, the
Group engaged an independent professional consultancy
firm for performing independent review of the adequacy and
effectiveness of the internal control systems. Key issues in
relation to the accounting practices and all material controls
are examined and the independent professional consultancy
firm provided its findings and recommendations for
improvement to the Audit Committee.

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well as the
management report and the internal audit findings, reviewed
the risk management and internal control systems, including
the financial, operational and compliance controls, for the nine
months ended 31 December 2018, and considered that such
systems are effective and adequate. The annual review also
covered the financial reporting and internal audit function and
staff qualifications, experiences and relevant resources.

With reference to the Internal Audit Manual of the Group, the
Group's internal audit function has been established to provide
risk-based and objective assurance, advice and insight to the
Board through the Audit Committee. The risk management
and internal control systems are reviewed and assessed on a
continuous basis by the Audit Committee and the executive
Directors, and will be further reviewed and assessed at least
once each year by the Board. These systems were considered
effective and adequate.

The Board has implemented procedures and internal controls
for handling and dissemination of inside information. Since
shares of the Company listed on the Main Board of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange, the Company has adopted a policy
which aims to set out guidelines to the Group’s directors,
officers and all relevant employees to ensure inside information
of the Company is to be disseminated to the public in equal
and timely manner in accordance with the Securities and
Futures Ordinance and the Listing Rules.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, is responsible to the Board for
ensuring that the Board procedures are followed and the
Board activities are efficiently and effectively conducted.
He/she is also responsible for ensuring that the Board is
fully appraised of the relevant legislative, regulatory and
corporate governance developments relating to the Group
and facilitating the induction and professional development of
Directors.

The former company secretary of the Company, Ms. Chan Po
Yu (“Ms. Chan”), had resigned since 28 December 2018, as
such the Company no longer complied with the requirement
under Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules and, hence, the relevant
code provisions in respect of company secretary. The Company
is in the process of identifying a suitable candidate to fill the
vacancy in the office of company secretary.

During the Period, Ms. Chan has attended relevant
professional seminars to update her skills and knowledge. She
met the training requirement set out in Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has approved and adopted a dividend policy on 21
March 2019 (the “Dividend Policy”) in order to provide return
to the shareholders of the Company.

Under the Dividend Policy, provided that the Group is
profitable and without affecting the normal operations of
the Group, the Company may consider to declare and pay
dividends to the Shareholders. In deciding whether to propose
a dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board
shall take into account, among others, the Group’s actual
and expected financial performance, retained earnings and
distributable reserves, working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans, liquidity
position, Shareholders’ interests, general economic conditions,
business cycle of the Group's business and other internal or
external factors that may have an impact on the business or
financial performance and position of the Group and other
factors that the Board deems appropriate.
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DIVIDEND POLICY (continued)

Declaration and payment of dividend shall remain to be
determined at the sole discretion of the Board and subject
to the Laws of Bermuda, the Bye-Laws of the Company and
any applicable laws, rules and regulations. The Company will
continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves the right
in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or
modify the Dividend Policy at any time. The Dividend Policy
shall in no way constitute a legally binding commitment by the
Company that dividends will be paid in any particular amount
and/or in no way obligate the Company to declare a dividend
at any time or from time to time.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

() How Shareholders Can Convene A Special General
Meeting And Putting Forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meeting

The Directors may, whenever they think fit, convene a
special general meeting, and special general meetings
shall also be convened on requisition, as provided by
the Companies Act, and, if default, may be convened
by the requisitionists. On the requisition of members
of the Company holding at the date of the deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of such of the
paid-up capital of the Company as at the date of the
deposit carries the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company, the Directors forthwith proceed duly
to convene a special general meeting of the Company.
If the Directors do not within twenty-one days from the
date of the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to
convene a meeting, the requisitionists, or any of them
representing more than one half of the total voting rights
of all of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but
any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months from the said date.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

() Procedures by which enquiries may be put to the
Board

Enquiries of shareholders can be sent to the Company
either by email at info@chinasandi.com.hk or by post
to the Company’'s Hong Kong head office at Room
3405, 34th Floor, China Merchants Tower Shun Tak
Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong.
Shareholders can also make enquiries with the Board
directly at the general meetings.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION
WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company recognises the importance of the
communication with shareholders. In order to maintain and
further enhance the investors’ relationship with the Company’s
shareholders, the Company established various channels of
communication with its shareholders:

(1) The annual general meeting provides a platform for
shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The
members of the Board and external auditors will attend
the meeting. The Group encourages all shareholders to
attend and raise any comment on the performance of the
Group. The Board welcomes to exchange views with its
shareholders at the meeting.

(2) The Company has regularly met with financial analysts,
fund managers and potential investors during nine
months ended 31 December 2018, in order to
enhance the understanding the Group’s operations and
developments.

(3) Information relating to the Company’s financial
information is provided through publications of annual/
interim reports, announcements, circulars and press
release.

(4) The Company has established a corporate website
which provides regularly updated Company financial
information and other corporate information.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the nine months ended 31 December 2018, there was
no change in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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The board (the "Board”) of directors (the "Directors”) herein
submit their report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the nine months ended
31 December 2018 (the “Period”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are
set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

An analysis of the performance of the Group’s by operating
segments for the nine months ended 31 December 2018 is set
out in note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the nine months ended 31
December 2018 and the financial performance of the
Company and the Group at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 104 to 268.

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of any
dividend for the nine months ended 31 December 2018.

CHANGE OF FINANCIAL YEAR END DATE

The Group’s financial year end date has been changed from 31
March to 31 December. The change of financial year end date
of the Company is to align its financial year end date with that
of the principal subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of China,
which are statutorily required to close their accounts with the
financial year end date of 31 December. The Board considers
that the change of financial year end date of the Company
will facilitate the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Accordingly, this consolidated
financial results cover a nine-month period from 1 April 2018
to 31 December 2018.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND COMMENTARY
Financial Results

The financial results and business review of the Group for
the nine months ended 31 December 2018 are set out in
the annual report and particular on the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” from pages 7 to 32.

Report of the Directors
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EEEHESE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND COMMENTARY (continued)

Environmental measure and performance

The Group is committed to contributing to the sustainability of
the environment and maintaining a high standard of corporate
social governance essential for creating a framework for
motivating staff, and contributes to the community in which
we conduct our businesses and creating a sustainable return to
the Group.

Detail of which are disclosed in our Environmental, Social and
Governance report, which will be issued separately by the
Company.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group
has complied in material aspects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business
and operation of the Group. During the nine months ended
31 December 2018, there was no material breach of or
non-compliance with the applicable of relevant laws and
regulations by the Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH SUPPLIERS,
CUSTOMERS AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a
good relationship with its suppliers and customers to meet its
immediate and long-term goals. We enjoy good relationships
with suppliers and customers with mutual trust. Accordingly,
our management have kept good communications, promptly
exchanged ideas and shares business update with them when
appropriate. During the nine months ended 31 December
2018, there were no material and significant dispute between
the Group and its suppliers and/or customers.

Employees are the valuable assets of the Group. The Group
strives to motivate its employees with a clear career path
and improvement of their skills by encouraging them to take
part in external training courses, professional seminars and
examinations and support them by sponsoring. The Group put
efforts into providing staff with a harmonious, positive and
inspiring working environment. The Group always adheres
to its people-oriented concept, values and maintains their
employees’ legitimate rights and interests.

By providing employees with a good working environment
and competitive trainings, employees’ productivities and their
performances are greatly improved.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial conditions, results of operations,
businesses prospects would be affected by a number of
risks and uncertainties directly or indirectly pertaining to our
Group's businesses which including business risk, policy and
market risk, operational risk and financial management risk.

Business Risk

Performance of our Group’'s core business will be affected
by various factors, including but not limited to economic
conditions such as performance of property markets in regions,
which would not be mitigated even with careful and prudent
investment strategy and strict procedure.

Policy and Market Risk

As a key economic pillars industry for the PRC’s development,
the property sector is more susceptible to the impact of macro-
economic and industrial policies. Our Group’s performance
may be adversely affected by changes of the political, social
and economic conditions in the PRC if we are unable to
respond to the ever-changing market condition in a timely
manner.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate
or failed internal processes, people and systems or from
external events. Responsibility for managing operational
risk basically rests with every function at divisional and
departmental levels. Key functions in our Group are guided
by their standard operating procedures, limit of authority and
reporting framework. Our management will identify and assess
key operational exposures regularly so that appropriate risk
response can be taken.

Financial management risk

The main financial management risk and the Group’s
financial management measures are shown in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

There may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to those
mentioned above which are not known to the Group or which
may not be material now but could turn out to be material in
the future.
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Report of the Directors

EEEHESE

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION BEERHE

A summary of the consolidated results and assets, liabilities — ZAN&EE &3 A AN KL EEMNEE %
and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five ERNEE BENMIFZERERSTE (FikE8
financial periods/years, as extracted from the published audited EHBEEEZ S EREREY (0E
consolidated financial statements and restated as appropriate, ) )EH T e

is set out below.

Nine

months
ended Year Year Year Year
31 ended ended ended ended
December 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2018 2018 2017 2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
“E-N\F T\ T+t T —T-1f
+=A =A =A =A =A

=t-H =t—H =t—-H =t—H =t—H
LR fE A ILFE IHEE IEFE ILFE
TFEn FET T FET FET

REVENUE g 149,836 707,694 297,559 109,750 132,964

(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE ADRAGEAEERER,/
PERIOD/YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE FE (BR),/&H
TO OWNERS OF THE
COMPANY (80,964) 156,326 (169,389) 161,076  (266,506)
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EEEHES

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION MBEERBE 2)
(continued)
Assets, liabilities and non-controlling interest EE - BERFERESR
At
31 At At At At
December 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2018 2018 2017 2016 2015

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
(restated) (restated)

“B-Nf —ZT-)\F —T—+tF —F-RF —T-1F
+=A =R =R =R =A

=t-H =t—H =t—-H =+-H =t—H
FET FAET FET TETL FETL
(EE5) (K87

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE 4,455,804 4,409,889 4,355,726 4,788,386 3,990,495
CURRENT ASSETS mBBE 3,274,246 2,826,471 1,619,357 1,200,860 314,956
TOTAL ASSETS BEE 7,730,050 7,236,360 5,975,083 5,989,246 4,305,451
CURRENT LIABILITIES nBBE 3,273,806 1,987,144 1,165,133 1,057,233 228,043
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FnBaf 1,311,376 1,813,123 1,771,946 1,593,617 1,356,919
TOTAL LIABILITIES mag 4,585,182 3,800,267 2,937,079 2,650,850 1,584,962
NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST = JFfEftfEs 63,574 38,485 31,654 39,763 27,673
NET ASSETS BEFE 3,144,868 3,436,093 3,038,004  3,33839 2,720,489
Notes: Bt i

1. The consolidated results for the year ended 31 March 2017 and 1. BE_Z—tF=R=T—HILFEHNE

the consolidated assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests EBEEPR_ZE—RNFZAZ=Z+—HEZ=
as at 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2017 has been restated T—+tF-A=-+—HNZREEE AE
to reflect the effect of application of Accounting Guideline 5 NEZERERDE BN URRBEEGEA
“Merger Accounting under Common Control Combination” NEEMZ GRS B [HEZES A
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public e ttashal ZEAMER-
Accountants.

The summary above does not form part of the audited financial PR E W IR EE R B WK — B
statements. e
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EEEHESE

PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

Details of the principal properties held for investment purposes
are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the nine months ended 31 December 2018
are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during
the nine months ended 31 December 2018 are set out in note
29 to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of movements in the Company’s share options during
the nine months ended 31 December 2018 are set out in note
30 to the consolidated financial statements.

BONDS PAYABLE

Details of movements in the Company’s bonds payable during
the nine months ended 31 December 2018 are set out in the
note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the nine months ended 31 December 2018
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on pages 108 and 109 of this annual report and in note 42 to
the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company’s reserves available for distribution amounted to
approximately HK$1,302,132,000 as at 31 December 2018 (31
March 2018: approximately HK$1,324,235,000).
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EEEHES

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS FTEEFREERS

During the Period, less than 10% of the Group's sale were — KNEARIRK  AEBEHZAREAZE D BIMG
attributable to the Group's largest customer and five largest AEEBEEETEI0%
customers respectively.

In addition, the five largest suppliers of the Group together N REB R RKEER A KB AREEE
accounted for approximately 61% of the Group’s total 7 H R /A HY) 42 51 B8 58 4961 % » H 1 & oA fit
purchases during the Period, with the largest supplier TER {5 4936% o

accounted for approximately 36%.

None of the Directors, any of their close associates or any AR FEE BEFREZHE A T
substantial shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the RIETERE (BEEMEH - BEAATE
Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share BT AS% A &) A ERRNER R
capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest AEEPRMEIETHEEEM B ER -
customers and suppliers during the Period.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS ZERBX

During the nine months ended 31 December 2018, the Group  REZ-ZT—N\F+-A=+—HIL 1A
did not made charitable contributions. A AREBRWEEREZER
DIRECTORS EE

The Directors during the Period and up to the date of this  AEEARBEARELRIESMO
report are as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS HITES

Mr. Guo Jiadi (Chairman) ek E (FE)
Ms. Amika Lan E Guo Amika Lan E Guo& +
Mr. Wang Chao FHBEA
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FHITES

Dr. Wong Yun Kuen =EEEL
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS BYFYITES
Mr. Chan Yee Ping, Michael PR AR 55 4

Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter RBLCEE

Ms. Ma Shujuan Yt SR

Mr. Zheng Yurui B EIm ot A

In accordance with the Bye-laws 111(A) and 111(B) of the Bye- WIEAAB ZABIAMBIZET11(A) X 111(B)fE
laws of the Company, Mr. Guo Jiadi, Ms. Amika Lan E Guo E - A4 - Amika Lan E GuoX £
and Dr. Wong Yun Kuen shall retire from office by rotation FEEEELTBRAN R ERRERSE KX
and being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the eHMERT REESHEERTESHIR
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. BT
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EEEHESE

UPDATES ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

The following is updated information of directors of the
Company required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(B) of
the Listing Rules:

1. Dr. Wong Yun Kuen has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Asia Coal Limited
(stock code: 835, a company listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange) with effect from 12 September 2018.

2. Dr. Wong Yun Kuen has resigned as an executive director
of Boill Healthcare Holdings Limited (stock code: 1246, a
company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange) with
effect from 21 December 2018.

3. Mr. Chan Yee Ping, Michael has been appointed as
an independent non-executive director of Champion
Alliance International Holdings Limited (formerly known
as “Mengke Holdings Limited”) (stock code: 1629, a
company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange) with
effect from 20 November 2018.

4. Mr. Chan Yee Ping, Michael has resigned as an
independent non-executive director of Prosper One
International Holdings Company Limited (stock code:
1470, a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange) with effect from 27 December 2018.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS
OF THE COMPANY

Executive Directors

Mr. Guo Jiadi (“Mr. Guo”), aged 59, is a merchant and was
appointed as the Chairman and an executive Director of the
Company with effect from 12 December 2014. Mr. Guo is also
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company, incorporated
in Hong Kong and the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI")
respectively engaged in investment holding and also a director
and legal representative of certain operating subsidiaries of the
Company in the PRC. Mr. Guo is also an ultimate beneficial
owner of a substantial shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Guo started his business in international trading and,
in 23 years, diversified into businesses including footwear
manufacturing, chemical technology, mining, real estate
development and hotel investment with presence throughout
Europe, the United States, Hong Kong, Shanghai, Fujian,
Shaanxi and Jilin. Mr. Guo has over 28 years of experience in
trading business and over 18 years of experience in property
development.

Mr. Guo entered into the property market in the PRC by
establishing Fuzhou Gaojia Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
("Fuzhou Gaojia”) and has since acted as its chairman. Fuzhou
Gaojia has obtained FEARANMBEFMERBELEXEL
FHZEZ(ZM) (Qualification Certificate (Class 1) for Real Estate
Development Enterprise in the PRC*) from " AR HEAEH
F = 2B 2% 20 (Department of Housing and Urban and
Rural Development of the PRC*). Fuzhou Gaojia has completed
certain real estate projects in Fuzhou, Putian, Baoji and
Shanghai.

Mr. Guo is the father of Ms. Amika Lan E Guo, who is an
executive Director of the Company. Apart from the aforesaid,
Mr. Guo does not have any other relationship with any
Director, senior management, substantial or controlling
shareholder(s) of the Company. Save as disclosed above,
Mr. Guo does not hold directorship in other public listed
companies in Hong Kong or overseas in the past three years.

* For identification purposes only
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Report of the Directors

EEEHESE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Ms. Amika Lan E Guo (“Ms Guo”), aged 33, has been
appointed as an executive Director of the Company with effect
from 9 July 2014 and is a director of certain Hong Kong and
BVI subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Guo is responsible for
the overall business development of the company. Her current
position is the Director of Business Operations and is responsible
for general operation management, corporate development
and planning matters. Ms. Guo has graduated from Simon
Fraser University in Canada with a bachelor degree of Business
Administration. She also holds a MBA degree from The University
of Hong Kong.

Ms. Guo is the daughter of Mr. Guo Jiadi, who is the Chairman
and an executive Director and the ultimate beneficial owner of a
substantial shareholder of the Company. Save as disclosed above,
Ms. Guo does not have any other relationship with any Director,
senior management, substantial or controlling shareholder(s) of
the Company. Save as disclosed above, Ms. Guo does not hold
directorship in other public listed companies in Hong Kong or
overseas in the past three years.

Mr. Wang Chao (“Mr. Wang"”), aged 42, was appointed as an
executive Director of the Company with effect from 5 February
2018. Mr. Wang hold a bachelor’s degree of Laws from the
Xiamen University* (EF3XE). Prior to joining the Group, he
worked in companies that specialised in property development
industries for over ten years. Mr. Wang is the general manager
of Fujian Sinco since 1 January 2018 and responsible for the
overall operation for the various subsidiaries of the Group in
the PRC.

Mr. Wang does not have any relationship with any Director,
senior management, substantial or controlling shareholder(s)
of the Company. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wang does not
hold directorship in other public listed companies in Hong
Kong or overseas in the past three years.

Non-Executive Director

Dr. Wong Yun Kuen (“Dr. Wong"), aged 61, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 18 September
2009. Dr. Wong Yun Kuen has been re-designated from
independent non-executive Director to non-executive director
of the Company with effect from 15 September 2016.

* For identification purposes only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Non-Executive Director (continued)

Dr. Wong received a Ph.D. Degree from Harvard University,
and was “Distinguished Visiting Scholar” at Wharton School
of the University of Pennsylvania. He has worked in financial
industries in the United States and Hong Kong for many
years, and has considerable experience in corporate finance,
investment and derivative products. He is a member of Hong
Kong Securities and Investment Institute.

Dr. Wong is the chairman and an executive director of UBA
Investments Limited (stock code: 768) and Far East Holdings
International Limited (stock code: 36), and an independent
non-executive director of Kingston Financial Group Limited
(stock code: 1031), DeTai New Energy Group Limited (stock
code: 559), Kaisun Holdings Limited (formerly known as
“Kaisun Energy Group Limited"”) (stock code: 8203), GT Group
Holdings Limited (stock code: 263), Tech Pro Technology
Development Limited (stock code: 3823), Synergis Holdings
Limited (stock code: 2340) and Asia Coal Limited (stock code:
835).

Dr. Wong was also an executive director of Boill Healthcare
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1246) from July 2016 to
December 2018 and an independent non-executive director
of Bauhaus International (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 483)
from October 2004 to December 2016, Sincere Watch (Hong
Kong) Limited (stock code: 444) from September 2012 to
December 2017 and Far East Holdings International Limited
(stock code: 36) from December 2014 to July 2017. All the
companies mentioned above are listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange.

Dr. Wong does not have any relationship with any Director,
senior management, substantial or controlling shareholder(s)
of the Company. Save as disclosed above, Dr. Wong does not
hold directorship in other public listed companies in Hong
Kong or overseas in the past three years.
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Report of the Directors

EEEHESE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yee Ping, Michael (“Mr. Chan"), aged 41, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director with
effect from 9 July 2014. Mr. Chan was also appointed as
the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee of
the Company. Mr. Chan holds a bachelor degree of Business
Administration (Honours) in Accountancy from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University. He is a member with practicing
certificate of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, and a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants. He has over 10 years of
working experience in the fields of accounting and audit,
corporate secretarial management and corporate governance.

He is currently the company secretary of China Sunshine Paper
Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 2002), which is listed
on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, as well
as Northeast Electric Development Co., Limited (stock code:
42), a joint stock limited company incorporated in the PRC and
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange and the Main Board of
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange respectively.

He was also an independent non-executive director of Prosper
One International Holdings Company Limited (stock code:
1470) from September 2017 to December 2018. Mr. Chan has
been appointed as an independent non-executive director for
three companies, namely China Wah Yan Healthcare Limited
(stock code: 648) since July 2014, New Wisdom Holding
Company Limited (stock code: 8213) since November 2016,
and Champion Alliance International Holdings Limited (formerly
known as “Mengke Holdings Limited"”) (stock code: 1629) since
November 2018.

Mr. Chan is the director of MCI CPA Limited. Mr. Chan
does not have any relationship with any Director, senior
management, substantial or controlling shareholder(s) of the
Company. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Chan does not hold
directorship in other public listed companies in Hong Kong or
overseas in the past three years.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Independent non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter (“Mr. Yu"), aged 68, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 31 December
2010. Mr. Yu was also appointed as the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company.
Mr. Yu has over 30 years of experience in real estate and
financial services industries. Mr. Yu holds a Master of Science
Degree in Financial Services from American College in
Pennsylvania, USA.

Mr. Yu is currently an independent non-executive director of
Noble Century Investment Holdings Limited (stock code: 2322).
He was an executive director of Far East Holdings International
Limited (stock code: 36) from November 2014 to October
2017. Mr. Yu was also an independent non-executive director
of Kingston Financial Group Limited (stock code: 1031) from
September 2008 to September 2016.

Mr. Yu does not have any relationship with any Director, senior
management, substantial or controlling shareholder(s) of the
Company. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Yu does not hold
directorship in other public listed companies in Hong Kong or
overseas in the past three years.

Mr. Zheng Yurui (“Mr. Zheng"”), aged 64, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 11 April 2012.
Mr. Zheng graduated from Party School of Central Committee
of C.P.C. with undergraduate diploma in 1999, majoring in
administration and he is a senior economist. From 1971 to
1998, Mr. Zheng worked in several state-owned companies
and private companies including a factory in which he acted
as a deputy general manager. From 1998 to the present, Mr.
Zheng founded his own footwear manufacturing company,
acting the chairman. From 2008 to the present, Mr. Zheng
has served as a director of a property development company
concurrently. Mr. Zheng is the representative of the Tenth and
Eleventh People’s Congress of Fujian Province (f@ % % + &
F+—EARRKKE) and the representative of the Fourth,
the Fifth, and the Sixth People’s Congress of Putian City (85 H
MEHE FhE FREAREREKAS).
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Report of the Directors

EEEHESE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Independent non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Zheng does not have any relationship with any Director,
senior management, substantial or controlling shareholder(s)
of the Company. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Zheng does
not hold directorship in other public listed companies in Hong
Kong or overseas in the past three years.

Ms. Ma Shujuan (“Ms. Ma"), aged 35, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 5 February 2018. Ms.
Ma graduated from China University of Political Science and
Laws* (FFBIBUAARZ) in 2007 with a Bachelor's degree in
Laws. She also holds a degree of Executive Master of Business
Administration in Finance from Shanghai Jiao Tong University*
(E/8%3BAE). Ms. Ma is a practicing lawyer in the PRC. She
has over 10 years of extensive experience in different kinds of
legal and financial works including corporate finance, mergers
and acquisitions, property investment, trust and commercial
litigations. She is currently a practising lawyer of Beijing King &
Capital Law Firm, (Shanghai Branch)* (1t R R0 (_L 8 )2EIEH
FfT).

Ms. Ma does not have any relationship with any Director,
senior management, substantial or controlling shareholder(s) of
the Company. Save as disclosed above, Ms. Ma does not hold
directorship in other public listed companies in Hong Kong or
overseas in the past three years.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and the five highest
paid individuals of the Group are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Guo Jiadi, being the existing executive Director, has
entered into service contract with the Company for an initial
term of three years commencing on 12 December 2014 and
the service contract had been renewed for a further term of
three years commencing on 12 December 2017.

* For identification purposes only

4 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018

ﬁ-

AABEZZ@AGE (&)

BYFHTES (£)
WRAEEARFBNEMNES SRERE T
SRR EEMRR R EXWE
BN BREEBE=ZFREERBLE
SNELAD E T AR A B EEESB -

BRBELE(IELL]) 355 R_F
—N\F-_ALBEZEIRBILIFNITE
E-BRIRN-_FZLFEXRRPEBOX
RE BELBELEM - FHFA LER
BAREMSAIREERL BN -FX
TARAPEARERM BN IRBEEES
BRheEMTETHERAI0FEEL R
BREERE AHMIE DERE F
FEMRE RS AL  WRAEEIL R E (LE)
REVEHTHE -

BLLTEARRENES SREEE =
ZHIER R B AR b L X E
FINBRLTHEBE=ZFREERBLE
HNELM ETR AR AR EREERR -

EEMEeREERESFAL

EEHERAREEERBH AL HE
RO BB REMEIS -

BEEZREEHN

RAEHITEE P MA S LD RADRT L
REEH m-T—mF+=-A+ B
NHRBP=F REAWCLEH H-F
—tF+-At-ARE—SRH=F-

* EHES



DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS (continued)

Each of Ms. Amika Lan E Guo and Mr. Chan Yee Ping,
Michael, being the existing executive Director and the existing
independent non-executive Director, respectively, has entered
into service contract with the Company for an initial term
of three years commencing on 9 July 2014 and the service
contracts had been renewed for a further term of three years
commencing on 9 July 2017.

Mr. Wang Chao, being the existing executive Director, has
entered into a service contract with the Company for an initial
term of three years commencing on 5 February 2018.

Dr. Wong Yun Kuen, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 18 September 2009, has entered into a
service contract with the Company for an initial term of three
years commencing on 18 September 2009 and the service
contract has been renewed several times for a further term of
three years commencing on 18 September 2015.

Dr. Wong Yun Kuen has been re-designated from an
independent non-executive Director to a non-executive
director of the Company with effect from 15 September 2016.
Following his re-designation, Dr. Wong Yun Kuen has been
entered into a service contract with the Company with the
term of three years commencing on 15 September 2016.

Mr. Yu Pak Yan Peter, being the existing independent non-
executive Director, has entered into service contract with
the Company for a term of three years commencing on 31
December 2011 and the service contract has been renewed
several times for a further term of three years commencing on
31 December 2017.

Mr. Zheng Yurui, being the existing independent non-executive
Director, has entered into a service contract with the Company
for a term of three years commencing on 11 April 2012 and
the service contracts had been renewed several times for a
further term of three years commencing on 11 April 2018.

Ms. Ma Shujuan, being the existing independent non-executive
Director, has entered into a service contract with the Company
for an initial term of three years commencing on 5 February
2018.
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Report of the Directors

EEEHESE

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 21 September 2018, Grand Supreme Limited (“Grand
Supreme”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (as
purchaser), Primary Partner International Limited (“Primary
Partner”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
with limited liability which is wholly held by Mr. Guo Jiadi
("Mr. Guo"), a director and controlling shareholder of the
Company (as vendor) and Mr. Guo (the Guarantor) entered
into the Agreement, pursuant to which Grand Supreme has
conditionally agreed to acquire, and Primary Partner has
conditionally agreed to sell 1 share (the “Target Share”) of
US$1 of All Excel Industries Limited ("All Excel”) held by
Primary Partner, representing the total issue share of All
Excel as at 21 September 2018 under the sale and purchase
agreement (the "Acquisition”) at the total consideration of
HK$1,500 million, which shall be satisfied as to HK$200
million by way of cash, as to HK$600 million by way of the
issue of the Promissory Note, as to HK$200 million by the
issue of the Consideration Shares and as to HK$500 million
by the issue of the Convertible Bonds, and the Guarantor has
conditionally agreed to guarantee the performance by Primary
Partner of its obligations thereunder.

6 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The Target Share represents the entire issued share capital in
All Excel, which indirectly holds the entire equity interest in
Fuzhou Gaojia which in turn through its subsidiaries owns the
Properties. The substance of the Acquisition is the principal
property assets held by All Excel and its subsidiaries (the
“Target Group”), comprising (i) the Shanghai Property Project;
(ii) the Fujian Property Project; (iii) the Baoji Property Project
and (iv) the Jilin Property Project.

The Properties have a total GFA of approximately 1,378,750
sg.m., comprising residential area of approximately 633,431
sg.m., office/hotel area of approximately 236,552 sq.m., retail
area of approximately 231,209 sg.m., and carparks and others
of approximately 277,558 sqg.m., representing approximately
459%, 17.2%, 16.8% and 20.1% of the total GFA of the
Properties respectively.

The Acquisition constitutes a very substantial acquisition of the
Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. Further, the
total issued share capital of Primary Partner on 21 September
2018 is held by Mr. Guo, who is an executive Director, the
chairman of the Board and a controlling shareholder of the
Company. Hence, Primary Partner is a connected person of
the Company by virtue of being an associate of Mr. Guo and
the Acquisition also constitutes a connected transaction of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

As at 31 December 2018, certain members of the Target
Group have provided corporate guarantees to various entities
(the "CP Group”) that were indirectly wholly owned or
controlled by Mr. Guo or Ms. Shum, the sister-in-law of Mr.
Guo, to guarantee the payment obligations of the bank loans
(the “Loans”) obtained by the CP Group. As Mr. Guo is an
executive Director, the chairman of the Board and a controlling
Shareholder and Ms. Shum is a deemed connected person of
the Company under Rule 14A.21(1)(a), each of the entities
of the CP Group is an associate of Mr. Guo or Ms. Shum
and therefore a connected person of the Company. Upon
the completion of the Acquisition pursuant to the terms and
conditions of the Agreement (“Completion”), members of
the Target Group will become subsidiaries of the Enlarged
Group. As such, provision of corporate guarantees by the
Target Group (the “Corporate Guarantees”) to the CP Group
upon Completion will constitute discloseable and connected
transactions of the Company under Chapters 14 and 14A of
the Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors

EEEHESE

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Details of the Corporate Guarantees which were provided
by members of the Target Group to the CP Group as at 31

BERXS (&)
R-E—NE+-A=+—0 BiE&H
Ak B 2 7] A1 CPE MR 4 M) A B R 5415 1

December 2018 are as follows:— T —
Member of Loan  Outstanding Value of
the Target Principal Loan Interest Loan’s Loan's pledged
Member of the CP Date of loan Group as amount amount  rate  drawdown  repayment properties
Group as borrower  agreements Lender guarantor (RM™B) (RM™B) (%) date date (RM™B)
BERE AREEH REEX  FEMIEZ
(PRERELR REAT EXALE &8 RRER e
(fERfE%) LEELE .-V (FRERA)  (AR%7) (ARR) RZE(%) BE A& (AE%7R)
Fujian Sandi Real 23 November 2018 Huaxia Bank Fuzhou Fuzhou Gaojia 690,000,000 690,000,000 54% 23 November 16 October  1,150,850,000
Estate Development Taijiang Sub- 2018 2028
Company Limited branch
BR-ERMEREE —F-)\f ZERTEN  BMRE “F-\F ZECD)\E
YN t-A=f=H BT - tATtrA
~tzA
Fujian Sandi Real 22 August 2018 Hang Seng Bank  Fuzhou Gaojia 420,000,000 413,700,000  6.98% 22 August 16 August 664,464,225
Estate Development (China) Limited 2018 2023
Company Limited Fuzhou Branch
BR-EEHERE _—E2-)\F EXRTEMAT BNBE ZF-\f  ZEC=E
BRAH NAZTZH NAZtzR  NAtiA
Guoshi (Fujian) 14 May 2018 China Construction  Guoshi 30,000,000 30,000,000 435% 14 May 13 May -
Footwear Company Bank Putian Investment 2018 2019
Limited Branch
IR (BR)&EX ZE-NE ERETEANT PRRE ZE-\E ZE-NF
ARAF BATHA IATER  RAT=H
Guoshi (Fujian) 17 July 2017 China Construction Guoshi 55300000 50,000,000  4.35% 17July 18 July 2019 -
Footwear Company Bank Putian Investment 2017
Limited Branch
IR (RR)EF ZEtf BRETEEAT PRRE Z5-tE ZENE
ERAF tAt+H tATtR  tATAR
Guoshi (Fujian) 9 October 2018 Bank of China Guoshi 12,000,000 12,000,000 435% 9 October 8 October -
Footwear Company Putian Branch Investment 2018 2019
Limited
IR (BR)&EX “E-0\% LTS IRRE ZE-\E ZE-Nf
ERAR) TANA EBATT tARE  tANR
Guoshi (Fujian) 13 December 2018 Huaxia Bank Guoshi 60,000,000 60,000,000 6.09% 13 December 12 December -
Footwear Company Fuzhou Taijiang ~ Investment 2018 2019
Limited Sub-Branch
IR (RR)EF Z3-\F EEROEM  PRRE ZF-\E ZE-NE
ERAF TZA+=H AIIRf TZAT=R +ZAtzH
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Report of the Directors
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued) BERXS (&)
Member of Loan  Outstanding Value of
the Target Principal Loan Interest Loan's Loan’s pledged
Member of the CP Date of loan Group as amount amount  rate  drawdown  repayment properties
Group as borrower  agreements Lender guarantor (RmB) (RmB) (%) date date (RmB)
BERE ABEEH REER  FEAMIEZ
(PRERELR HEAT 6% Ei RRER Bl
(EREHR) LEVTE 1L . -V (ERERA)  (AR%7%) (ARER) RZE(%) A% RE (AEH¥T)
Guoshi (Fujian) 29 September 2018 Nanyang Guoshi 30,000,000 30,000,000 5.87% 29 September 28 September -
Footwear Company Commercial Bank  Investment 2018 2019
Limited Shantou Branch
IR (BREX E-N\% EEEERT  PRRE “F-\F ZE-NEF
ERAR ABZTNR WEAT ABZTHE ABZHNE
Putian Sandi Xiefu 12 July 2017 China Construction  Guoshi 90,000,000 50,000,000 4.35% 12 July 21 March -
Company Limited Bank Putian Investment 2017 2021
Branch
ERTZHER “5-tF BRBTEEAT BRRE “F-+F ZEF=-F
ERAF +A+=A tB+-B ZB=t-H
Baoji Jianbang Wuzi 18 May 2017 Chang'an Bank  Baoji Sandi 18,000,000 17,850,000 6.18% 18 May 18 May -
Company Limited 2017 2019
ELRANEARRAT —T-tf RZH Ei-p It S A S 1K 2
EATNA TATNE  RATNH
Baoji Jianbang Wuzi 16 November 2018 Agricultural Bank ~ Baoji Sandi 5,000,000 5,000,000 6.00% 16 November 7 November -
Company Limited of China 2018 2019
ELRANEAARAA —T-N\% TEERXRT  EEcH “2-\F ZE-hE
+-R+75A +-A+xB t-AtH
1410300,000  1,358,550,000 1815,314,225

As at 31 December 2018, the outstanding Loans which were R—ZE—NE+=H *—f— H BZ2&£H
guaranteed by members of the Target Group amounted to KERRERNABEETLNAARE
approximately RMB1,358,550,000. None of the Loans is 1,358,550,0007C ° X £ & f}’\i’jﬂiﬁﬁﬁ
overdue.
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Report of the Directors

EEEHESE

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)
The Supplemental Deed

The Corporate Guarantees will become contingent liability of
the Enlarged Group upon Completion. In the event that any
of the Corporate Guarantees is enforced, the Enlarged Group
shall settle any of the Loans on behalf of the CP Group.

In order to protect the Enlarged Group from the potential
liabilities arising from the Corporate Guarantees, on 21
December 2018, Grand Supreme (as purchaser), Mr. Guo (as
guarantor) and Primary Partner (as vendor) entered into the
Supplemental Deed, pursuant to which:—

(i) any amount that shall be borne by the Enlarged Group
under the Corporate Guarantees will be set off against
(a) the equivalent sum of amount payable owed by the
Enlarged Group to Mr. Guo and/or the CP Group and/
or any companies under the control of Mr. Guo and his
associates; and (b) in the event that the Enlarged Group
does not owe any balance to Mr. Guo and his controlled
entities or such a balance is insufficient to cover the
amount paid and any loss incurred by the Enlarged
Group, Mr. Guo has undertaken to indemnify the
Enlarged Group in full on the shortfall in cash on a dollar-
to-dollar basis (the “Indemnities”);

(i) Mr. Guo undertakes not to demand or in any manner
require the Enlarged Group to repay any amount due by
the Enlarged Group to Mr. Guo and/or the CP Group and/
or any companies under the control of Mr. Guo and his
associates which amounted to approximately RMB686
million (the “Amount Due to CP Group”) as at 31
December 2018;

(iii) the Promissory Note in the principal amount of HK$600
million (equivalent to approximately RMB527 million)
and the Convertible Bonds in the principal amount of
HK$500 million (equivalent to approximately RMB439
million) shall upon Completion be delivered to and held
in escrow by an escrow agent to be jointly appointed by
Mr. Guo (as the sole shareholder of Primary Partner) and
the Company;

(iv) the Amount Due to CP Group, the Promissory Note
and the Convertible Bonds in the aggregate amount of
approximately RMB1,652 million will be charged as first
charge in favour of the Company; and

70 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018 . ;
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The Supplemental Deed (continued)

(v)  the Amount Due to CP Group, the outstanding principal
amounts of the Promissory Note and/or the Convertible
Bonds held in the escrow account shall at all times exceed
the aggregate amount of the outstanding loan(s) of the
CP Group being guaranteed by the Enlarged Group (the
“Minimum Escrow Balance”). For the avoidance of doubt,
Mr. Guo is entitled to (a) demand a repayment of the
Amount Due to CP Group or (b) withdraw the Promissory
Note and/or the Convertible Bonds held in the escrow
account and/or release the charge thereon provided the
Minimum Escrow Balance is maintained following such
demand and withdrawal.

The Board believes that the above measures taken in particular
the escrow arrangement for the Promissory Note and the
Convertible Bonds, together with the set-off mechanism under
the Indemnities adequately protect the Enlarged Group from
any potential liability in the event of any default of the Loans.
For the same reason, the fact that no consideration will be
paid by Mr. Guo in return for the guarantees is justified.

Internal control measures adopted by the Group on
the connected transactions

In order to safeguard the Enlarged Group's interest in the
connected transactions, the Company has adopted the
following measures:—

1. the CP Group shall provide monthly updates to the Board
on the status of the outstanding Loans;

2. the Board can request the CP Group at any time to
provide the Company with its latest financial information
so as to allow the Company to assess and monitor the CP
Group’s ability to repay the Loans; and

3. the Indemnities and the escrow arrangement as
contemplated under the Supplemental Deed as described
above.

Report of the Directors

EEEHES

BEXS (&)

HRRE (&)

() HERCPEEZIE - USEHEFEHAY
AAERR RABRRES T R EE
AE GRS RBEEAEEERY
CPEMAEEEREE ([SEXE
R ) o BB R Sk EAEQ)
BRIEIB AR CPE BB (b) (e 5T
BEERMARE Y AL ZER o
MR E SRR EEEL  ER
BRERRIRME AR ERETE

+
lﬁﬁu 7N

EXZSRRMRERZ B it (L H 2
AEBRAIMBER ZEERH) ERT
BRERT 2B B ARELEBEBAE
ERRERERELEZEMNEEAGB &
RIARBER - BEREH D& AERK(E
ERERZCRBESIE -

FEERBERZ RN ABEZER

ARREZEASERNEERSTES
ANRDEREA T - —

1. CPREABARESRSRHEBARE
BEFWRBRIHER

2. EFeABEEERCPEERAQTIE
HESHPBEER  LUERRQ BTG
NERCPEBEEERNEN K&

3. bW RZEBER TN ZMERERLE
ZHEe

2018 ) 71

HE S BERERA T
h
-/



7

Report of the Directors

EEEHESE

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

As Mr. Guo is an executive Director, the chairman of the Board
and a controlling Shareholder and Ms. Shum is a deemed
connected person of the Company under Rule 14A.21(1)(a),
each of the entities of the CP Group is an associate of Mr.
Guo or Ms. Shum and therefore a connected person of the
Company. Upon Completion, any provision of the Corporate
Guarantees by the Enlarged Group to the CP Group will
constitute connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

In addition, as the aggregate amount of the Loans guaranteed
by the Target Group exceeds 8% of the assets ratio as defined
under Rule 13.13 of the Listing Rules, the provision of the
Corporate Guarantees is subject to the disclosure obligations
under Rules 13.13, 13.15 and 13.20 of the Listing Rules.

The Acquisition was approved at the Company’s special
general meeting held on 16 January 2019 and completed on
30 January 2019. Upon the completion of Acquisition, All
Excel has become an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company and the financial results of the Target Group will be
consolidated into the financial statements of the Group.

Further details are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 21 September 2018, 31 December 2018, 16
January 2019 and 30 January 2019 and the circular of the
Company dated 26 December 2018.

DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO RULE 13.22 OF
THE LISTING RULES

Pursuant to the continuing disclosure requirements under
rule 13.22 of the Listing Rules, the combined statement of
financial position of the affiliated company, Xi'an Zhichengda
Real Estate Company Limited (“Xi'an Zhichengda”) and the
attributable interests of the Group in Xi‘an Zhichengda as at
31 December 2018 are disclosed as follows:
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DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO RULE 13.22 OF

Report of the Directors

EEEHES

BiE EmRBE13.22Fk 2 K E

THE LISTING RULES (continued) (&)

Statement of Group'’s
financial attributable
position interest
HK$'000 HK$'000

rEEZ

B 7 AR R &R iR

FHET FET

Non-current assets ERBEE 2,583,110 955,751

Current assets TENEE 166,782 61,709

Current liabilities mEAE (1,368,902) (506,494)

Non-current liabilities EmEaE (592,020) (219,047)

Net assets FEE 788,970 291,919
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS BEALT YIRS

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken
by the Group during the Period are set out in note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements. The Company has complied
with the applicable requirements under the Listing Rules for
those related party transactions which constituted non-exempt
connected transactions/continuing connected transactions.
Other related party transactions either did not constitute
connected transactions/continuing connected transactions
or constituted connected transactions/continuing connected
transactions but were exempted from all disclosure and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under the
Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected
Transactions” disclosed above and note 39 to the consolidated
financial statements headed “Related Party Transactions”, no
other transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
and in which a Director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the Period or at any time during the Period.
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Report of the Directors

EEEHESE

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or in existence during the Period.

Mr. Guo Jiadi (“Mr. Guo”) is an executive Director, the
chairman of the Company and a controlling shareholder of
the Company. Mr. Guo carries out property development and
investment businesses and other businesses in the PRC through
companies controlled by him, including but not limited to
Fujian Sandi Property Development Limited (the “Fujian Sandi”)
and Fuzhou Gaojia.

To deal with the potential conflict of interests between Mr.
Guo and the Company, Mr. Guo; Fujian Sandi; Fuzhou Gaojia
and the Company had entered into a deed of non-competition
dated 1 January 2015 (the “2015 Deed”). Each of Mr. Guo;
Fujian Sandi and Fuzhou Gaojia; (the “Covenantor(s)”) has
given its non-compete undertakings in favour of the Company
on the terms set out below:

(@) The Covenantors will not, and will procure his/its close
associates not to, directly or indirectly, carry on, engage,
invest or be involved in any manner any business which
competes with the business of the Company from time to
time with the following exceptions:

(i) the holding of shares of a company which is
engaged in the business of acquisition of land
for development, building construction and
acquisition of real properties (including projects
with construction in progress) in the PRC for sale,
lease or other investment purposes (the “Property
Investment Business”) and whose shares are listed
on a recognised stock exchange provided that such
shares represent not more than 10% of the voting
rights at the general meetings of such company;

(i) the engagement in the Property Investment Business
through the Group;

(iii) the acquisition or holding of real property for self-
use;

(iv) the property projects that the Covenantors have
already engaged as at the date of the undertakings;

4 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS (continued)

(a)

(continued)

(v)  the engagement of property projects in any province
of the PRC in which the Group has not considered,
planned to or invested in the development of its
Property Investment Business;

(vi) the engagement of property projects in any province
of the PRC in which the Group has considered,
planned to or invested in the development of its
Property Investment Business subject to the right of
first refusal granted to the Group (on the terms set
out in the undertakings).

Since the date of the 2015 Deed, the scope of the
operation of the Group was expanded. Therefore, Mr.
Guo and the Company has entered into a new Non-
competition Deed on 15 March 2017 (the “2017 Deed”)
to replace the 2015 Deed. Further details was disclosed in
the announcement dated 15 March 2017. Set out below
is a summary of the principal terms of the 2017 Deed and
relevant information.

Mr. Guo (for himself and as the agent for his close
associates) irrevocably and unconditionally undertakes in
favour of the Company that:

(@) he shall and shall procure that his close associates
not to, directly or indirectly, engage in, invest in,
participate in, whether on his own account or with
each other or in conjunction with or on behalf
of any person or company or otherwise holds or
owns any interest in any manner in the PRC in any
business that may compete, directly or indirectly,
with the Group Business;

(b) he shall provide all the information that the
Company reasonably considers to be necessary to
enforce the undertakings given by him under the
2017 Deed and would make an annual declaration
on compliance with the 2017 Deed in the annual
report of the Company; and

(c) he and/or his close associates shall abstain from
voting in the Board meetings and the general
meetings of the Company in relation to any matter
in connection with 2017 Deed,;
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Report of the Directors

EEEHESE

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS (continued)

(a)

(continued)

Mr. Guo further undertakes to the Company that he shall
not (and shall procure his close associates not to):

(@) solicit or entice away any customer, contractor,
supplier, director, employee or consultant of the
Group (or any potential customer, contractor,
supplier with whom the Group has already entered
into negotiations); and/or

(b) use, disclose to anyone or publish, or allow
the disclosure or publication of, the non-public
information in relation to the Group (trade secrets,
business strategies or otherwise) that he or his close
associates received or may receive.

If any New Business Opportunity is made available to
Mr. Guo and/or his close associates, he and/or his close
associates:

(i)  shall issue a written notice to the Board pursuant
to the terms of the 2017 Deed and provide the
information reasonably requested by the Company
to facilitate the Company making an informed
evaluation of the New Business Opportunity; and

(i) shall not pursue or otherwise participate in the new
business opportunity in any manner unless and until
the New Business Opportunity has been declined
by the Group, provided that Mr. Guo and/or his
close associates cannot pursue the New Business
Opportunity on terms more favourable than those
offered to the Group.

If Mr. Guo and/or any of his close associates wishes to sell
any interest in the Guo Business (same meanings as defined
in the announcement dated 15 March 2017) (in whole or
in part) to any third party (the “Opportunity for Sale”), Mr.
Guo will offer and will procure that his close associates to
offer the Opportunity for Sale to the Company and the
Company shall have a right of first refusal in respect of such
Opportunity for Sale (the “Right of First Refusal”). In this
regard, Mr. Guo and/or his close associates:

(i)  shall issue a written notice to the Board pursuant
to the terms of the 2017 Deed and provide the
information reasonably requested by the Company
to facilitate the Company to reasonably evaluate the
Opportunity for Sale; and

6 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS (continued)

(a)  (continued)

(ii)

shall be at liberty to offer the Opportunity for Sale to
third parties if the Opportunity for Sale is declined by
the Group, provided that the terms thereof shall not
be more favourable than those provided to the Group.

The Non-competition Undertakings do not apply to the
following:

(a)

(b)

(d)

the same property projects excluded from the 2015
Deed (being those property projects of Mr. Guo and/or
his close associates already in existence as at the date
of the 2015 Deed);

the hotel business in connection with the hotels set
out below which has been engaged by Mr. Guo (and/
or his closes associates) prior to the Group’s proposed
engagement in the hotel sector:

(i)  the existing 5-star hotel named “Sandi Ramada
Plaza Hotel* (= ZEZXZEE5)E/E)” which
is located in Cangshan District, Fuzhou, Fujian
Province;

(i)  the existing 5-star hotel named “Double Tree
by Hilton Hotel Putian* (BH =% @ ER
MOBJE)" which is located in Putian of Fujian
Province; and

(i) the proposed 3-star hotel named “Putian Sandi
Pesht Boutique Hotel* (75 H = s il AT 5 dr B /5 )
which is located in Putian of Fujian Province;

the holding of or being interested in, directly or
indirectly, by Mr. Guo and/or his close associates any
shares in any company, provided that (i) such shares
are listed on a recognized stock exchange; and (ii)
the total number of such shares held by Mr. Guo
and/or his close associates does not amount to more
than 5% of the issued shares carrying voting rights;

the engagement in any business via the holding of
the equity interests through the Group;
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Report of the Directors

EEEHESE

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS (continued)

(a)

*

(continued)

(e) the acquisition or holding of property by Mr. Guo
and/or his close associates for their respective self-
use;

(f)  the engagement in the Group Business in any
province in the PRC where the Group has not
considered or planned to carry out the Group
Business; or

(g) (subject to the provisions regarding the New
Business Opportunity) the engagement in the Group
Business in any province in the PRC where the
Group has considered or planned to carry out the
Group Business.

The obligations of Mr. Guo under 2017 Deed shall be
terminated upon the earlier of:

(a) the Shares ceasing to be listed on the Stock
Exchange; and

(b)  Mr. Guo and his close associates together ceasing to
control 30% (or such percentage as may from time
to time specified in the Listing Rules to be regarded
as a controlling shareholder) or more of the voting
rights at any general meeting of the Company.

During the Period and up to the date of this report, Mr.
Guo declares that he complied with all the terms and
conditions as set out in 2015 Deed and 2017 Deed.

Save as disclosed, during the Period and up to the date
of this report, no Directors are considered to have an
interest in a business which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses
of the Group, pursuant to the Listing Rules, other than
those businesses for which the Directors were appointed
as directors to represent the interest of the Company
and/or the Group.

For identification purposes only
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN SHARES AND SHORT POSITION
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the
Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws
of Hong Kong) (“SFO") which (i) were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the
SFO; or (iii) which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, were as follows:

(a) Long positions in the Shares and underlying
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BRTREZ
ESft% gt BH&A RERHO#A s REs B BREAY
Mr. Guo Jiadi Interest of controlled corporation 2,901,469,002 312,500,000 - 72.1%
DMk REFE RS (Note 1) (Note 2)
(Hit1) (HWit2)
Beneficial owner - - 4,400,000 0.1%
ERBBEA (Note 3)
(Krit3)
Mr. Wang Chao Beneficial owner - - 3,000,000 0.1%
IREE EREAA (Note 4)
(Wizta)
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Report of the Directors

EEEHESE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ EERFETHRAERRGD 2
INTERESTS IN SHARES AND SHORT POSITION HUBRRAEAATREEE EE >
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND B EHERORERERZRE
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY (1)

ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

(a) Long positions in the Shares and underlying (a) RBRORMEBEROZEFE (£)

Shares (continued)

Approximate
percentage of the
Number of share issued capital as at

Name of Number of options 31 December
Director Capacity Number of Shares  underlying Shares held 2018
ER-E-NF
+ZA=t+-H
BRTREL
Esit4 af KB HERGHE FrsBRESE R
Ms. Amika Lan E Guo Beneficial owner - - 4,400,000 0.1%
Amikalan E Guokt  EmBEBA (Note 5)
(Krits)
Ms. Ma Shujuan Beneficial owner - - 4,400,000 0.1%
SRERT ERBBEA (Note 6)
(Kizte)
Mr. Zheng Yurui Beneficial owner - - 4,400,000 0.1%
LIRSyt ERBEA (Note 7)
(Wiit7)
Notes: 5t -
1. The 2,901,469,002 Shares include: 1. #%2,901,469,0020% J 15 B ¥E :

(@) 2,581,054,801 Shares held by United Century (@)  2,581,054,801 /%% 15 H United
International Limited (“United Century”), a company Century International Limited
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“"BVI") ([United Century ]) (—RR
with limited liability which is wholly owned by Mr. HEBETHE ([REBE B
Guo Jiadi. EFMK 2 ERAR #

ML ERERE)IFH

(b)  The Shares of 320,414,201 held by King Partner (b) 320,414,201 K1 © M
Holdings Limited (“King Partner”), a company King Partner Holdings Limited
incorporated in the BVI with limited liability which is ([King Partner |) (—RR 5
wholly-owned by Mr. Guo Jiadi. BRLZEESTMRIZABERA

Al AMMEELEHE)
Ba-
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN SHARES AND SHORT POSITION
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

(a) Long positions in the Shares and underlying
Shares (continued)

Notes: (continued)

2. This represented United Century’s long position in
312,500,000 underlying Shares which constituted
unlisted physically settled equity derivatives pursuant to
an arrangement entered into with Beyond Steady Limited
("Beyond Steady”). Beyond Steady is taken to have the
short position in the same underlying shares. Beyond
Steady is a company incorporated in BVI with limited
liability which is indirectly wholly owned by Huarong
International Financial Holdings Limited (“Huarong”).

3. As at 31 December 2018, Mr. Guo lJiadi, an executive
Director and Chairman of the Company was entitled
to receive share options to subscribe for a maximum of
4,400,000 Shares upon exercise of the options in full.

4. As at 31 December 2018, Mr. Wang Chao, an executive
Director was entitled to receive share options to subscribe
for a maximum of 3,000,000 Shares upon exercise of the
options in full.

5. As at 31 December 2018, Ms. Amika Lan E Guo, an
executive Director was entitled to receive share options
to subscribe for a maximum of 4,400,000 Shares upon
exercise of the options in full.

6. As at 31 December 2018, Ms. Ma Shujuan, an
Independent non-executive Director was entitled to
receive share options to subscribe for a maximum of
4,400,000 Shares upon exercise of the options in full.

7. As at 31 December 2018, Mr. Zheng Yurui, an
Independent non-executive Director was entitled to
receive share options to subscribe for a maximum of
4,400,000 Shares upon exercise of the options in full.
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EEEHESE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ EERFTETHRAERRD 2R
INTERESTS IN SHARES AND SHORT POSITION HEURRAEKABRRERE LB 2
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND B HEROREEZSFZAE
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY (#)
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)
(b) Short positions in the Shares and underlying (b) REBORHEERGZAE
Shares
Number of  Approximate percentage
underlying of issued capital as at
Name of Director Capacity Shares 31 December 2018
ER=ZZF-NF
+Z—A=+—H
EEns 7 HEROGEE ERITREAZHBAB I
Mr. Guo (Note) Interest of controlled 125,000,000 2.8%
corporation (Note)
LA (BaE) RPEEE 2 s (Htat)
Note: Bt iz
This represents United Century's short position in 125,000,000 E 5 United Century’125,000,000(%
underlying Shares which constituted unlisted physically settled MR B D #)% & - IR BiChance Talent
equity derivatives pursuant to an arrangement entered into Management Limited ([ Chance Talent ])
with Chance Talent Management Limited (the “Chance R HILZEE - BAKIE LT EMEERALT
Talent’). Chance Talent's intermediate holding company is CCB A T B e Chance Talentz EEER A F A
International Group Holdings Limited, and the ultimate holding BITHBREEZERER QA RmEER
company is Central Huijin Investment Ltd. Chance Talent is taken BARIRPRESKEFREME AR
to have the long position in the same underlying Shares. Chance Talent#% 1% /& 7 48 Rl A8 A AR 19
BirE-o
(c) Long positions in associated corporation () RHEEE:EZHAE
Registered capital Approximately
Name of associated held in associated percentage of
Name of Director  corporation Capacity corporation registered capital
B LB AT HEEMERZ
Exns HEEE AR &% HEfEX BREDY
Mr. Guo Fujian Jiake Industrial Interest of controlled Registered: 49%
Company Limited corporation (Note 2) RMB216,000,000
("Fulian Jiake")
(Note 1)
BEE BEEMEZARAA REEE #Em ERiE
(MEfEM]) (K1) (Hizt2) AR #216,000,0007T
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN SHARES AND SHORT POSITION
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

(9]

Long positions in associated corporation
Notes:

1. The Company indirectly held 51% equity interests of
Fujian Jiake through an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary,
Fujian Sinco Industrial Company Limited (“Fujian Sinco”),
a company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability.
Therefore Fujian Jiaka is an associated corporation of the
Company for the purposes of the SFO.

2. Fuzhou Gaojia Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
(""Fuzhou Gaojia”) held 49% equity interests of Fujian
Jiake, Fuzhou Gaojia is a company established in the PRC
and ultimate controlled by Mr. Guo Jiadi.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none of
the Directors nor the chief executive of the Company had
any interests or short position in any shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 352 of the SFO, otherwise notified to the
Company and Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
Nor any of the Directors and chief executive had any interest
in, or had been granted any right to subscribe for the securities
of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) or had exercised any such right
during the nine months ended 31 December 2018.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTEREST
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2018, other than the interests of a director
or chief executive of the Company as disclosed under the
heading “Directors’ and chief executive’s interest in shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations” above, the following persons
(not being a Director or the chief executive officer of the
Company) have an interest or a short position in Shares or
underlying Shares which would be required to be disclosed to
the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and required to be
entered in the register maintained by the Company pursuant
to section 336 of the SFO were as follows:
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B-BMEERSNPBEKILZ AR
A /R FBANE 5 A S AR A o

R EXEBEEIN R_F—-—N\F+-A
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Report of the Directors

EEEHESE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

FTERRARDRABER G 2
HmERARE (B)

Approximate

Number of Number of percentage of
Name of Number of underlying share options issued capital as at
Shareholder Capacity Shares Shares held 31 December 2018
ERZE-N\F
+ZA=1+-H
FERERE BRITREZ
BRH®ES 5% BAHE HEROGHE £ (| BHAE
Long Position
#e
Mr. Guo Jiadi Interest of controlled 2,901,469,002 312,500,000 - 72.1%
corporations (Note 1) (Note 1)
1) 1P XEEE s (Kistt) (Kiatt)
Beneficial owner - - 4,400,000 0.1%
(Note 1)
ExBEBA (Kiatt)
United Century (Note 1) Beneficial owner 2,581,054,801 312,500,000 - 64.9%
(Note 1) (Note 1)
United Century (Hf5F1) EXBEBA (Kistt) (Kiatt)
King Partner (Note 1) Beneficial owner 320,414,201 - 7.2%
(Note 1)
King Partner ( ffz1) EXBEBA (Bratt)
Central Huijin Investment Ltd. Interest of controlled - 2,399,039,555 - 53.8%
corporations (Note 2)
hRESREEREMAA REEE (Kra2)
Chance Talent Management Beneficial owner - 2,399,039,555 - 53.8%
Limited (Note 2)
Chance Talent Management ExBA (Kta2)
Limited
Huarong Interest of controlled 312,500,000 625,000,000 - 21.0%
corporations (Note 3a) (Note 3b)
Zm REEE s (Kfit3a) (Ki&3b)
Beyond Steady Beneficial owner 312,500,000 625,000,000 - 21.0%
(Note 3a) (Note 3b)
Beyond Steady ESHEBA (Kfit3a) (KfeE3b)
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Report of the Directors

EEEHES

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST FTERRARGD REER D 2 #E
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND BmRRE (#)

UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

Approximate

Number of percentage of
Name of Number of underlying issued capital as at
Shareholder Capacity Shares Shares 31 December 2018
ER=ZB-N\F
+ZRA=1+-H
BRITREZ
BRH®ES L) RAEE HERGHE BAE
Short Position
KB
Huarong Interest of controlled - 312,500,000 7.0%
corporations (Note 3¢)
=R XEER Em (Hiat3c)
Beyond Steady Beneficial owner - 312,500,000 7.0%
(Note 3¢)
Beyond Steady ExBEBA
United Century (Note 1) Beneficial owner - 125,000,000 2.8%
(Note 4)
United Century (#77£1) EXBEBA (Kiat4)
Notes: TR
1. Please refer to notes 1, 2 and 3 under section headed: Directors’ 1. EAMFLOESIE [EENTETHAER
and Chief Executives’ Interests on pages 80 to 81. ZHER | —f 2 MizE1 23

2. The 2,399,039,555 underlying shares comprises: (a) security 2. 2,399,039,555% HE K KD B23F : (a)R

interest in 2,274,039,555 underlying Shares of the Company, 2,274,039,5550% Zx A &) MH B8 IR 1 o 2 1
and (b) a long position in 125,000,000 underlying Shares {R#E %5 -} (b)FA125,000,0008% 48 78 A% 15
which constituted unlisted physically settled equity derivatives ZFA  BiEEUnited Centurys] L&
pursuant to an arrangement entered into with United Century. BRI T EYEERASTET A
United Century is taken to have the short position in the same United Century 4% A 7 8 [E #8 B8 A% 1)
underlying Shares. HERE
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Report of the Directors

EEEHESE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

3. (@) The 312,500,000 held by Beyond Steady, a company
incorporated in BVI with limited liability which is indirectly
wholly owned by Huarong.

(b) Beyond Steady has security interest in 625,000,000
underlying shares of the Company.

(c)  This represented Beyond Steady’s short position in
312,500,000 underlying shares which constituted unlisted
physically settled equity derivatives pursuant to an
arrangement entered into with United Century. United
Century is taken to have the long position in the same
underlying shares.

4. Please refer to note under section headed: Directors’ and Chief
Executives’ Interests on pages 82.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, the
Company had not been notified by any persons (other than
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company) who
had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares of the Company which would have to be notified to
the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 2 and 3 Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the equity-linked agreement entered into during the
nine months ended 31 December 2018 are set out below:

(a) Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”) which is approved at the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 16
September 2011. Under the Share Option Scheme, the
directors of the Company may grant options to eligible
persons to subscribe for the Company’s shares subject
to the terms and conditions stipulated therein. Unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, the Scheme will be
valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing
on the date on which it became effective. The directors
and employees of the Company and its subsidiaries
are entitled to participate in the share option schemes
operated by the Company.

6 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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(b)  Beyond Steady#625,000,0004% 4
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() H¥5Beyond Steady312,500,000
f% #8 B8 A% 10 M9 4% & - AR 3K B2 United
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS (continued)
(a) Share Option Scheme (continued)

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide
the Company with a flexible and effective means of
incentivising, rewarding, remunerating, compensating
and/or providing benefits to the participants. The Share
Option Scheme covers any employee (full time and part
time) holding salaries, agents, contractors, consumers,
suppliers and others providing similar services as the
Board in its sole discretion considers eligible.

Without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders,
(i) the total number of shares to be issued under the
options of the New Scheme is not permitted to exceed
10% of the shares of the Company in issue; and (ii) the
number of shares issued and to be issued in respect
of which options granted and may be granted to any
individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1%
of the shares of the Company then in issue.

Options may be exercise at any time not exceeding a
period 6 years from the date on which the share options
is accepted. The exercise price is determined by the
Directors and will not be less than the higher of (i) the
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of
grant; (ii) the average closing price of the shares for
the five business days immediately preceding the date
of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s
shares.

The exercise price, vesting period, the exercisable period
and the number of shares subject to each option will be
determined by the Board at the time of grant.
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Report of the Directors

EEEHESE

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS (continued)
(a) Share Option Scheme (continued)

BREHBHZ 2
(a) BERRAESHE (&)

8

46,000,000 share options (“Batch 1 Options”) under the
Share Option Scheme granted on 22 February 2016 and
the vested option will be exercisable at an exercise price
of HK$0.285 per share in accordance with the following
schedule:

25%: from 22 February 2016
25%: from 22 February 2017
25%: from 22 February 2018
25%: from 22 February 2019

On 24 April 2018, a total of 59,700,000 shares options
(“Batch 2 Options”) were granted to the directors,
consultants and employees of the Group at a cash
consideration of HK$1 per grantee which entitle the
grantees to subscribe for new ordinary shares of the
Company at an exercise price of HK$0.420 per share. The
exercise price is determined with reference to the highest
of (i) the closing price of HK$0.420 per share as quoted
in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange daily quotation sheet
on the date of grant; (i) the average closing price of
approximately HK$0.412 per share as quoted in the Stock
Exchange daily quotation sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii)
the nominal value of HK$0.01 per ordinary shares in the
share capital of the Company. The validity period of the
Batch 2 Options is 6 years from the date of grant (i.e. 24
April 2018 to 23 April 2024 (both days inclusive)). The
vesting period of the Batch 2 Options is as follows:

40% of the Batch 2 Options shall vest on 24 April 2018;
30% of the Batch 2 Options shall vest on 24 April 2019;

and
30% of the Batch 2 Options shall vest on 24 April 2020

Further details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in
note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

8 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS (continued) IR ()

(a) Share Option Scheme (continued) (a) BBREFE (&)
Details of movements in the number of outstanding share HE-_Z— ) \Ft+_HA=+—1EA
options under the Share Option Scheme during the nine REIfE - BRI E T MARITEZ
months ended 31 December 2018 are as follows: EIREEE e BN T

Number of shares options
EREHR

Cancelled/
Beginning ~ Granted  Exercised  Expired Exercise
of the during the duringthe duringthe Endofthe  price per Date of grant of
Period Period Period quriod Period share share option  Exercisable period
Ol
KB KEER g/ ) ) )
AHEY it il )] Bx SRORE BRERLAH L3
Directors B2
Mr. Guo Jiadi (Note) ~ SI@%4 (A7) 2,400,000 - - - 2,400,000 HK$0.285 22 February 2016 22 February 2016 to
0.285%TC L 21 February 2022
it “Z-N
ZAZtZR ZAZiZEE
Ry R
- 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 HK$0.420 24 April 2018 24 April 2018 to
04203 23 Agril 2024
_E)\E “2)\E
MAZtMAE  MA-{MAZ
13
MA=1+=H
Mr. Wang Chao IR%s 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 HK$0.285 22 February 2016 22 February 2016 to
02853 \ 21 February 2022
“E ZER
“A-tZH :ﬂ;;;@§
“R2F-E
Ms. Amika Lan AmkalanE - 4,400,000 - - 4,400,000  HK$0.420 24 April 2018 24 April 2018 to
E Guo (Note) Guo X T (Hit) 042057 23 Agril 2024
“E-)\E “T-)\E
MA-+mA Eﬂ;;@ﬁ%
‘ mA-1=A
Ms MaShujuan  BEL - 4,400,000 - - 4400000 HKS0420 24 Apil2018 24 April 20180
0.420% 7T 23 Agil 2024
“E-)\F “3-)\E
BAZtEHA  MA-tEAZ
:%:@i@ﬂ
MrZhengYurui  BEREAE - 4,400,000 - - 4400000 HKSOA20 24 April2018 24 Apil 2018 10
0.420% 7T 23 Agil 2024
“E-)\F “3-)\E
BAZtHHE  MA-tEAZ
ZZZMENA
:f:ﬁ
Sub-total N 5,400,000 15,200,000 - - 20,600,000
Ex-Director JES 2,500,000 - - - 2,500,000  HK$0.285 22 February 2016 22 February 2016 to
0.285%TC L 21 February 2022
—E2R Z2R
ZAZtZR ZAZiZEE
)R
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Report of the Directors

EEEHESE

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS (continued) BREHBHZ 2
(a) Share Option Scheme (continued) (a) BBRREESTE (&)
Number of shares options
Cancelled/
Beginning  Granted  Exercised  Expired Exercise
of the during the during the during the End of the price per Date of grant of
Period Period Period $Eﬁepﬁod Period share share option  Exercisable period
_ KEER AEER a8/ . )
AHEY Rit f£ )] Bx SRORE BRERLAY Gl
Employeesand ~ EEREMSHEE
other participants
Sandy Lan Sandy Lan - 4,400,000 - - 4,400,000 0.420 24 April 2018 24 April 2018 to
Hua Guo (Note) Hua Guo 23 April 2024
(Hizt)
“E-)\F
Eﬂggggﬁ
mA=F=H
Daisy Lan Lan MWBMm - 4,400,000 - - 4,400,000 0.420 24 April 2018 24 April 2018 to
Guo (Note) Guo (fiz) 23 Ag\l 202%1
nAZjmes
mA-T=4
Stephen Zhen Stephen Zhen - 4,400,000 - - 4,400,000 0.420 24 April 2018 24 April 2018 to
Hang Guo (Note) Hang Guo BMMNM
(Hfzt)
-N\E
mAZ f@ﬁi
—E-ME
MA-t+=A
Other employees and EfESREM 23,100,000 - - - 23,100,000  HK$0.285 22 February 2016 22 February 2016 to
other participants 2H%E 0.2858 7T L 21 FebruaryZOZZ
—ETN “E-i
ZRZtZR ZRZfZBEZ
| s
- 31,300,000 - - 31,300,000  HK$0.420 ZMMMS 24 April 2018 to
042027 23@gum4
—N\§ —T-N\E
@H f@ﬁ MAZTmAZ
13
ME=t+=H
Total @t 31,000,000 59,700,000 - - 90,700,000
Note: Mr. Guo Jiadi is the executive Director, chairman and a Biat: EBIBEEABARRB ZHITE
substantial shareholder of the Company, and Ms. Amika E TIREETERE A KAmika
Lan E Guo, Ms. Sandy Lan Hua Guo, Ms. Daisy Lan Lan Lan E GuoZ =+ * Sandy Lan Hua
Guo and Mr. Stephen Zhen Hang Guo are associates of GuoZ T * Daisy Lan Lan GuoZ
Mr. Guo Jiadi. 1 K Stephen Zhen Hang Guo’t

ERFMEBEEZHEA-
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the share option scheme adopted by the Company
disclosed above, at no time during the Period was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements
to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

EMOLUMENT POLICY AND RETIREMENT
BENEFITS SCHEME OF THE GROUP

The remuneration policy of the Group is set on the basis of
the employee’s merit, qualifications and competence. The
emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the
Company are reviewed by the remuneration committee, with
consideration to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme as an
incentive to the Directors and eligible employees of the Group,
details of which are set out in the section headed “Share
Option Scheme” above and note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Other than operating the statutory mandatory provident fund
scheme for Hong Kong employees and participating in social
insurance for its employees in the PRC in accordance with
the relevant PRC regulations, the Group has not operated any
other retirement benefits schemes for the Group’s employees.
Details of the Group's retirement benefit scheme in operation
for the nine months ended 31 December 2018 are set out in
note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Details of major events after 31 December 2018 are set out in
note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Report of the Directors

EEEHESE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the Company’s corporate governance practices
is set out in the Corporate Governance Report accompanying
the annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
INFORMATION AND DIRECTOR’S INSURANCE

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, the
Directors and other officers, for the time being acting in
relation to the affairs of the Company, shall be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which they or any of them shall or may
incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in
or omitted in or about the execution of their duty or supposed
duty in their respective offices or trusts, except such (if any)
as they shall incur or sustain through their own fraud or
dishonesty.

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance throughout the nine months ended
31 December 2018, which provides appropriate cover for
certain legal actions brought against its directors and officers.
The level of the coverage is reviewed annually.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a prorata basis to
the existing shareholders of the Company.

2 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the nine months ended 31 December 2018, neither
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the best knowledge of the Directors, it
is confirmed that there is sufficient public float of more than
25% of the Company’s issued shares at the latest practicable
date prior to the issue of the annual report.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each independent
non-executive Director, an annual confirmation of their
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers that all the independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

Report of the Directors
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Report of the Directors

EEEHESE

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit Committee for the
purposes of reviewing and providing supervision over the
Group’s financial reporting process and internal controls. It
also reviews the effectiveness of the audit process and risk
evaluation. The Audit Committee which comprised Mr. Chan
Yee Ping, Michael, Mr. Yu Pak Yan, Peter and Mr. Zheng Yurui
being independent non-executive Directors, has reviewed the
accompanying financial statements prior to their publication.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
nine months ended 31 December 2018 have been audited by
Deloitte. Deloitte were appointed as auditor of the Company
on 9 November 2018 for the nine months ended 31 December
2018 upon the resignation of BDO Limited who has served as
the auditor of the Company since the financial year ended 31
March 2010. Further details are set out in the announcement
of the Company dated 9 November 2018.

Deloitte will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting. A
resolution for the re-appointment of Deloitte as auditor of the
Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Guo Jiadi
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 March 2019
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Independent Auditor’s Report

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA SANDI HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
China Sandi Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set
out on pages 104 to 268, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
nine months ended 31 December 2018, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2018, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
nine months ended 31 December 2018 in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certificated Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BYUZBMBES

Key Audit Matters

HREZEE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional FREZEREESEBERMOBENE  RE
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the HRAVERRNERRAEEENEIE-
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These EUHEEEARMERERESAVBEHRE
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the FHEESREERIE R TeHELE1l
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming EREHEER -

our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.

Key audit matter

BRELER

Valuation of investment properties

REYEMEE

We identified the valuation of investment properties
as a key audit matter due to the significance of the
balance to the consolidated financial statements as
a whole, combined with the estimates associated
with determining the fair value. As disclosed in note
17 to the consolidated financial statements, the
investment properties of the Group were furniture
shopping mall and a kindergarden in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) and amounted
to HK$3,601,759,000 as at 31 December 2018,
representing 47% of the Group’s total assets.
Fair value losses on investment properties of
HK$1,055,000 was recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income for the nine months ended 31 December
2018.
BAERERGESUBERRTENES N LHEE
ERTFEAENET BRREMEHERBEREZ
BH - HMGEEVBREMT7IAEE BE5EH
KEMEFEHEUNFEARLME ([HE])ER
MWEBSENRE R_E-NF+_A=+—HK
3,601,759,0008TCHfR 1 BEEEAEENAT% °
BEYERN N TEEIE1,0550008 THREZE =S —/\
F+_A=+t—HBLENERAZGZEERKAEMEEK
mRk NIER

6 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMELSNEEREEXSEE

Our procedures in relation to assessing the
appropriateness of the valuation of the investment
properties included:

HMERFEREVENEESEETNEFB:

o Understanding the management’s process for
reviewing the work of the Valuer;

o THEEEHNENMEEMOITERBNER:

] Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Valuer;
e FHMEHERBETEST BHILEEBES:

] Obtaining an understanding from the Valuer
about the valuation technique, the performance
of the property markets, significant assumptions
adopted and key inputs used in the valuations;

FGERD T REMGERF - METISHRE A
RN ERBRLAERKBOEERAZRE



Key Audit Matters (continued)

Key audit matter

BREFLEER

Valuation of investment properties (continued)

REYH1EE (F)

All of the Group’s investment properties are stated
at fair value based on valuations performed by an
independent professionally qualified valuer not
connected with the Group (the “Valuer”). The fair
value of the completed investment properties were
determined by adopting the direct capitalisation
approach and dependent on certain key inputs,
including rental value and discount rate. Details
of the valuation techniques and key inputs used
in the valuations are disclosed in note 17 in the
consolidated financial statements.

A BEEENKREMEHERHE E£EHNE
BEN B L EESERMER ([HERD])ETHM
BERQFEIE - HERTRAERKABHEZHA
BB IENGE M mR M 1 7T EE -

Independent Auditor’s Report
BYRBEBRES

BREZSE(4)
How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ENECRNAEEBEREARSEE

] Evaluating the reasonableness of the key inputs
used in the valuations by comparing the rentals
with other similar properties, and benchmarking
discount rate against historical data, market trend
and comparable data of companies within the
same industry;

o FBRBHEUMENET HEENRKEFLH
B MBS ESLRERTERNRFN AL EIE T
HEEMANEERH ABENEIENL:

. Assessing the integrity of information provided
by the management to the Valuer by comparing
details of rentals on a sample basis to the
respective underlying existing lease agreements.

e FRWMESAULBEHFBTRMEEARBEHEED
& RMEERENGERTREERNEL-

20185 9 7

HE S BERERA T
h
-/



9

Independent Auditor’s Report

BYUZBMBES

Key Audit Matters (continued)

Key audit matter

BRELEER

Valuation of inventories of properties (continued)

WRFEME (&)

We identified the valuation of the Group’s
inventories of properties as a key audit matter
due to the significant estimates involved in the
determination of net realisable value (the “NRV")
of these properties. As disclosed in note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group had
completed properties for sale of HK$86,604,000
and properties under development for sale of
HK$2,631,984,000 (the “inventories of properties”)
as at 31 December 2018, which are situated in the
PRC.
BMBNEEEDEFENHELRBRERZENR
DREREEZEMFENr] 2 FE ([FIZHFE])
B RERMGE - HNER A M MR T21MEE
ZE-)N\F+ZA=+—RH - EEEHEBLNTE
B S B R T 586,604,000 T RFEHERYE
2,631,984,0008 L ([MEFE]) -

8 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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BREZSE(4)
How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMERRUNEEFARERSEE

Our procedures in relation to the NRV of the
inventories of properties included:

B EFENAERFENEFEE:

. Obtaining an understanding on the
management's process of determining of the
NRV of the inventories of properties;

s THEREETWERGFEANEZERFEMNBE:

] Evaluating the reasonableness of the estimated
future cost to completion of the properties, on
a sample basis, by comparing it to the actual
development cost of similar completed properties
of the Group; and

o  FHATEKYMENMGEARAKKANGEE  FXE
MEEZEDEEESERUE T IYENER
FENARNEITLE: &



Independent Auditor’s Report
BYRBEBRES

Key Audit Matters (continued) BREEXEE (&)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
HRERSEHE EHERRNAEERAREREE

Valuation of inventories of properties (continued)

WEFEMRE (&)

As disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated financial e Assessing the reasonableness of the estimated
statements, management of the Group determined selling prices used by management with
the NRV of the inventories of properties by reference reference to market prices achieved in the same
to the estimated selling prices of the inventories projects or by comparable properties, including
of properties, which takes into account a number an evaluation of the appropriateness of the
of factors including prevailing real estate market comparable properties used by management
conditions in the PRC, estimated selling expenses, of the Group based on our knowledge of the
estimated costs to completion, and the sale-related Group’s business and real estate industry in the
taxes (if any). Based on management's estimation PRC.

of the NRV of the inventories of properties the o 2Z1HREE KMAEEB RSN TISERT(E
Group had written down inventories of properties of EREECANMGHEERNEEN BTG
HK$11,897,000 as at 31 December 2018. EEEEREANYESEEEBNPEEMETT
MR E M B MM IS KE SEEEERENEE FHABAERNEEMRNEE M-
MEFENREEFER  2RZEVEFENMG

EE HEFEELEAX 2ETRBRNRTEHET
SRR A HERY TLZ2Ee KA RIESHEE
MIB(WA) RBEEEEHNESEMETERN ] ZIF
FENM RZE—-N\F+ZA=+—H E5H
EHUR M EFE 11,897,000 7T °
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BYREBEERES

Other Matter

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2018 were audited by another auditor who expressed
on unmodified opinion on those statements on 28 June 2018.

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors and Those Charged with
Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.

00 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

B

VEZBMABESE

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

02 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the
independent auditor’s report is Wong Kit Sum.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

22 March 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

REeEaREMEERSER

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 &z —Z— \F+_-A=+—HIF "1AA

Nine months Year

ended ended

31 December 31 March

2018 2018

—E-N\F —E-NF

+=ZA=+—-HB =ZA=+-—H

Eh@EA FFE

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

Ky FER FET

Revenue I &5 6 149,836 707,694

Cost of properties sales LR N (37,230) (366,342)

Other income Hib WA 8(a) 22,858 34,387

Reversal of impairment losses BEBEER 375 -

Other gains and losses H s R B8 9 (26,316) 46,980
Change in fair value on BEWE N FEE

investment properties (1,055) 2,796
Change in fair value on financial assets %A F{EFF ABz=

at fair value through profit or loss ([{BAFEFAEZE])

("FVTPL") CHBEENTEE (57,596) (8,920)
Staff cost BTAHA (15,975) (17,123)
Depreciation of property, plant ME - BELRRETE

and equipment (1,975) (2,145)
Other expenses HEmBx 8(b) (57,890) (91,277)
Share of results of an associate DME—HEE R REE (740) -
Finance costs AR AR 10 (34,624) (54,217)
(Loss) profit before tax BREAT (B 1R) & A 11 (60,332) 251,833
Income tax expense T8/ X 12 (24,608) (91,013)
(Loss) profit for the period/year AEE FE (FBE)=A (84,940) 160,820
Other comprehensive Ht 2| (BX) W&

(expense) income
Item that may be reclassified REMEEN P EEBm 2 HAE

subsequently to profit or loss
Exchange differences arising on BEINREREEZERZ5

translation of foreign operations (252,161) 272,949
Total comprehensive (expense) income  AHIRE /FE2ME () WER

for the period/year 4] (337,101) 433,769
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

GEeBEERAEtEZEKREX

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #HZ _—Z— N\F+_-_A=+—HIL @A

Nine months Year
ended ended
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
—E-N\E —T-N\EF
+=—A=+—-H =A=+—H
Eh@EA EFE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
fft FER T
(Loss) profit for the period/year AT ATEIEERE, FE
attributable to (&8 ) A
— Owners of the Company —ARREBA (80,964) 156,326
— Non-controlling interest — RS (3,976) 4,494
(84,940) 160,820
Total comprehensive (expense) income LA N ATELEZE (%)
attributable to: LN R
— Owners of the Company . VNEIEZ= DN (333,623) 426,938
— Non-controlling interests — IR E R (3.478) 6,831
(337,101) 433,769
(LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE BR (F5E)EF
Basic (HK cents) AR (BAL) 15 (1.82) 3.60
Diluted (HK cents) B8 (BAL) 15 (1.82) 3.55
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI R &R

As at 31 December 2018 WR_-_ZE—N\F+_-_A=+—H

At At
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
R-ZB-NE RZIZT-N\F
+=ZB=+—-B =ZRA=+—H
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
ft &% FET FET
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME BERFE 16 8,790 5,327
Investment properties REME 17 3,601,759 3,952,998
Properties under development BRAPYE 18 195,934 180,283
Prepaid lease payments BRNBEERE 18 162,146 177,907
Interests in an associate N—EBE AT 2 #En 19 291,919 -
Deposits paid for properties RERTHEZENES
under development 56,925 78,978
Loan receivables JEWE T 22 125,235 -
Deferred tax assets RILTRIEE E 20 13,096 14,396
4,455,804 4,409,889
Current assets REBEE
Inventories of properties MEFE 21 2,718,588 1,249,179
Contract costs A XA 27 44,170 -
Trade receivables, other receivables FEUNEE SN Hib el B |
and prepayments BRI HIA 23 276,160 1,079,929
Loan receivables JE W B 2 22 - 25,000
Prepaid income tax FERETER 16,676 10,369
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEFABRIMBEE 24 69,006 133,857
Investments held for trading BIEEERE 24 - 125,745
Amounts due from related e R NGIE
companies 39(a) 15 140
Restricted bank deposits TR ERITER 25 575 630
Bank balances and cash RITEREIR S 25 149,056 201,622
3,274,246 2,826,471
Current liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables and accruals & < BR 0 A K2 i JiE ~ 038 K% 8
FERA 26 413,474 242,781
Deposits received for sale of properties gt E M E B WiES - 1,346,389
Contract liabilities aHaE 27 2,421,850 -
Income tax payable JERETER 42,246 57,450
Amounts due to related companies JERT R E D R IE 39(a) 22,644 2,016
Amounts due to non-controlling e FE 1R R 2 5K IR
shareholders of subsidiaries 39(a) 226,550 153,885
Bank borrowings BITER
— due within one year ——F R H 28 136,335 184,623
Bonds payable EfHESH 31 10,707 -
3,273,806 1,987,144
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI R

As at 31 December 2018 R-_ZE—N\F+-A=+—H

At At
31 December 31 March
2018 2018

R=B-NE  H-T-NF
+ZA=+-8 =A=+-F

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
it aE FET FET
Net current assets RBEEFE 440 839,327
Total assets less current liabilities EERERARBER 4,456,244 5,249,216
Capital and reserves EXRREE
Share capital PN 29 44,589 44,589
Reserves [ 3,036,705 3,353,019
Equity attributable to owners ARBIERAEGER
of the Company 3,081,294 3,397,608
Non-controlling interests R R 63,574 38,485
Total equity ERAE 3,144,868 3,436,093
Non-current liabilities F¥RBEE
Bonds payable ErES 31 - 10,339
Deferred tax liabilities EXERIEAR 20 711,136 757,337
Bank borrowings — due after one year ~ $R{T{E & — — & I 28 600,240 1,045,447
1,311,376 1,813,123
4,456,244 5,249,216

The consolidated financial statements on pages 104 to 268 F104E268E 2 ir A MEHREN T — N
were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of FZAZT_BEEseHERKESR

Directors on 22 March 2019 and are signed on its behalf by: T IYHTINEERRESTSS
Guo Jiadi Wang Chao
25 hn g £y
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EF EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEREagBX

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

108

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

KAEREARERE
Share-hased Non-
Share Share compensation ~ Capital ~ Merger ~ Wamrants  Translation Other  Retained controlling
capital  premium TSerVe  feserve  reserve  feserve reserve reserve profits ~ Sub-total  interests Total
HRfrazE B £
Rx ROEER ZBREE HABE  ARERE BF EiRE 26BE REEA N FERER it
HKS000  HKS000 HKS000  HKSO00  HKSOO0  HKSOOO  HKSOO0 - MKSOO0  HKSOO0  HKSOOO  HKSOOD  HKSOOO
Er TEn it TEr AT FEL FEr TEr TEr TEr TEm FEr
(Note |} (Note i) (Note i)
At 1 Apiil 2017 RZE-tERA-A 3464 312411 3302 8837 136886 9260 (U314 1462051 1183352 3,006,350 31,65 3,038,004
Profit for the year RER & - - - - - - - - 19636 156,326 449 160820
Other comprehensive income TEEEbRENR
for the year = = = = = - 210612 - - 210612 2331 11949
Total comprehensive income TERRENEES
for the year - - - - - - 200612 - 1%326 426938 6831 433769
Recogrition of equity-sttled ERRRLRNRAAEE
share-based payments WAIES - - 760 - - - - - - 760 - 760
sue of odnary shares and cash -~ BT RREHZBNTERR
consideration of entites under ReRE(H29)
common control (note 29 &) 8000 211,600 - - (331,040) - - - - (111440 - (11,440
Bxercise of warrant shares
(note 29 (b)) 315 81,13 - - - (9.261) - - - 75,000 - 75,000
A3 Match 2018 usy RS 40 BRI ST IS 13068 368 R4S 38608
Adjustments (note 3) - - - - - - - - 8,766 8,766 461 9201
At 1 April 2018 {restated) NZE-JIEEA-A
(&5)) 44589 605,147 4,062 8837 (94,154) - 27398 1462051 1348444 3406374 B 344530
Loss for the period TEEEER - - - - - - - - [B0%Y)  B0%64 (39T (84%40)
Other comprehensive expense FEREMRERR
for the period - - - - - - (252659 - - (2526%9) 49 (25,161)
Total comprehensive expense rER2ERR S
for the period - - - - - - (252659 - (80964  B333603) (3478 (337,10)
Recogniton of equity-setted BiEREENRNAEEL
share-hased payments i - - 8583 - - - - - - 8543 - 8583
Capital contrbution from Re#hRER T2
non-controlling interest - - - - - - - - - - 28106 28106
At 31 December 2018 W-E-NE+ZAZ1-R 44589 605,147 12,605 8,837 (9a,154) - (25261) 1462051 1,267,480 3,081,204 63574 3,144,868

China Sandi Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2018




Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

REERBBR

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

Notes:

()

(ii)

(iii)

Capital reserve represents deemed contribution from equity
owner regarding to the waiver of loan for funding the
construction of an investment property in 2012.

Merger reserve represents the difference between the share/
registered capital of the combining entities against cash
consideration paid and share consideration issued by the
Company upon completion of business combination under
common control as detailed in note 29 (a).

The other reserve, which is the contributed surplus account of
the Company, represents the difference arising from the share
premium reduction which was being effective and approved by
the Bermuda Registrar of Companies on 11 May 2016. Under
the share premium reduction, entire amount standing to the
credit of the share premium account of the Company as at 29
February 2016 in the sum of approximately HK$3,640,117,000
be reduced, with part of the credit arising therefrom being
applied to offset the accumulated losses of the Company in
the sum of approximately HK$2,178,066,000 in full and the
remaining balance of the credit in the sum of approximately
HK$1,462,051,000 being credited to the other reserve of the
Company.

Fff &t -

(i) EBEXNMFEEEREREAZRIETLIE T
REBR_T—_FRER—AREVE
BEMER-

(ih AHREERBAFTFEERAAMHIE
BESHEBREBORND, AMER
HAEEAHEEBZENBRERELE
BITRMHAREBEZENEE (FBEHRME
29(a)) °

(i HMEE(BERRQRZEHREBE)IER
MaERIEENESR RZE—X FhH
A+—BgEREAFGMERRIIES
Ao AR IR B R AR 19 5 1B - B AN A &) AR D
HREER-_T—RF_A-t+hBz2H
#HRFE493,640,117,0008 0 At EAE 2
ERFIBE D ARBEIRHEA R T 2 BEf
E518492,178,066,000/8 7T * £k T BRFA
491,462,051,0007%8 7T 5T A K A &) H b {7
fHe
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERETMRER

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

Nine months Year
ended ended
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
—E-N\E —ZT-N\F
+=ZA=+—-HB =ZA=+-—H
I AfEA HFE
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FERT FE T
Operating activities REEH
(Loss) profit for the period/year AEEFE (FR) &R (60,332) 251,833
Adjustments for: AR
Finance costs AR 34,624 54,217
Bank interest income WITHEWA (1,777) (695)
Dividend income from listed investments EAREZBRBMA (639) (816)
Interest income from debt securities BB ESFZFBHEA - (1,529)
Repayment from (advance to) EE (BN ERER
loan receivables (20,359) (4,460)
Interest income from financial assets BERATEFAABRZUBEEZ
at FTVPL M EHA - (26,660)
Share of results of an associate LB ENRER 740 -
Depreciation of property, plant ME- -HEREETE
and equipment 1,975 2,177
Impairment loss of inventories of properties  ¥¥EZEREEKRE 709 11,608
Reversal on impairment loss on Hh fE W FIE 2 R BB R R
other receivables (375) -
Share-based payment expense RN ABEEZHAX 8,543 760
Change in fair value on KREWMEZ A TER
investment properties 1,055 (2,796)
Gain on disposal of property, plant HEME HFE R&H 2 Wa
and equipment - (100)
Change in fair value on financial assets BATETSABRE W BEEL
at FVTPL NSSIEE 57,596 8,920
Change in fair value on investments held BEEEREZATEED
for trading - (21,013)
Gain on disposal of investments held HEREEERE 2 W
for trading - (645)
Operating cash flows before movements in & BE S ZEF v KLHERE
working capital 21,760 270,801
Increase in properties under development and ZER ¥ E RMETFEE NN
inventories of properties (1,604,294) (89,189)
Decrease (increase) in trade receivables, other [EUTBE % - E {h JEU R IB R FE (5018
receivables and prepayments A (1) 788,377 (941,956)
Increase (decrease) in trade and other FEBER AR E b e~ 2B N T B A
payables and accruals =2 R ) 98,013 (69,488)
Increase in deposit received for sale FHHEMED IR S E M
of properties - 881,964
Increase in contract costs B BB SE N (32,559) -
Increase in contract liabilities B EEEM 1,219,617 -

1 0 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERTMRER

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

Nine months Year
ended ended
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
—E-N\E ZE-N\F
+=-ZA=+—-H =A=+—H
I AfEA H5E
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Cash generated from operations REREIR S 490,914 52,132
Income taxes paid Frisfe (23,808) (27,671)
Net cash from operating activities RETHABRESFE 467,106 24,461
Investing activities REEH
Bank interest received 2 KF 8 1,777 695
Dividend received from listed investments Bl EmHREZRE 639 816
Interest income received from debt securities 2 U EREE 2 Fl B U - 1,529
Interest income from loan receivables JERERZFBE KA 29,252 9,696
Interest income from financial assets at FVTPL 2 A F{E ABR 2 W HKEEZ
FEHA - 26,660
Repayment from (advance to) loan receivables 1§38 ({1 ) i & 5% 25,000 (25,000)
Advance to third parties BNTYE=F - 271,138
Proceeds from disposal of investments held ~ HEFIEEETRE 7 EKIE
for trading - 60,000
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant HEME BEM&EMEHE
and equipment - 156
Acquisitions of interests in an associate W E N A 2w (235,842) -
Advance to related companies JE B8 A A FUE (579) -
Repayments from related companies BENRIEENE 694 327,333
Purchase of property, plant and equipment ~ EEW% - KE L BE (5,587) (684)
Purchase of investment properties BEREME - (12)
Payments to construction of properties ERERBMEZ AR
under development (17,052) (16,285)
Net cash (used in) from investing RETEE (FTA)MERESFE
activities (201,698) 656,042
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mEBRERER

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #%Z - =

—NEFE+Z_HA=+—HILNEA

Nine months Year
ended ended
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
—E-N\EF —T-N\F
+-ZA=t+—-HB =A=+—H
EAfEA HFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financing activities MEEH
Repayment of bank borrowings BEBETEE (399,734) (574,898)
Additions of bank borrowings EMNETEE - 271,192
Capital contribution from REFERERZTE
non-controlling interest 28,106 -
Acquisition of entities under common control I & £ [ 1% 4| E 2 - (111,440)
Interest paid BEAAFE (44,217) (78,814)
Proceeds from exercise of warrants TR 2 FTS500A - 75,000
Advance from non-controlling shareholders [} /& /2 &) JE 42 j% i 5 24 3%
of subsidiaries 90,650 145,253
Advance from related companies BN Tim 98,152 6,557
Repayments to non-controlling shareholders &3 Fif B 2 7] JE 1% f% I X
of subsidiaries (11,437) -
Repayments to related companies BE@EELNRFE (66,539) (242,948)
Net cash used in financing activities METHMARSFE (305,019) (510,098)
Net (decrease) increase in cash BeRBESZSE (D) EMBEE
and cash equivalents (39,611) 170,405
Cash and cash equivalents at the Y,/ ENzReRBLSE
beginning of period/year 201,622 40,824
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes HNISTE REB) 2 & (12,955) (9,607)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of iR FRCZHEERBRESEE
period/year 149,056 201,622
Analysis of the balance of cash REeRBREZEERIN
and cash equivalents
Bank balance and cash RITEBREIR S 149,056 201,622

1 2 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEBMBRRHME

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

GENERAL

China Sandi Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a
public limited company incorporated in the Bermuda
and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Its parent and
ultimate parent is United Century International Limited
(incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”). The
ultimate controlling party is Mr. Guo Jiadi. The address
of registered office and principal place of business of
the Company are located at Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda and Room 3405, 34th
Floor, China Merchants Tower Shun Tak Centre, 168-200
Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong respectively.

The Company acts as an investment holding company.
The principal activities of its associate and principal
subsidiaries are set out in notes 19 and 40 respectively.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollar (“HK$"), which is the functional
currency of the Company.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

During the current financial period, the reporting
period end date of the Group was changed from 31
March to 31 December because the directors of the
Company determined to bring the annual reporting
period end date of the Group in line with that of the
main business subsidiaries. Accordingly, the consolidated
financial statements for the current period cover the
nine months period from 1 April 2018 to 31 December
2018. The corresponding comparative amounts shown
for the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity, consolidated statement of cash flows
and related notes cover a twelve months period from
1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018 and therefore may not
be comparable with the amounts shown for the current
period.

—RER

PR =HERBERAT ([ARF])
AERBREFMK I ZARAER
nE ERORBEBBERSHHMAE
RAR ([BXA])Em-E8ARQ
A & & #£ & A B BUnited Century
International Limited (A % & & %
BE(RBEXHEESDEFMKILZ
NA)) o EREAEHI T A N ok A e
ARRIZAMBEERETELEH
28 7 k5 B 7 Clarendon House,
2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11,
BermudaX & & T 7 &+ 168-2009%
ERALHEE B AREIME3L05E -

AARAB—HREZER AR - EBE
NAIRTEMBRARZ TEEBKE DR
5 AT FE19 540 °

p=lll3

2EEABmERAET([BT])
2 BREARR 2T -

ERGATERER T EE

RAVHRBAE AEEREHHEE
BB =-A=T—HEXRT-A
=T B DBEARRBEFREAE
AEBZFERE/HEARRTIEER
BHBERRZFEREEERH—
B B NEIE 2 AR B B IS R OB
EB-T-N\FHA-RE-_T—N
FHZA=+—BIENEAHE -4
AFHEGELAEMEEAKER REERE
HEPHR GARERERNMBEBEME
IR AR BRBBEREE —T—+
FUHA—HE-ZT-N\F=A=1+—
B+ = A1E AR BitARpn] &
REAFR AR SRR AR L B
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERR N

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs")

The Group has applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSS issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for
the first time in the current period.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers and the related
Amendments

HK (IFRIC) — Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration

Amendments to Classification and Measurement of

HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment Transactions
Amendments to  Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
HKFRS 4 Instruments with HKFRS 4

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to  As part of the Annual Improvements
HKAS 28 to HKFRSs 2014 — 2016 Cycle

Amendments to  Transfers of Investment Property
HKAS 40

Except as described below, the application of the above
new and amendments to HKFRSs in the current period
has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
performance and positions for the current period and
prior years and/or disclosures set out in the consolidated
financial statements.

1 4 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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F25% (BFIR) DEREE
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F28% (BT K) FRBRBHBREEN
LEEWEL—HD
BEgsES REMEEYR
F40% (BFTK)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEBMBRRHME

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

ERFIE BB RE%EA
(IERAMBHREED ) RE
CHENE )

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 3.
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

3.1 HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with 3.1 BEUKREEREI155 K

Customers

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 for the first time in
the current period. HKFRS 15 superseded HKAS 18
Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the
related interpretations.

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 retrospectively
with the cumulative effect of initially applying
this Standard recognised at the date of initial
application, 1 April 2018. Any difference at the date
of initial application is recognised in the opening
retained profits (or other components of equity, as
appropriate) and comparative information has not
been restated. Furthermore, in accordance with
the transition provisions in HKFRS 15, the Group
has elected to apply the Standard retrospectively
only to contracts that are not completed at 1 April
2018. Accordingly, certain comparative information
may not be comparable as comparative information
was prepared under HKAS 18 Revenue and
HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the related
interpretations.

The Group recognises revenue from the following
major sources which arise from contracts with
customers:

o Property development — development and sale
of properties

o Revenue from leasing of investment properties,
which will continue to be accounted for in
accordance with Hong Kong Accounting
Standard 17 “Leases”, whereas revenue from
the provision of property management and
related services recognised over time will be
accounted for under HKFRS 15.

BEFEHz W

AEERAHEEXERELY
BIELERIF 155 - BEMBIR
SFEAFISHRAET LS
AIE185E [ BB EAE
QISR [#EAH kAR

AEECEYERAEEMBRE
RIS 155% - M EREAZER
ZEFRERAERERER (B
“E-\FHA-H)BER-R
BREMAE R Z EREHEREY)
REhaEH (HEMmEE D (40
A ER TEBIHLEE
Freo b dh - IRIBF B 5] E %
AISE1557 2 BB IR AEED
ERERZENEPRANE
T N\FOA—-BHARTKRZE
HemNLBERDIIREEES
FPERIZE18HE [Wm | BAEE
FPERIENSR [ZEE 4 MR
FRERE SETHHERA
BEMEA LIt -

AEEBRAATKERFEON
T2 W R

s MELR-FERLHEEYD
*

s HERBEWMEWA HE
BERBEEESSENE
175 [FAE ] AR miz ¢t
MEEENRBBERBER—
ER B T HE SR A0 IR A S AR 18
BB ®EERFE155%
N
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERR N

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 3. ERAMAIERMBHREER
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG (IERAMBEHREEAN])RA
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS EHENE D
("HKFRSs") (continued)

3.1 HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with 3.1 BEEANKREERE155 K
Customers (continued) BEEFEHzZWE (&)
The following table summarises the impact of TRPMBEEEBMBREE
transition to HKFRS 15 on retained profits at 1 April A5 — T — \FMA —
2018. HRHEMNOZE-
Impact of
adopting
HKFRS 15
at 1 April 2018
R=B-—N\F
B—BE#H
EBPKRE
R E1555 1
4
Notes HK$'000
Mt # FAT
Retained profits R
Recognition of significant MREABEK D
financing component (c) (1,450)
Recognition of contract costs TERE A A (a) 13,753
Tax effects k-4 (a)/(c) (3,076)
Impact relating to BREERERNTE
non-controlling interests (461)
Impact at 1 April 2018 RZZE-N\FHNA-—BHEE 8,766

1
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEBMBRRHME

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 3. ERHAERNBHREER
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG (BERAMBHREEL])RA
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS CHEYE D)

("HKFRSs") (continued)
3.1 HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with 3.1 EEMBREZEDNFEISH XK
Customers (continued) BEEEHNZWE (&)
The following adjustments were made to the FEMBIRARR _T—\F@m
amounts recognised in the consolidated statement A—B®RZEBEELENATH
of financial position at 1 April 2018. Line items that B - RXEHTEZHEBELTE
were not affected by the changes have not been FEHEA-
included.
Notes: Hfat -
Carrying
amounts Carrying
previously amounts under
reported HKFRS 15
at 31 March at 1 April
2018 Reclassification Remeasurement 2018
RZB-N\& R=B-N&
=ZA=+-H ME-R&EEE
RA2H BHREEA
REH BNAR EfE ESHZEEE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Wit TiEx FET FEL T
CURRENT ASSETS BEAE
Inventories of properties mEFE (0 1,249,179 - 8,843 1,258,022
Contract costs AHHK (@) - - 13,753 13,753
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Deposits received for sale of mEEnELigs
properties (b) 1,346,389 (1,346,389) - -
Contract liabilities AaE b)) - 1,346,389 10,293 1,356,682
CAPITAL AND RESERVES ATl
Reserves i (@) 3,353,019 - 8,766 3,361,785
Non-controlling interests IR ER /o) 38,485 - 461 38,946
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY ERHAE
Deferred tax liabilities ELERBEE @ 757,337 - 3,076 760,413
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERR N

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

3.1 HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a)

The Group incurred incremental commission paid
to property agency in connection with obtaining
sales of properties contracts with customers. These
amounts were previously expensed as incurred.
At the date of initial application of HKFRS 15,
incremental costs of obtaining contracts (net of
deferred tax) of HK$9,799,000 and HK$515,000
have been credited to the retained profits and
the non-controlling interests with corresponding
adjustment of HK$13,753,000 debited to
contract costs. The corresponding tax effect of
HK$3,439,000 has been credited to deferred tax
liabilities.

At the date of initial application of HKFRS
15, deposits received for sale of properties of
HK$1,346,389,000 and the significant financing
component effect of HK$10,293,000 were
reclassified or recognised to contract liabilities, as
appropriate.

Certain property sales contracts of the Group
contain significant financing component after taking
into account the difference between the amount
of promised consideration and the cash selling
price of the property; and the combined effect of
the expected length of time between the Group
transferring the property to the customer and the
customer paying for the property and the prevailing
interest rates in the relevant market.

1 8 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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3.

ERFIE BB RE%EA
(IERAMBHREER ) RE
CHENE )

3.1 BERMBHREERFISH XK
BEFEN WS (&)
fitzt: (4&)

(a)

AEEEATESERYEE
EAHMAMEREINZIE
BAE ZESHEELANCRE
AR HE - RERERESY
R EERE155E B o B
B2 EIMAEAR (NBRIEER
16 ) 9,799,0005% 7T %515,000
LB R ARE i R IEEAR
#E % 0 AH FE F8%813,753,00078
TEHWERAERKAE S -8
JE i TE 5 %£3,439,000/8 T E
WRABREHEAEER -

RE XA SNBSS %R
FISHER  BEEWED K
1% 41,346,389,00075 T &2 &
REbE KD 5210,293,00078
TEEHHEREFERAE
HEFE (mEma) -

RET AR B REYER
CEBZER URKEEE
MEERTEPEXPIYME
[z Fast s AR E M ARRA T
BRITNEZGATE K&
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEBMBRRHME

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

3.1 HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(0)

(continued)

The Group recognised the interest expense only to
the extent that a contract liability (deposits received
for sale of properties) is recognised in accounting
for the contract with the customers and adjusted
the promised amount of consideration by using a
discount rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction between the Group and the
customer reflecting the credit characteristics of the
Group. At the date of initial application, finance
costs eligible for capitalisation of HK$8,843,000
has been debited to inventories of properties.
Finance costs not eligible for capitalisation (net of
deferred tax) of HK$1,033,000 and HK$54,000
have been debited to the retained profits and
the non-controlling interests, respectively, with
corresponding adjustment of HK$10,293,000
credited to contract liabilities. The corresponding
tax effect of HK$363,000 has been recognised as
deferred tax assets.

The following table summarise the impacts of
applying HKFRS 15 on the Group's consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December
2018 and its consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the current period for
each of the line items affected. Line items that
were not affected by the changes have not been
included.

ERFIE BB RE%EA
(IERAMBHREED ) RE
CHENE )

3.1 BRMBEREEAFISHE XK
BEFEHN WS (&)
fiat: (4)

(© (#&)

REBEERAGHAE (B
EMEBREZS)ERFLEY
ARERE T SERT B
X A0 A A I R A A £ B £
BEEPrzHRABMEEREFE
S BMERZR S 28
BERABEHERESE -RE
REFABE ABERIEERKL
2 81 7% B 758,843,000 T B
W AMEFEET -TEE&
BIEBAMb 2 BTSN (H1BR
JEFEFLTE ) 1,033,000 7T &
54,000/ 75 Bl B (R & ) &
JEERERIR  AEAES
810,293,000 Lit AA KB
& o A FE T TH 52 2363,00075
TERRABREHRBEE-

TR EREEUBRELE
AFISHUAEBMA T\
FHZR=1T—HZREHH
eI SN A=k =
B REMEERERMFEER
ERERBEITEBAZE
2 - RXEFPFTEZBELT
BREA-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERR N

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 3.
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

3.1 HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with

ERFIE BB RE%EA
(IERAMBHREER ) RE
CHENE )

3.1 BERMBHREERFISH XK

1

Customers (continued) BEEFEHzZWE (&)
Impact on the consolidated statement of HR=_E-N\E+=ZHA=+—H
financial position as at 31 December 2018 ZIEREMBRRRZE
Amounts
without
As application of
reported Reclassification Remeasurement HKFRS 15
TEREANE
HEREH155
BE2H ENDE ENE A ]
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FET FET FETL
CURRENT ASSETS MBEE
Inventories of properties NEREE 2,718,588 - (87,692) 2,630,896
Contract costs AU 44,170 - (44,170) -
CURRENT LIABILITIES nHAaE
Deposits received for sale REEMEC KRS
of properties - 2,332,983 - 2,332,983
Contract liabilities ANBRE 2,421,850 (2,332,983) (88,867) -
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BRARGEE
Reserves i 3,036,705 - (30,633) 3,006,072
Non-controlling interests RS 63,574 - (1,612) 61,962
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY FnBEE
Deferred tax liabilities EEREER 711,136 - (10,750) 700,386

20 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEBMBRRHME

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 3. ERAHIBEBMBERETER
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG (BEEMBREERNRHE
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS CHENE D)

("HKFRSs") (continued)

3.1 HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with 3.1 BEUKREEREI155 K
Customers (continued) BEEFEHZWE (&)
Impact on the consolidated statement of profit HWEBZE-_ZE—N\E+=-H=+—
or loss and other comprehensive income for the BLENEAZGERERHEME
nine months ended 31 December 2018 HEER2EE

Amounts

without

As application of

reported Reclassification Remeasurement HKFRS 15

TERESR

B R A

REH ENDE ENE  BISHCEHE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FETL FETL FEL FEL

Revenue Yo 149,836 - (450) 149,386
Other expenses 2ty (57,890) - (31,637) (89,527)
Finance costs AR (34,624) - 303 (34,321)
Loss before tax B AIER (60,332) - (31,784) (92,116)
Income tax expense FEREY (24,608) - 7,946 (16,662)
Loss for the period KHEER (84,940) - (23,838) (108,778)

Total comprehensive expense THRZERX LR
for the period (337,101) - (23,838) (360,939)

Loss for the period attributable to b T A+ E{E EREIE :

- Owners of the Company o YNCIE Y= (80,964) - (22,646) (103,610)
- Non-controlling interest — S (3,976) - (1,192) (5,168)
(84,940) - (23,838) (108,778)

Total comprehensive expense ATATEGE2ERYBE:

attributable to:
— Owners of the Company ~KRAEBA (333,623) - (22,646) (356,269)
- Non-controlling interests — S (3,478) - (1,192) (4,670)

(337,101) - (23,838) (360,939)

20185 1 2 1

HE S BERERA T
h
-/



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERR N

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 3. ERAMAIERMBHREER
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG (BB BHREEA ] RHE
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS EHENE D
("HKFRSs") (continued)

3.1 HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with 3.1 EBMKHREEREISHE XK
Customers (continued) BEEFE82WE (&)
Impact on the consolidated statement of cash HWEBZE-_ZE—N\E+=-H=+—
flows for nine months ended 31 December BithEBRzEZEeEBEREMSD
2018 AR ZEE

Amounts
without
As application of
reported Adjustments HKFRS 15
TERE®E
B i 3R & 2 Al
BRE® AE FI1I5SKzeH
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Operating activities ReEEH
Loss before tax & F54 Al 5 18 (60,332) (31,784) (92,116)
Adjustments for: FHE
Increase in properties BRPMERDE
under development FEE
and inventories of
properties (1,604,294) 81,954 (1,522,340)
Increase in deposit MIHEWHEE Wize
received for sale 188 7]
of properties 1,138,125 1,138,125
Increase in contract costs & &) Ak AN 38 0 (32,559) 32,559 -
Increase in A% B EE N
contract liabilities 1,219,617 (1,219,617) -

1 22 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018 . ;



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEBMBRRHME

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 3. ERAFIIETBMBHREESR
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG ([BEEMBEREEN])RE
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS EET 2 (&)

("HKFRSs") (continued)
3.2 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments 3.2 EARAUBBREERNFFEER
TH

In the current period, the Group has applied
HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” and the related
consequential amendments to other HKFRSs.
HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for (i) the
classification and measurement of financial assets
and financial liabilities, (i) expected credit losses
("ECL") for financial assets and other items (for
example, contract assets and lease receivables) and
(iii) general hedge accounting.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance
with the transition provisions set out in HKFRS 9.
i.e. applied the classification and measurement
requirements (including impairment under ECL
model) retrospectively to instruments that have not
been derecognised as at 1 April 2018 (date of initial
application) and has not applied the requirements
to instruments that have already been derecognised
as at 1 April 2018. The difference between carrying
amounts as at 31 March 2018 and the carrying
amounts as at 1 April 2018 are recognised in
the opening retained profits, without restating
comparative information.

Accordingly, certain comparative information may
not be comparable as comparative information was
prepared under HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement.

Accounting policies resulting from application of
HKFRS 9 as disclosed in note 4.

RAHE AEEERBELHM
BREENFSR (2R THE] &
Hip &8 58S R 8 RIAE
FEER] - B AW WS ERF
oI ABRB TSR ZHRE
MW BEERMBRBNH DR
K& QMBEEREMEAR
(Bl & 0B ENMEWHER
RIZEHMEERX([BHE
EBXDERQ)—RE PG
o

AEBEERBEEEV B MESR
RSB 95 ek 2 s@IR M RS E
BT HmEERIE5 - AH
R-ZZE-N\FHA—B (BEKXE
B HARRIEFERH T AR
BEBOIBLAERE (B
BME) BRBER -_ZT—N\F
MA—-—HE&RITERZTA
ERZERE - _ZE—N\FE=A
=t AMNEEEE-—T-N\F
MA—BZEREZHzZER
M REtm MR #ERR > M | E
SR B LLEE KL o

MR LLRE R IRIEE S g%
BIEE39%% [© 5t T A : tE:R N5t
F/HFE BAETHRERA
BETNABLL M-

ERE BT BRELERNEIRE
EZ BRI BERHIE4
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERR N

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

3.2 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

3.2.1 Summary of effects arising from initial
application of HKFRS 9

The table below illustrates the classification
and measurement of financial assets and
financial liabilities under HKFRS 9 and HKAS
39 at the date of initial application, 1 April

3. ERHIEBHBEHREER
(IERAMBHREER ) RE
CHENE )

32 ERMBRELENFREH

TA(#E)

321 BREREBHMBRE

BAIFEIRELZZEY

=z
2=

TRHIPREREARE B
(M —Z—-NFMA—H)
RIBBRABM B RE LR
S M E B G ETERIE395

2018. EHTIUNBEERTFAEG
ZHERETE
Original Additional New
carrying Fair value loss allowance carrying
Original measurement  New measurement amount remeasurement recognised amount
category category under under under under under
under HKAS 39 HKFRS 9 HKAS 39 HKFRS 9 Reclassification HKFRS 9 HKFRS 9
REZENER
REBEHEN RERMBHE EENZORR RERHERE
RERGHENEONRE RERGIEAZR #3082 EREEY AZENERR  REE% 2N
HEE i) FEAE ATEENTE ENAE f EEE
HKS'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000
TET TET FET T FET
Investments held ~ Investment held Financial assets 125,745 - (125,745) - -
for trading for trading at FvTpL
REBERE REBERE BATERABEL
Financial assets Financial assets Financial assets 133,857 - (8,112 - 125,745
at FVTPL at FVTPL at FVTPL
BLVEHABE. RATEFABE:.  BOTEHABGZ
HHAE HHEE HBEE
Loan receivables  Loans and receivables Financial assets 25,000 - 133,857 - 158,857
at amortise cost at amortise cost
EUER REERAHEL REERAHEL
Trade and other Loans and receivables Financial assets 23,615 - - - 23,615
receivables at amortise cost at amortise cost
U REMEYR REERAGHEL RERA TR
B S RENE HBEE

24 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEBMBRRHME

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

3.2 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

3.2.1 Summary of effects arising from initial
application of HKFRS 9 (continued)

3. ERFRIEEMBREER

([EEMBREEA | RE
CHEE )]

32 BEARAVBREENFIRESA
THR(#E)

321 BREREBHMBERE

BERESRELZZER

Z (&)
Original Additional New
carrying Fair value loss allowance carrying
Original measurement ~ New measurement amount  remeasurement recognised amount
category category under under under under under
under HKAS 39 HKFRS 9 HKAS 39 HKFRS 9 Reclassification HKFRS 9 HKFRS 9
REZREES
RERSIEN RERNERS ERASGER RERNERS
REREHENENRE RERSHEALE 082 B AZBNERR  RNEEK
FEER EHEL Y REEE ATEENE ENTR fs BEE
HK$ 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
AT AT AT AT AT
Amounts due Loans and receivables Financial assets 140 - - - 140
from related at amortise cost at amortise cost
companies
BUBELANE REENAHEL REBIAHEL
Restricted Loans and receivables Financial assets 630 - - - 630
bank deposits at amortise cost at amortise cost
RRHHOER  REEARGEL REERAGHEZ
SR RENTE HhEE
Bank balances Loans and receivables Financial assets 201,622 - - - 201,622
and cash at amortise cost at amortise cost
BOERRAE  REERAHEL REBIAHEL
g3 RN HHEE
Trade and other Financial liabilities Financial liabilities 221,951 - - - 221,951
payables at amortised cost at amortised cost
EREIRABEN REERAGHEL REERAGEZ
B Akak HHERE
Amounts dueto  Financial liabilities Financial liabilities 2,016 - - - 2,016
related companies  at amortised cost at amortised cost
ERNBEAANE REERAHEL REBIAHEL
ikak H%aRE

20185 1 2 5

HE S BERERA T
h
-/



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERR N

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 3. ERAHIEBMBERETER
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG (BEEMBREENRHE
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS CHENE )

("HKFRSs") (continued)
3.2 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued) 3.2 EARAMKBREEAFESE S
TR(#Z)
3.2.1 Summary of effects arising from initial 321 BRERE BB ®RE
application of HKFRS 9 (continued) ERIEIRELEZZEH
Z (&)
Original Additional New
carrying Fair value loss allowance carrying
Original measurement  New measurement amount remeasurement recognised amount
category category under under under under under
under HKAS 39 HKFRS 9 HKAS 39 HKFRS 9 Reclassification HKFRS 9 HKFRS 9
REZERER
RERETEN REAMERS ERASORE REENEHE
REBGHENSNE RERLHENEE #3958 EHEZ AZENERR  REEO% 2
iTEEH fat B R RREE AYEENHE ENTE f EEE

HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
TEL TEL T TEL T

Amountsdueto  Financial liabilities Financial liabilities 153,885 - - - 153,885
non-controlling at amortised cost at amortised cost
shareholders of
subsidiaries
ERMBAAEAE REBRAGHEL REERAHEL
RRHE ikak HEBE
Bank borrowings  Financial liabilities Financial liabilities 1,230,070 - - - 1,230,070
at amortised cost at amortised cost
Rl REENRHEL RERA TR
IBER HBEE
Bonds payable Financial liabilties Financial liabilties 10,339 - - - 10,339
at amortised cost at amortised cost
EfiE5 REERAHEL REERAHEL
ihak HHEE
Note: The amount of the additional impairment Bisr: MELREBRZEB
loss allowance upon the initial application of TR EOTE Y
HKFRS 9 was insignificant to the consolidated B AN R
financial statements of the Group. SRHEUNAEFHBZ
REMBHREME
WAEK-
There were no financial liabilities which the WHEANEBLAIEESE

Group had previously measured at amortised
cost under HKAS 39 that were subject to
reclassification, or which the Group has
elected to reclassify upon the application of
HKFRS 9.

1 26 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018 . ;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEBMBRRHME

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZE— N\F+_-_A=+—HI-NEA

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 3. EAHFFIIETBUBEHREER
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG ([BEAMBEREERD|)RE
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS CHENE D)

("HKFRSs") (continued)

3.3 Impact on opening consolidated statement 3.3

FE R E #EAH B OGRS B

of financial position arising from the BRRKRZEE
application of all new standards
As a result of the changes in the Group’s accounting BN XA AR E g B
policies above, the opening consolidated statement 28 AHIHYGEMBIRR
of financial position had to be restated. The Ko TRETHZENXZEER
following table show the adjustments recognised AR HAE RXEHTEL
for each of the line items affected. Line items that HEARBEEA-
were not affected by the changes have not been
included.
31 March
2018 HKFRS 15 HKFRS 9 1 April 2018
E-N\E ERUBRE BRuE “3-0\%
ZR=1-H RHZ 5% HEERER mA-H
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FA&T FAL FET FET
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories of properties MERE 1,249,179 8,843 - 1,258,022
Contract costs SNRA - 13,753 - 13,753
Loan receivables JEES 25,000 - 133,857 158,857
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEFANBH M BEE 133,857 - (8,112) 125,745
Investments held for trading BIEEERE 125,745 - (125,745) -
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBAE
Deposits received for sale REENEC MRS
of properties 1,346,389 (1,346,389) - -
Contract liabilities AaNaE - 1,356,682 - 1,356,682
CAPITAL AND RESERVES RAERERE
Reserves G 3,353,019 8,766 - 3,361,785
Non-controlling interests FiEER 38,485 461 - 38,946
TOTAL EQUITY BiEn 3,436,093 9,227 - 3,445,320
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIY FRBEE
Deferred tax liabilities EEHBEE 757,337 3,076 - 760,413
Note: For the purposes of reporting cash flows from KieE: AEREER EEREE =
operating activities under indirect method for the Z—-NFE+-_A=+—HIt
period ended 31 December 2018, movements in SR EENE SR
working capital have been computed based on - gLﬁA“@JTbﬁTﬁiY
opening statement of financial position as at 1 April EENEE-Z—/\FHEA

— BRI AR H -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERR N

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 3. ERMITERYBHREER
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG (BERAMBHREEL])RE
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS CHEE )

("HKFRSs") (continued)

3.3 Impact on opening consolidated statement
of financial position arising from the
application of all new standards (continued)

3.3 ERMEHENNRANGES M
BRRKRZHE (&)

REE W EITR ML TER M
BRRERZ B EW RS
RER R BAERT AN -

The Group has not early applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 16 Leases' BRNBREEN HE
E16%
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts? EAMBREEE  RBRAL?
F175%
HK (IFRIC) — Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax B (ERBBRE: AEREE R
Treatments' BZEg) -2E Tt
£23%

Amendments to Definition of Business*

1

BRMHREER

XBOER

HKFRS 3 #3% (B A)
Amendments to  Prepayment Features with ERUBREEN  ATEERNZ
HKFRS 9 Negative Compensation’ £9% (BFIF) B
Amendments to  Sale or Contribution of Assets EANRREE REZRHYE
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its BIE10% 1 RAKAE
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture? BEAQHER RAIZAMEE
EVACHES) HERTE
Amendments to  Definition of Material® EASHENFIRR EANESS

HKAS 1 and BReERFSH
HKAS 8 (BFIK)
Amendments to  Plan Amendment, Curtailment Bh e LS BEICHREE
HKAS 19 or Settlement! 195 (BTK) EE
Amendments to  Long-term Interests AL ER HAHa % Ak
HKAS 28 in Associates £28% (B31K) NAEZH
and Joint Ventures' E,Hmfééﬁé*
Amendments Annual Improvements to BANBREEN —T-0%ZE
to HKFRSs HKFRSs 2015 — 2017 Cycle’ (3 %) “T-LFAN
BENBREE
ElEoEIepyid

28 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEBMBRRHME

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

3.3 Impact on opening consolidated statement
of financial position arising from the
application of all new standards (continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective: (continued)

1

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

ERFIE BB RE%EA
(IERAMBHREED ) RE
CHENE )

33 ERMEHEAHBNES M
BRRKRZHE (&)

AREEYW ERFEMAATERM
BRARERZ T BAW B RE
BH R EABRTA: (&)

1

RZT-AF-A—Rzkzi

January 2019. Filba 2 G [ AR A ke
’ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 2 RZEZ—F—-A—R=sziz
January 2021. Filba 2 & 5 HARE A ke

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a
date to be determined.

Effective for business combination for which the
acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the
first annual period beginning on or after 1 January
2020.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2020.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs
mentioned below, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of all other new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the

REERMHZRFEBZFE
AR AR
ERNKBERAMAR—_T_FF
—A-R¥®Z RN EESF
EHMREE B BETH
EBadte
R-T_FF-A—RAzkzi
PR FE R ER -

B Nt 2 #TR] MAEHERT & B
MBHRELRIN KRBEEE
HiFE M P ELA R A ] MRIERT &
78 W 15 2 IR AT R R A
SHHRAMBBRRELERY

foreseeable future. 2o

20185 1 29

HE S BERERA T
h
-/



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERR N

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 3. EAFFIEATKREER
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG (EBMBREED ) RE
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS CHENE )

("HKFRSs") (continued)

3.3 Impact on opening consolidated statement

3.3 ERMEHENNRANGES M

1

of financial position arising from the
application of all new standards (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting
treatments for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16
will supersede HKAS 17 Leases and the related
interpretations when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts
on the basis of whether an identified asset is
controlled by a customer. In addition, HKFRS 16
requires sales and leaseback transactions to be
determined based on the requirements of HKFRS
15 as to whether the transfer of the relevant asset
should be accounted as a sale. HKFRS 16 also
includes requirements relating to subleases and
lease modifications.

Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases
are removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced
by a model where a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability have to be recognised for all
leases by lessees, except for short-term leases and
leases of low value assets.

30 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEBMBRRHME

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 3. ERHITEBUKEREER
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG ([BEAMEREED|)RHE
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS CHEE )]

("HKFRSs") (continued)
3.3 Impact on opening consolidated statement 3.3 ERFEHENEBANESH

of financial position arising from the
application of all new standards (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

The right-of-use asset is initially measured
at cost and subsequently measured at cost
(subject to certain exceptions) less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for
any remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease
liability is initially measured at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at that
date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted
for interest and lease payments, as well as the
impact of lease modifications, amongst others.
For the classification of cash flows, the Group
currently presents upfront prepaid lease payments
as investing cash flows in relation to leasehold lands
for owned use and those classified as investment
properties while other operating lease payments are
presented as operating cash flows. Upon application
of HKFRS 16, lease payments in relation to lease
liability will be allocated into a principal and an
interest portion which will be presented as financing
cash flows by the Group. Upfront prepaid lease
payments will continue to be presented as investing
or operating cash flows in accordance to the nature,
as appropriate.

Under HKAS 17, the Group has already recognised
prepaid lease payments for leasehold lands where the
Group is a lessee. The application of HKFRS 16 may
result in potential changes in classification of these
assets depending on whether the Group presents
right-of-use assets separately or within the same line
item at which the corresponding underlying assets
would be presented if they were owned.

Other than certain requirements which are also
applicable to lessor, HKFRS 16 substantially carries
forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS
17, and continues to require a lessor to classify a
lease either as an operating lease or a finance lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 3. EAFFIEATKREER
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG (EBMBREED ) RE
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS CHENE )

("HKFRSs") (continued)

3.3 Impact on opening consolidated statement

3.3 ERMEHENNRANGES M

1

of financial position arising from the
application of all new standards (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by
HKFRS 16.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has non-
cancellable operating lease commitments of
HK$788,000 as disclosed in note 36. A preliminary
assessment indicates that these arrangements will
meet the definition of a lease. Upon application
of HKFRS 16, the Group will recognise a right-of-
use asset and a corresponding liability in respect of
all these leases unless they qualify for low value or
short-term leases.

In addition, the Group currently considers
refundable rental deposits paid of HK$510,000
and refundable rental deposits received of
HK$23,413,000 as rights and obligations under
leases to which HKAS 17 applies. Based on the
definition of lease payments under HKFRS 16, such
deposits are not payments relating to the right to
use the underlying assets, accordingly, the carrying
amounts of such deposits may be adjusted to
amortised cost. Adjustments to refundable rental
deposits paid would be considered as additional
lease payments and included in the carrying amount
of right-of-use assets. Adjustments to refundable
rental deposits received would be considered as
advance lease payments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 3. ERHITEBUKEREER
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG ([BEAMEREED|)RHE
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS EET 2 (&)

("HKFRSs") (continued)
3.3 Impact on opening consolidated statement 33 ERAMEHERHBNGESH

of financial position arising from the
application of all new standards (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

The application of new requirements may result
in changes in measurement, presentation and
disclosure as indicated above. The Group intends
to elect the practical expedient to apply HKFRS
16 to contracts that were previously identified as
leases applying HKAS 17 and HK (IFRIC) — Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a
Lease and not apply this standard to contracts that
were not previously identified as containing a lease
applying HKAS 17 and HK (IFRIC) — Int 4. Therefore,
the Group will not reassess whether the contracts
are, or contain a lease which already existed prior
to the date of initial application. Furthermore, the
Group intends to elect the modified retrospective
approach for the application of HKFRS 16 as
lessee and will recognise the cumulative effect of
initial application to opening without restating
comparative information.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
Definition of Material

The amendments provide refinements to the
definition of material by including additional
guidance and explanations in making materiality
judgements. The amendments also align the
definition across all HKFRSs and will be mandatorily
effective for the Group's annual period beginning
on 1 January 2020. The application of the
amendments is not expected to have significant
impact on the financial position and performance
of the Group but may affect the presentation and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, FESTTHEE

1

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
properties and financial instruments that are measured
at fair values at the end of the reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would
take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in the
consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based payment”,
leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKAS 17
“Leases”, and measurements that have some similarities
to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable
value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36
“Impairment of Assets”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 &% —

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

J Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

J Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

The principal accounting policies adopted are set out
below:

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved where the Company:

. has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

J has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4, FESTTHEE (8)

1

POLICIES (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the period/year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date of the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Merger accounting for business combination involving

businesses under common control

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements items of the combining businesses in
which the common control combination occurs as if they
had been combined from the date when the combining
businesses first came under the control of the controlling

party.

The net assets of the combining businesses are
consolidated using the existing book values from the
controlling party’s perspective. No amount is recognised
in respect of goodwill or bargain purchase gain at the
time of common control combination.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #; %

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Merger accounting for business combination involving

businesses under common control (continued)

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income includes the results of each of the
combining businesses from the earliest date presented
or since the date when the combining businesses first
came under the common control, where this is a shorter
period.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial
statements are presented as if the businesses had been
combined at the end of the previous reporting period or
when they first came under common control, whichever
is shorter.

Investments in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate are
incorporated in the consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associate used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies
as those of the Group for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate. Changes in net assets of the associate other
than profit or loss and other comprehensive income
are not accounted for unless such changes resulted in
changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When
the Group’s share of losses of a an associate equals or
exceeds its interest in that associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of
the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments in an associate (continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment
in an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately
in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is
acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with
its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases

38 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments in an associate (continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over
an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an
interest in the former associate and the retained interest
is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9/HKAS
39, the Group measures the retained interest at fair
value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its
fair value on initial recognition. The difference between
the carrying amount of the associate at the date the
equity method was discontinued, and the fair value of
any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing
the relevant interest in the associate is included in the
determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the
associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that associate on the same basis as would
be required if that associate had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income by
that associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on
the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss
(as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal or partial
disposal of the relevant associate.
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments in an associate (continued)

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes
an investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement
to fair value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the
proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to
that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of
the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate, profits
and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition (under HKFRS 15 for nine months

FESTHE (#)

REERA 2 RE (%)

period ended 31 December 2018)

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied. i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to customers.

A performance obligation represents a good and service
(for a bundle of goods and services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (under HKFRS 15 for nine months
period ended 31 December 2018) (continued)

Control the distinct goods or services may be transferred
over time or at a point in time.

Control the distinct goods or services is transferred over
time if:

J the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

e the Group's performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

J the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

If control of distinct goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the distinct goods or services.

For sales of properties (i.e. revenue is recognised when
the customer obtains the control of the completed
property when the key was delivered to the buyers),
and the Group has present right to payment and the
collection of the consideration is probable. The deposit
received for sale of properties are presented as contract
liabilities on the consolidated statements of financial
position.

For provision of property management and related
services the Group agrees the fixed rate for services with
the customers upfront. As the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group's performance, the revenue is recognised over time
when the performance obligations are satisfied. Payment
of the transaction is due immediately when performance
obligations are satisfied.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERR N

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (under HKFRS 15 for nine months

period ended 31 December 2018) (continued)

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts
the promised amount of consideration for the effects of
the time value of money if the timing of payments agreed
(either explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer
or the Group with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer. In
those circumstances, the contract contains a significant
financing component. A significant financing component
may exist regardless of whether the promise of financing
is explicitly stated in the contract or implied by the
payment terms agreed to by the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and
transfer of the associated goods or services is less than
one year, the Group applies the practical expedient of
not adjusting the transaction price for any significant
financing component.

For advance payments received from customers before
the transfer of the associated goods or services in
which the Group adjusts for the promised amount of
consideration for a significant financing component, the
Group applies a discount rate that would be reflected
in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. The relevant
interest expenses during the period between the
advance payments were received and the transfer of the
associated goods and services arc accounted for on the
same basis as other borrowing costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 &% —

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (under HKFRS 15 for nine months
period ended 31 December 2018) (continued)

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those
costs that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a
customer that it would not have incurred if the contract
had not been obtained.

The Group recognises sales commissions as an asset if it
expects to recover these costs. The asset so recognised is
subsequently charged to profit or loss that is consistent
with the transfer to the customer of the goods or
services to which the assets relate. The asset is subject to
impairment review.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing
all incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs
would otherwise have been fully charged to profit or loss
within one year.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of
progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of
direct measurements of the value of the goods or services
transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining goods or services promised under the contract,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERR N

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (under HKFRS 15 for nine months

period ended 31 December 2018) (continued)

Incremental costs of obtaining a
contract) (continued)

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration. i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer. Deposit and
prepayments are typically received from purchasers in
advance of revenue recognition and they are presented as
contract liabilities under current liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEBMBRRHME

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (under HKAS 18 for the year ended

31 March 2018)

Revenue from sale of properties in the ordinary course of
business is recognised upon delivery of the properties to
the buyers. at which time all of the following criteria are
satisfied:

o the Group has transferred to the buyer the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the
goods;

e the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

° the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

e it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the transaction will flow to the Group; and

o the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

Deposit received from purchasers prior to meeting the
above criteria for revenue recognition are included in
the consolidated statement of financial position under
current liabilities.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when
it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to
the Group and the amount of income can be measured
reliably. Interest income from a financial asset is accrued
on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to
that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERR N

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services or for
administration purposes are stated at cost less any
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets (other than buildings under development) less their
residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit
or loss.

Properties under development

Properties under development are carried in the
consolidated financial statements at cost less any
identified impairment loss. Cost of properties under
development includes, where appropriate, relevant
development costs and borrowing cost capitalised.
No depreciation is provided for properties under
development. On completion, properties under
development are transferred at the carrying value to
property, plant and equipment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 &% —

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Buildings under development for future owner-occupied

mEBMBRRHME

E-NF+_A=+—HILNEHA

4. FESTTEE (&)

ERPEFTHAKEFAD

purpose
When buildings are in the course of development

for production or for administrative purposes, the
amortisation of prepaid lease payments provided
during the construction period is included as part of
costs of buildings under construction. Buildings under
construction are carried at cost, less any identified
impairment losses. Depreciation of buildings commences
when they are available for use (i.e. when they are in the
location and condition necessary for them to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by management).

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation. Investment
properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their
fair values. All of the Group’s property interests held
under operating leases to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation purposes are classified and accounted for
as investment properties and are measured using the fair
value model. Gains or losses arising from changes in the
fair value of investment property are included in profit or
loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits
are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in the profit or
loss in the period/year in which the item is derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERR N

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified
as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease.

In the event that lease incentives, including rent free
periods, are given to enter into operating leases, such
incentives are recognised as deferred rent receivables.
The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a
reduction of rental income on a straight-line basis.

Leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for a property
interest which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the Group assesses the classification of each
element separately based on the assessment as to
whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of each element have been transferred
to the Group, unless it is clear that both elements are
operating leases in which case the entire property is
accounted for as an operating lease. Specifically, the
entire consideration (including any lump-sum upfront
payments) are allocated between the leasehold land and
the building elements in proportion to the relative fair
values of the leasehold interests in the land element and
building element at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that
is accounted for as an operating lease is presented as
“prepaid lease payments” in the consolidated statement
of financial position and is amortised over the lease
term on a straight-line basis except for those that are
classified and accounted for as investment properties
under the fair value model. When the lease payments
cannot be allocated reliably between the leasehold land
and building elements, the entire property is generally
classified as if the leasehold land is under finance lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEBMBRRHME

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Inventories of properties

Properties under development for sale and completed
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Net realisable value takes into
account the price ultimately expected to be realised less
anticipated selling expenses and cost to completion, if
applicable.

The cost of properties under development for sale
comprises land costs, construction costs, borrowing cost
capitalised according to the Group’s accounting policy
and directly attributable expenses incurred during the
development period. On completion, the properties are
transferred to completed properties held for sale.

Inventories of properties is transferred at fair value to
investment properties upon the inception of a lease as
evidence for a change in use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERR N

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivable
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 since 1 April
2018. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities are added to or deducted from the
fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised in profit or
loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset
or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEBMBRRHME

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in
accordance with transitions in note 3)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

J the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling; and

J the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application/
initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair
value of an equity investment in Other Comprehensive
Income (“OCI"”) if that equity investment is neither held
for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by
an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
Business Combinations applies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERR N

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. FESFBER (@)

POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued) TRTA (&)

Financial assets (continued) MBEE (&)

Classification and subsequent measurement of BB EESHENEETE (RN

financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in T30 48 JE FE & B B 7S R & 2E Al

accordance with transitions in note 3) (continued) EoE) (45)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if: FHEEERTIER T BEAFER

5

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of o WHEMTEBEMANGHELE
selling in the near term; or A%

e on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of o PR EKAEESHE
identified financial instruments that the Group BHEHER ST AEMAAN—I
manages together and has a recent actual pattern o W B FREE RS BERE
of short-term profit-taking; or W19

e itis a derivative that is not designated and effective . BRI TERASEAL R T A
as a hedging instrument. THETHET B

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a It N > 7K E2 B R RN AT R M S — TB 2B

financial asset that are required to be measured at the IS AN eI AR AT ES AR

amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at fair value MEEWRIT SN EEELRAFE
through profit or loss (“FVTPL") if doing so eliminates or HAEZI ([BEAFEESTAERE]E
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch. E IR AEBIE T YR ARER

LEI R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEBMBRRHME
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 &% —

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in
accordance with transitions in note 3) (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. For financial
instruments other than purchased or originated
credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired. For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit
risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The
net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes
any dividend or interest earned on the financial
asset and is included in the “other gains and losses”
line item.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERR N

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS
9 with transitions in accordance with note 3)

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECL") on financial assets which are subject to
impairment under HKFRS 9 (including loan receivables,
trade and other receivables, amounts due from related
companies, restricted bank deposits and bank balances
and cash). The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables without significant financing component. The
ECL on these assets are assessed individually for debtors
with significant balances and/or collectively using a
provision matrix with appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEBMBRRHME

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS
9 with transitions in accordance with note 3) (continued)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instruments as at the date
of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative and quantitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’'s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk for a particular
financial instrument, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap
prices for the debtor, or the length of time or
the extent which the fair value of a financial
asset has been less than its amortised cost;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERR N

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS
9 with transitions in accordance with note 3) (continued)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

e existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;
significant increases in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the same debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk on a financial asset has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEBMBRRHME

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS
9 with transitions in accordance with note 3) (continued)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition if
the financial instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if
i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default,
ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term
and iii) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The
Group considers a financial asset to have low credit
risk when it has an internal or external credit rating
of ‘investment grade’ as per globally understood
definition.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that
the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable
commitments is considered to be the date of initial
recognition for the purposes of assessing the
financial instrument for impairment. In assessing
whether there has been a significant increase in
the credit risk since initial recognition of financial
guarantee contracts, the Group considers the
changes in the risk that the specified debtor will
default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in credit risk
before the amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERR N

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS
9 with transitions in accordance with note 3) (continued)

(i)  Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group
considers that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.

(iii)  Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset have occurred. Evidence of credit-impairment
includes observable data about the following
events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the borrower
or issuer;

(b) a breach of contract such as a default or past
due event;

(c) the lender of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession that the lender would
not otherwise consider;

(d) the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties; or

(e) the purchase of a financial asset at a deep
discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEBMBRRHME

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS

9 with transitions in accordance with note 3) (continued)

(iv)  Write-off policy
The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is
in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate.
Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECLs

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
original effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERR N

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS
9 with transitions in accordance with note 3) (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECLs (continued)
For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group is
required to make payments only in the event of a
default by the debtor in accordance with the terms
of the instrument that is guaranteed, the expected
loss allowance is the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs
less any amounts that the Group expects to receive
from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

Where lifetime ECL is measured on a collective basis
to cater for cases at the individual instrument level
may not yet be available, the financial instruments
are grouped on the following basis:

° Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the
Group’s trade receivables are each assessed as
a separate group);

° Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each separate group
continues to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEBMBRRHME

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS
9 with transitions in accordance with note 3) (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECLs (continued)

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which
the effective interest rate cannot be determined,
the Group will apply a discount rate that reflects
the current market assessment of the time value
of money and the risks that are specific to the
cash flows but only if, and to the extent that, the
risks are taken into account by adjusting the cash
shortfalls being discounted.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss
allowances are recognised at the higher of the
amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9 and the amount initially
recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative
amount of income recognised over the guarantee
period.

The Group recognises an impairment loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERR N

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. FTEESFHBE(#)
POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued) SRT A (&)
Financial assets (continued) BEEE (&)
Classification and subsequent measurement of MBEEESHEREETE (RZE
financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 —N\FH—HEREENBEHRE
April 2018) ERIZFEIFEAT)
Financial assets are classified into financial assets at FVTPL M EEDBERRATEFAERZ
and loans and receivables. The classification depends MEEEARER R ERFRIBES—
on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is B-nBDETHBEEZMLE KA
determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular BoWRA A HERKETE T A IE
way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised MECBERHE Z @M BE IR
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way 5 B EEEERRMRER - ERE
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial CEE T ERN TS AR B I Frie
assets that require delivery of assets within the time EZHRERARNEE 2 MEEE
frame established by regulation or convention in the BB

marketplace.

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL () BAFEFABRHRZVBEE
Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when EMBEER)FEEER(i)H
the financial asset is (i) held for trading (i) it is RERANFETAEBE ZHKE
designated as at FVTPL. E BBUMKEEDNSEAER

$1§u*]\i§\ﬁu\_ °
A financial asset is classified as held for trading if: MBEER TIERA T ERRE
R 5
e it has been acquired principally for the purpose e WEMNEZZEMNAREH
of selling in the near term; or ERERE 5
e on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio e RUBEERFEALRIEE
of identified financial instruments that the AEHEEREMNEHENERT
Group manages together and has a recent HEEW—H» LAEAF
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or MEIE R G B R E
59
e it is a derivative that is not designated and s RABEELRBEBERY
effective as a hedging instrument. LR ZITAETER-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEBMBRRHME

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1
April 2018) (continued)

(i)  Financial assets at FVTPL (continued)

A financial asset other than a financial asset held
for trading (or contingent consideration that may
be received by an acquirer as part of a business
combination) may be designated as at FVTPL upon

initial recognition if:

o such designation eliminates or significantly
reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or

e the financial asset forms part of a group
of financial assets or financial liabilities or
both, which is managed and its performance

is evaluated on a fair value basis,

accordance with the Group’s documented
risk management or investment strategy, and
information about the grouping is provided

internally on that basis; or

o it forms part of a contract containing one or
more embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39
permits the entire combined contract (asset or

liability) to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value,
with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial assets. Fair value is
determined in the manner described in note 33 and

is included in “other gains and losses”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERR N

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1

April 2018) (continued)
(i) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. Subsequent to
initial recognition, loans and receivables (including
trade and other receivables, loan receivables,
amounts from related companies, restricted bank
deposits and bank balance and cash) are measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest

method, less any impairment.

Interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate, except for short-term
receivables where the recognition of interest would

be immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets (before application of

HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018)

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment
at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets
are considered to be impaired when there is objective
evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial
asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial

assets have been affected.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of

impairment could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or

counterparty; or

o breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency

in interest or principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEBMBRRHME

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of
HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018) (continued)

Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of
receivables could include the Group’s past experience
of collecting payments, an increase in the number of
delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit
period, observable changes in national or local economic
conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount
of the impairment loss recognised is the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at
the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with
the exception of trade and other receivables, where
the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount
of the allowance account are recognised in profit or
loss. When a trade and other receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to
an event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying
amount of the investment at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would
have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERR N

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
amounts due to related companies, non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries, accruals and bank
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4, TESTHE (8
POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued) SRT A (&)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued) ke ERER (&)
Financial guarantee contracts RS A
A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires IS IERA A BIREERE ALNIETE
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the 5 UHEFEALRREEESA
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails KEERIBEER T EIEZAN B B K
to make payments when due in accordance with the MEXZEINED - BBERELD
terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contract NEIEANFEFE - ERBIZUNTSE
liabilities are measured initially at their fair values. It is JEEETE:

subsequently measured at the higher of:

e the amount of the loss allowance determined in . BIEEASRELERFHE

accordance with HKFRS 9 (since 1 April 2018)/HKAS FErEEREeE (B2ZE—N

37 Provision, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent FMA—HB#E) BB EHEL

Assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April EI7HRE AARBENRIRE

2018); and ERZZE-N\FHA-—HEAR

BEMERELEREIRA) « &

e the amount initially recognised less, where o VIXHERSTR (WEA)NE
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised IREARIFER Z Bt dY o

over the guarantee period.
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and
the net amount presented in the statement of financial
position when, and only when, the Group currently
has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised
amounts; and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Impairment losses on tangible assets and contract costs
At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its assets and contract costs to
determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss, if any. The recoverable amount of
assets are estimated individually, when it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to
individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can
be identified.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEBMBRRHME

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment losses on tangible assets and contract
costs (continued)

Before the Group recognises an impairment loss for
assets capitalised as contract costs under HKFRS 15,
the Group assesses and recognises any impairment
loss on other assets related to the relevant contracts in
accordance with applicable standards. Then, impairment
loss, if any, for assets capitalised as contract costs is
recognised to the extent the carrying amounts exceeds
the remaining amount of consideration that the Group
expects to receive in exchange for related goods or
services less the costs which relate directly to providing
those goods or services that have not been recognised as
expenses. The assets capitalised as contract costs are then
included in the carrying amount of the cash-generating
unit to which they belong for the purpose of evaluating
impairment of that cash-generating unit.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flow have not
been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss immediately.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are re-translated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the re-translation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange
rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Income and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests
as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an
interest in an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset),
all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to the owners of
the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEBMBRRHME

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary
that does not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all
other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates
that do not result in the Group losing significant
influence), the proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,

construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the period/year. Taxable profit differs from the profit or
loss as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income because it excludes
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and it further excludes items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

FESHEE &)

SN ()

b5 - FRER > H & B B A BB R E B
AREBEREBBAMBE AR ZEHIE 2
BRmE R fI 8 R E L 5
BT IEER s B NS
SRR - AEMBOHEMS
(ANEpo L EBE R RERGHRALE
BAREEATEN) RlRLHIER
FHELEZEEH N EERS

fEE KA

W B2t EREREE(R®
ZREREHENUREREREILE
MEE)BEREEZBERATIEA
REEEZKA BEEEEKRRBLA
RERER BB E -

BEFRARZERERBEEZEER
EFERREMRBEEBRASNA
BEREIE 2 B BRI

PrAEEMEERAREEHBERE

I8
P15 %5 32t 45 745 HA 8 A< 750 18 SR SE 7
TH o

AER ANFERENBIR IR ERE
R AT E o ERBOR N BN RS
BahEM2ENERAEHRZE
BEMAR REARETNBEHEME
B2 ERBHA MM 2 WA KX
B A BEEBR AT AN 2R
Be-AKBZzARRBARBEIEAR
BEHREHTRER L2 HET 2

9z =
KErH-

20185 1 7 1

HE S BERERA T
h
-/



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax base used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries and an associate except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments are only recognised to the extent
that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEBMBRRHME

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities. Current and deferred tax is
recognised in profit or loss.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are
presumed to be recovered entirely through sale unless
the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment properly over time, rather than through sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and
the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except when it relates to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred
tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the state-managed retirement benefit
schemes are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave and
sick leave) after deducting any amount already paid.

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without taking
into consideration all non-market vesting conditions is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments
that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase
in equity (share-based compensation reserve). At the
end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimate of the number of equity instruments expected
to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-market
vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss
such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share-
based compensation reserve. For share options that vest
immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the
share options granted is expensed immediately to profit
or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 &% —

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)
Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions (continued)

Share options granted to employees (continued)

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share-based compensation reserve will
be transferred to retained profits. When the share
options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share-based compensation reserve will be
transferred to retained profits.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 4, the directors is required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.
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1

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those
involving estimations, that the directors of the Company
have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the directors of the Company have reviewed
the Group's investment property portfolios and concluded
that the Group's investment properties are held under
a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment properties over time, rather than through
sale. Therefore, in measuring the Group’s deferred
taxation on investment properties, the directors of the
Company have determined that the presumption that
the carrying amounts of investment properties measured
using the fair value model are recovered entirely through
sale is rebutted. As a result, the Group has recognised
the deferred taxes on changes in fair value of investment
properties as the Group is subject to enterprise income
tax (“EIT"). The carrying amount of deferred taxation
on investment properties at 31 December 2018 was
HK$634,187,000 (31 March 2018: HK$696,115,000).

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the report period, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustments lo the carrying amount
of assets and liabilities within the next twelve months.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 &% —

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

At the end of each reporting period, investment
properties are stated at fair value based on the valuation
performed by an independent professional qualified
valuer (the “Valuer”). In determining the fair value,
the Valuer has based on a method of valuation which
involves certain estimates. In relying on the valuation
report, management has exercised judgement and is
satisfied that the methodologies that the Valuer used and
assumptions used in valuation have reflected the current
market condition.

The carrying amounts of investment properties at 31
December 2018 was HK$3,601,759,000 (31 March
2018: HK$3,952,998,000). Notwithstanding that the
management employs the Valuer to perform fair value
assessments based on these assumptions, the fair value
of these investment properties may be higher or lower
depending on the future market conditions.

Determination of net realisable value of
inventories of properties

Inventories of properties are stated at the lower of the
cost and net realisable value with carrying amount of
approximately HK$2,718,588,000, net of impairment
loss of HK$11,897,000 at 31 December 2018 (31 March
2018: HK$1,249,179,000, net of impairment loss of
HK$11,608,000). The net realisable value is the estimated
selling prices less estimated selling expenses, estimated
cost to completion and sale-related taxes (if any), which
are determined based on prevailing real estate market
conditions in the PRC. Where there is any increase in
costs to completion or decrease in the estimated selling
price arising from any changes to the property market
conditions in the PRC, there may be further impairment
loss in respect of the properties under development for
sale and completed properties for sale.

5.

mEBMBRRHME

E-NF+_A=+—HILNEHA

ARSI HERAFTTIEE
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BERE RAEABRGERSER SEE
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e

R-ZZE-NE+-_A=+—8 ¥
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iﬁﬁ(:E*J\E_H_Jr*H'
3,952,998,0008 L) - BEEEEZ
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERR N

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

1

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Development costs directly attributable to
property development activities

The Group allocates portions of land and development
costs to completed inventories of properties and
properties under development for sale. As certain of the
Group’s property development projects are developed
and completed by phases, the budgeted development
costs of the whole project are dependent on the
estimate on the outcome of total development. Based
on the experience and the nature of the development
undertaken, the management makes estimates and
assumptions, concerning the future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
Given the uncertainties involved in the property
development activities, the related actual results may
be higher or lower than the amount estimated at the
end of the reporting period. Any change in estimates
and assumptions would affect the Group’s operating
performance in future years.

Land appreciation tax (“LAT")

The Group is subject to land appreciation tax in the
PRC. However, the implementation and settlement
of the tax varies amongst different tax jurisdictions in
various cities of the PRC and certain projects of the
Group have not finalised their land appreciation tax
calculations and payments with the local tax authorities
in the PRC. Accordingly, significant estimate is required
in determining the amount of land appreciation and its
related income tax provisions. The Group recognised
the land appreciation tax based on management's best
estimates. The final tax outcome could be different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, and these
differences will impact the income tax expense and the
related income tax provisions in the periods in which such
tax is finalised with local tax authorities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 &% —

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Deferred taxation

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax
losses and temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the losses can be utilised. Significant management
estimation is required to determine the amount of
deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon
the likely timing and level of future taxable profits
together with future tax planning strategies. As at 31
December 2018, deferred tax assets of approximately
HK$13,096,000 (31 March 2018: HK$14,396,000) have
been recognised in the Group’s consolidated statements
of financial position.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables and loan
receivables

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for
the trade receivables. The provision rates are based on
internal credit ratings as groupings of various debtors
that have similar loss patterns. The provision matrix
is based on the Group’s historical default rates taking
into consideration forward-looking information that is
reasonable, supportable and available without undue
costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are reassessed and changes in the
forward-looking information are considered.

Loan receivables are assessed for ECL individually and
the provision rates are based on the Group’s historical
default rates, past due status and the financial capability
of individual debtor taking into consideration forward
looking information that is reasonable, supportable and
available without undue cost or effort.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The information about the ECL and the Group’s trade
receivables and loan receivables are disclosed in notes 33,
23 and 22 respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

6. REVENUE FROM GOODS AND SERVICES 6. EMmERKE W=
Disaggregation of revenue Wi 5 %

For the nine months ended
31 December 2018
BE-_Z-—-N\E+=ZHA=+—-HLAEA

Property Property
Segments development investment Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
pa:i MERR MERE Bt
FET FET FET
Types of goods or service & & & RIEEH!
Sales of properties MEHEE 45,598 - 45,598
Property management and ~ ¥¥EIE RAEBEER KA
related fee income - 10,060 10,060
Revenue from contracts RKEBEFEDBA
with customers 45,598 10,060 55,658
Rental income He A - 94,178 94,178
45,598 104,238 149,836
Geographical market [ 7135
Mainland China B K PE 45,598 10,060 55,658
Timing of revenue recognition Y %5 & 72 i i
A point in time F 3R 18 B T Bh 45,598 - 45,598
Over time M —ER R - 10,060 10,060
45,598 10,060 55,658
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

6. REVENUE FROM GOODS AND 6. EmEERBzWE (&)
SERVICES (continued)
Disaggregation of revenue (continued) Wz R (&)
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from TX&EIKEREF G K2 W &
contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed in BERPHEENSBENEER:

the segment information:

For the nine months ended
31 December 2018
BE-_Z—-NE+=-A=+—-HLAEA

Property Property
Segments development investment Total
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
palil MERR MERE wat
FET FET FET
Revenue disclosed in 2EER BN RS
segment information
External customers INER R P 45,598 104,238 149,836
Inter-segment 7 &b E - - -
45,598 104,238 149,836
Less: rental income e WA - (94,178) (94,178)
Revenue from contracts with KE B &L 2=
customers 45,598 10,060 55,658
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

6. REVENUE FROM GOODS AND
SERVICES (continued)

Disaggregation of revenue (continued)

An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31
March 2018 is as follows:

ERkBR%EzWE &)

Wik (&)
BHE-T— ) \FZA=Z+—BHILFE
AEBFRHKRADHEAT :

Year ended
31 March
2018
HK$'000
—E-N\F
=ZA=+—-H
IEFE
FET

Sale of properties MEHE
Rental income B2 WA

594,250
53,735

Property management and related fee income %% & 1% &2 1278 & LA 59,709

707,694

For contracts entered into with customers on sales
of properties, the relevant properties specified in the
contracts are based on customer’s specifications with no
alternative use. Taking into consideration of the relevant
contract terms, the management concluded that the
Group does not have an enforceable right to payment
prior to transfer of the relevant properties to customers.
Revenue from sales of properties is therefore recognised
at a point in time when the completed property is
transferred to customers, being at the point that the
customer obtains control of the completed property and
the Group has present right to payment and collection of
the consideration is probable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEBMBRRHME

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

REVENUE FROM GOODS AND
SERVICES (continued)

Disaggregation of revenue (continued)

The Group receives 30%-100% of the contract value
from customers when they sign the sale and purchase
agreement (the customers who use mortgage loans
provided by the banks and the remaining amount of
the total contract value will be paid to the Group from
the banks once the customers meet the requirements
of the banks) while construction work of properties is
still ongoing. These advance payment of 30%-100% of
the contract value from customers resulted in contract
liabilities being recognised throughout the property
construction period until sales of properties is recognised.
The Group will receive full advance payment from the
buyers before physical delivery of the completed property.

For property management and related services to
the tenants of the Group’s investment properties,
the Group agrees the fixed rate for services with the
customers upfront. As the tenant simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance, the revenue is recognised over time when
the performance obligations are satisfied. Monthly
payment of the transaction is due immediately when
performance obligations are satisfied.

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2018 and the expected
timing of recognising revenue are as follows:

ERkBR&EzWE &)

Wik (&)
EREIEEMEMMENERITED
FETR AEEEEFKBALHE
ER30%ZE100% (F ARITIREN
ERERNEFR EXFPHFAERTH
ERBH/AENEENBRBEBAIETE
NHFAEE) ZEBRFANER
230%Z100% T8 1 B BN B @Y
¥ERNUHRANEABEETMENEE
EER-AEEBRERTIYEEY
R AT E E A R E 2 FRIE -

PAARERENEEFRHEDEE
BRABEREM S AEEETSE
FEHERBHEEER - AR AL R
By EIX 157 30 % P A 5% B B 40 P ER AR O )
@ Eit - WARTERE &) B ERFBE
FREER -8 AR N REREKE
KB ERZBIS AT -

RZEBE-NFE+A=+—BHEZE
B NEORE (REKEED REK)
2R 5B KRR Z TEHIR A &
ZIEnR

Sales of
properties
HK$'000
YIEHE
TET

— Within one year ——F R
— After one year ——F%

684,214
1,973,185

2,657,399
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

7 ERE F
ANRERRTHEENE WA EE
THAR (B2 EREE)E N
EMENTINEREL - ALER
BEESHREEANESR EE D
B OAREREEHHWT -

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION 7.

Information regularly reported to the Group’s chief
executive officer (the chief operating decision maker
("CODM")) for the purposes of resource allocation
and assessment of performance focuses on the type
of operation. The Group’s reportable and operating
segments under HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” are as
follows:

Property development — development and sale of MEZRRES -WEZRRNHEE
properties

MEREER - HAMERREDE
IR R

Property investment — lease of investment properties and
provision of property management service

AT RIZEGERATREDRE D Z
AEBWmEERED:

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results by reportable and operating segments:

Nine months ended 31 December 2018
BE-_Z2—-N\E+=-A=+—-HLAEA

1

Property Property
development investment Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
MEBRE MERE wEt
FET FET FET
Segment revenue pal= i &
External sales HINEE 45,598 104,238 149,836
Inter-segment sales HEEIEE - - -
45,598 104,238 149,836
Segment (loss) profit o Eb (E518) & A (18,672) 46,297 27,625
Change in fair value on BRFEFABR 2T
financial assets at FVTPL BEANTEZD (57,596)
Other income H Ao Y A 21,131
Other gains and losses H iz R 1#E (26,316)
Unallocated corporate F AN WNEIE 53
expenses (24,228)
Finance costs B & AR (948)
Loss before tax R AT BB (60,332)
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7. oEHER (&)

Year ended 31 March 2018
He—_Z—\F=ZA=1+—HILFE

Property Property
development investment Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
MEERE MERE et
FAET FAET FAET
External sales SNEBEH 594,250 113,444 707,694
Inter-segment sales HEEIEE - - -
594,250 113,444 707,694
Segment profit 53 EB & 169,560 30,027 199,587
Change in fair value on BAFEFFABRTBE
financial assets at FVTPL BENFEED (8,920)
Other income H A 29,781
Other gains and losses E AU 2 & g 18 46,980
Unallocated corporate F 2N WNEI 3
expenses (14,387)
Finance costs BhE B A (1,208)
Profit before tax & 756 A1 5% ) 251,833
The accounting policies of the reportable and operating A 2| REE D2 G ER EM T
segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies AR 2 RE B EFTHR — B E %
described in note 4. Segment results represent the profit BRSO EME £/ )R M ER I
generated or loss incurred by each segment without AREAFEFABSZTBEER
allocation of change in fair value on financial assets at TEZFH EMlzMEE LoHE
FVTPL, other gains and losses, part of other income, part UL A~ BE DA BB S K2 Bt A Ak
of corporate expenses and part of finance costs. This is KEEDB - Y AETERDE &
the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes BB A EEREREKER
of resource allocation and assessment of segment LWL
performance.
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

1

ﬁ-

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7. oHER #)
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and THRAERNEBIZAZMRLE D EE
liabilities by reportable and operating segments: NZEERBEST:
Segment assets DEEE
At At
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HKS$'000 HK$'000
RZE-NFE RIZT—NF
+=A=t+-B =A=+-"
FET FET
Property development MEER 3,867,462 2,902,495
Property investment MERE 3,660,370 3,976,375
Total segment assets DHEEBERE 7,527,832 6,878,870
Unallocated assets: KoM EE:
Investments held for trading BIEEERE - 125,745
Financial asset at FVTPL BRATEFAER UBEE 69,006 133,857
Loan receivables fEWE K 125,235 25,000
Bank balances and cash BITRBR LIRS 6,770 59,993
Unallocated corporate assets AOBERRIEE 1,207 12,895
Consolidated assets BAREE 7,730,050 7,236,360
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E-NF+_A=+—HILNEHA

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 &% —

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7. TEHER ()
Segment liabilities DEEE
At At
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HK$'000 HK$°000
R-Z-—N\E W2 N\F
+=ZA=+t—-A =A=t+—H
FET FHET
Property development MEER 3,087,939 2,175,244
Property investment MERE 1,420,364 1,608,710
Total segment liabilities DEBERERE 4,508,303 3,783,954
Unallocated liabilities: Ko A’
Bonds payable IANEEER 10,707 10,339
Amount due to a related company FEfT—FEI g8 A Bl A 62 20
Provisional consideration payable EREERE 56,817 -
Unallocated corporate liabilities APBEAFIEE 9,293 5,954
Consolidated liabilities meRE 4,585,182 3,800,267
For the purposes monitoring segment performances and Eﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁ’ﬁ%ﬁFaﬁﬁ@ﬂ%fﬁ
allocating resources among segments: mE :
. all assets are allocated to reportable and operating s FBEEHNEEFRERLE
segments other than investments held-for-trading, DE ETNBR B D IHFIER
financial asset at FVTPL, loans receivable, bank ERE WAV ETFABERZZY

BEE BRER ZRHIRT
R RITREHR LIRS R EAR
DERREERIN -

balances and cash and other unallocated corporate
assets not attributable to respective segment.

MBERBEADRERHEMEE
ok I‘ETF}J’A%’H‘ﬁBE’JFﬁF

o all liabilities are allocated to reportable and °
operating segments other than bonds payable,
amount due to a related company, provisional - ENBEQNRNRIE  ENE
consideration payable and other unallocated Hﬂﬂiﬁi&ﬁﬁﬁi Eﬂﬁjﬁﬁm
corporate liabilities not attributable to respective Ghe
segment.
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Other segment information

TEER (&)

Hith 5 EER
Nine months ended 31 December 2018
BE-E-NETZR=t-HLNER

Total

Property Property  reportable
development  investment segment  Unallocated Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
NELE NERE URRAPEE AR @t
TEr Tir TiEr Tir TiEr

Amounts included in the measure of seqment ST AGTEA SEZ LS FEEH2E
profit or loss or segment assets:

Interests in an associate R-RBELE ER 291,919 - 291,919 - 291,919
Additions to non-current assets REFRBEE 5,587 - 5,587 - 5,587
Share of results of an associate NG | (740) - (740) - (740)
Impairment loss on inventories of properties M7 S ZHEEE (709) - (709) - (709)
Interest income FEHA 453 1,190 1,643 20,493 2,136
Interest expense s (312) (33,364) (33,676) (948) (34,624)
Change in fair value of investment properties & &¥)% 7 A T(E% - (1,055) (1,055) - (1,055)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 9% - BiEE R (B (1337) (424) (1,761) (214) (1,975)
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7. oHER (8)
Other segment information (continued) Hth o HER (&)

Year ended 31 March 2018
“2-)\FZA=t-RLER

Total

Property Property reportable
development ~ investment segment  Unallocated Total
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
X NERE AZEAPEE AR @t

Fir Far Fir Fir FAr

Amounts included in the measure of seqment ST ATEASEZ LS HEEN S
profit or loss or segment assefs:

Additions to non-current assets REFRBEE 684 - 684 - 684
Additions of investment properties RENERE - 14,289 14,289 - 14,289
Impairment loss on inventories of properties £ 8 ZREEE (11,608) - (11,608) - (11,608)
Interest income FIE WA 20 428 448 32,89 33,344
Interest expense FELH (5,345) (47 664) (53,009) (1,208) (54.217)
Change in fair value of investment properties & #)% 7 AT (&% - 2,79 2,79% - 2.79%
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 9% BE Rk ETE (1,426) (484) (1,910) (267) 2,177)
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7. DEER (@)
Geographical information it & B B
The following tables set out information about the TREHFIREEWE B EYE R
Group's revenue from external customers by cities in the RIS ET B 2 S AEAEE
PRC, based on the location at which the properties are REINBEE W ER - IEREE
sold, properties are invested and services are provided. BRI EEFREMIBEAIE S -

Information about its non-current assets is analysed by
geographical location of assets.

Revenue from external customers: RENFEERIWE:
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000

BE-®-N\fF HE-T /\F
+=A=+-8 =A=+-A

@A IHEFE

FET FE

Fuzhou = 125,499 465,855
Xi'an (il 24,337 241,839
149,836 707,694
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7. oHER (8)
Geographical information (continued) WEER (£)
Non-current assets: IRBEE:
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000

BE-2-N\F BE_T)\F
+=A=+-8 ZA=f-H

Eh@EA IHFE

FET FET

Fuzhou &M 3,985,374 4,356,201

Xi'an mi 325,991 38,366

Nanping ERe 5,667 315

Weinan B 44 -

Hong Kong BE 397 611

4,317,473 4,395,493

Note: Non-current assets excluded loan receivables and deferred Kzt : IERBDEETBIEERERRIEL
tax assets. HIEEE-

Information about major customers EETTERXEF2EHR

There is no individual customer who contributed over HE—_ZEZ-N\EFE+-_HA=1+—HIth

10% of the total revenue of the Group during the nine BAE-—ZE—N\F=A=+—HItF

months ended 31 December 2018 and year ended 31 ErEEEPHAEFEKE Y
March 2018. BEREBIE10% °
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

8. OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES 8 HMWARMEX
(a) Other income (a) HfbW A
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000

BE-2-\F HE-T- 4
+=f=t-8B Z=A=t-*H

EHEA IHFE
TFHET FE
Bank interest income SRATH B UL A 1,777 695
Dividend income from listed investments % & 2 & 8 A 639 816
Interest income from debt securities BBESFZFBHA - 1,529
Interest income from loan receivables — fEU & 5k 2 | 8 A 20,359 4,460

Interest income from financial assets at E A LB ABE Y HBEET
FVTPL BUA - 26,660
Others Hil 83 227
22,858 34,387

Interest income from: RENTSEZFBRA:

Financial asset at amortised cost REBHEK AT R B EE 22,136 5,155
Financial asset at FVTPL BATEFABR U BEE - 28,189
22,136 33,344
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

8. OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES (continued) 8. HMWARKEX &)

(b) Major items included in other expenses are (b) FFAHMBAZZEEEH SN
analysed as follow: mE:
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HK$'000 HK$°000
BEZZ-N\F B2 \F
+=ZH=+—H =A=+—H
Eh@EA EFE
FET FHET
Auditors' remuneration = EED B & 1,400 800
Commission to property agents MEREHERS - 44,587
Consultancy fee BEEEH 5,059 669
Donation B - 2,000
Legal and professional fee EEMEEE R 8,974 3,445
Marketing and promotion LIHREEER 5,295 9,223
Other tax and surcharge H b % B & M0 11,930 13,771
Operating lease payments KEHEZEH 2,271 2,040
Business entertainment and travelling 2R R =ik & A 3,264 3,392
Direct operating expenses incurred  ZEREMEESTHNER
for investment properties 4,746 5,995
9. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 9. Htthm REE
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HK$'000 HK$°000
BE-Z-N\F HE-_Z—N\#F
t=A=+-R Z=ZA=+-4
LEh@EA HFE
FET FET
Change in fair value on investments held #FEESERE QN FEE
for trading - 21,013
Net realised gain on disposal of HESEEEREZH#BR W R F5E
investments held for trading - 645
Exchange (loss) gain, net FEH (B18) e F58 (26,316) 25,222
Gain on disposal of property, plant and TEME BEREFH 2 BE
equipment - 100
(26,316) 46,980
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

10. FINANCE COSTS 10. A& KA
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HKS$'000 HK$'000
BE-Z-N\F H2-_Z—)N\#F
+=A=+-B =A=+-H
IEHhEA IHFEE
FET FET
Interests on bank borrowings RITEBEZFE 43,637 78,045
Interests on bonds payable ENEEZHE 948 1,208
Interests on contract liabilities EHEBEZFE 88,867 -
Total borrowing costs BEENKK 133,452 79,253
Less: amounts capitalised on qualifying BREBEREEERLZHIA
assets (98,828) (25,036)
34,624 54,217
11. (LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAX 1. BR& AT (B18) & F
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HK$'000 HK$000
BEZZE-N\E Hz_Z2-—N\#F
+=A=+-B =A=+-AH
L@ A IHFEE
FET FET
(Loss) profit before tax has been arrived at ~ BRFi AT (&8 ) & F 2 0Bk
after charging (crediting): (FA)
Directors’ emoluments (note 13) EEZWMe (FF13) 5,607 4,393
Other staff costs Hi 8 TRRA
Staff salaries and allowances BT Ho L 9,907 12,272
Retirement benefit contributions RORBH &R 461 458
10,368 12,730
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense #:2 A 2 F &K K 37,230 366,342
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BERRENE
equipment 1,975 2,177
Impairment loss of inventories of properties ) %17 &R & 518
(included in cost of properties sales) (FFAMEHERRE) (709) (11,608)
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

12. FRIEHRAX

Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HK$'000 HK$°000

BE-%-N\F HE-T /\F
+=A=+-8 =A=+-F

@A HEE
FET FE
Current tax: RERFIIE:

Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) in the PRC ~ FENZMERH ([DEMREH]) 12 39,093
LAT in the PRC B+ IR ER ([ ER ) 5,951 47,124
5,963 86,217

Overprovision in prior years: BEFEBRAERE:
EIT in the PRC B ERTER - (295)
5,963 85,922
Deferred tax expense (note 20) RIEFHTEFR S (M aE20) 18,645 5,091
24,608 91,013

Hong Kong Profit tax is calculated at 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profit derived for the period/year. No
provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for
the period/year as the income of the Group neither arises
in nor is derived from Hong Kong.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China
on Enterprise Income Tax (the "EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of
the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for the period/year.

The provision of LAT is estimated according to the
requirement set forth in the relevant PRC tax law
and regulation. LAT has been provided at ranges of
progressive rate of the appreciation value, with certain
allowable exemptions and deductions.

EBNEB AR, FE 2 M5t
JE R R AIZ16.5% 2 TR R+ & -
RREFEHEEEERTEH - &
WEENEEFGHER-

BIEREAREMEAMCERBRE
([EMEBE]) REEMSHEE
K& R BB A R R EIR, F R
LK B25% ©

TR AN B A IR BT BARRE
ERFOEBRERTE AT - T HIBE
Ty E B iR R R AE B
WA kA THEA -
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #%Z - =

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The income tax expense for the period/year can be
reconciled to the (loss) profit before tax per consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as follows:

—NEFE+Z_HA=+—HILNEA

12. FiS®BiMAX (#)

GBI EMEEWFRANEF
WATS R A BB AT (EE)&EF
ZEERIMT

Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-N\E ZE-N\F
+=ZH=+—H =A=+—8H
EA@EA EFE
FER FHET
(Loss) profit before tax BrEiAl (B1E) & A (60,332) 251,833
Tax charge at the applicable tax rate of 25% 12E R R25% 2 7 Hi1E (15,083) 62,958
Tax effect of share of results of an associate JE{GHEZ AR EE 2 B E 185 -
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax B E KM S FAI IR 2
purpose BT E 24,062 9,606
Tax effect of income not taxable for AHBENmE  BARREAZ
tax purpose MG & (3,196) (12,311)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised BMEEATEBB RS E 11,216 3,066
Utilisation of tax losses previously not B LA ARERNIEEE
recognised - (4,235)
LAT + I (E 5,951 47,124
Tax effect of LAT THRER BB E (1,488) (11,781)
Overprovision in prior years BEFEERBRE _ (295)
Effect of different tax rate of subsidiaries Eéﬁﬁﬂﬁ FREREEERINE
operating in other jurisdictions RABETABRERB 2 E 2,961 (3,119
Income tax expense for the period/year B/ FAMEHRAX 24,608 91,013
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND 13. EE FETHAERESH
EMPLOYEES' REMUNERATION oA
Details of the emoluments paid or payable to the Hi,F N BT S AR R E B
directors of the Company during the period/year are as BB
follows:
Retirement
benefit
Salaries and schemes  Share-based
Fees  allowances contributions payment Total

HK$°000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS'000
RIKEA ARG B

He HeREE AR BEZAR ok
FER FET FER FER FER
Nine months ended 31 December 2018
BZ-Z-NE+-A=+-HBILHhHEA
Chairman @
Guo Jiadi 20k 1,463 150 - 331 1,944
Executive director: HTES
Amika Lan E Guo Amika Lan E Guo - 800 13 677 1,490
Wang Chao T - 483 - 29 512
Non-executive director: F#HTES:
Wong Yun Kuen HEHE 75 - - - 75
Independent non- BUFHTES:
executive director:
Chan Yee Ping, Michael &84 60 - - - 60
Yu Pak Yan Peter B 75 - - - 75
Zheng Yurui Ik 45 - - 677 722
Ma Shujuan BE 52 - - 677 729
1,770 1,433 13 2,391 5,607
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 13. EE T ETBRAEREEMH
EMPLOYEES' REMUNERATION (continued) € (#)
Retirement
benefit
Salaries and schemes  Share-based
Fees allowances  contributions payment Total

HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000
BB AR AR 7

wE  HelEh AHEIfER BN k]

TAT TAT TET TET TET

Year ended 31 March 2018
ZE-N\FZHA=+-HLEFE

Chairman R
Guo Jiadi B0 1,950 75 - 70 2,095
Executive director: HTEE
Amika Lan E Guo Amika Lan E Guo - 1,040 18 - 1,058
Yan Ping Peng (note a) B P& (Kfita) - 674 12 - 686
Wang Chao Tia - 70 2 88 160
Non-executive director: FF#HTES:
Wong Yun Kuen =R 100 - - - 100
Independent non- BUFHTES:
executive director:
Chan Yee Ping, Michael ~ [RE4F 71 - - - 71
Yu Pak Yan, Peter £Ac 100 - - - 100
Zheng Jinyun (note )  BEE (HfiFb) 51 - - - 51
Zheng Yurui B 60 - - - 60
Ma Shujuan Mg 12 - - - 12
2,344 1,859 32 158 4,393
Notes: Bt i
(@ Mr. Yan Ping Peng resigned as executive director on 5 (@) EBmFBEER-_ZE—N\F_ARH
February 2018. BENITES-
(b)  Mr. Zheng Jinyun resigned as independent non-executive () HEEEEFEWN-_ZE—N\F_AHH
director on 5 February 2018. BB FEITES -
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND

EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION (continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company and the Group.

The non-executive director’s and independent non-
executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services as directors of the Company.

Guo lJiadi is also the Chief Executive of the Company
and his remuneration disclosed above includes those for
services rendered by him as the Chief Executive.

No directors waive any emolument during the current
period or the prior year and none of the directors have
received any inducement payment for joining or upon
joining the Company.

Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments
in the Group, four (year ended 31 March 2018: three)
were executive directors and the Chief Executive of
the Company whose emoluments are included in the
disclosures in this note above. The emoluments of
the remaining two (year ended 31 March 2018: two)
individual was as follows:

13. EE - FETHAEREESM
€ (%)
A FFTREITES Y M ARERA
NERAEBEBEEEH 2 RS

A
i e

A EFRIFMITEERIBIIFRITE
EZMERBREERRNRREETZR
B -

FBANE TR AR BT BARE Ko | XX
B BREIER/ITHRARERZ
R 2

RAMES E—FEMBEEEREE
e B EEFIES A
A BB T Y ER A fr] 22 R

EEME
AEBARRSHFALFR HEPEME
(B2 -_ZT—\F=Z=A=+—HIt*F
E:=R) BARREEREZITHA
B FEZMeFBE R EXMER
E-#TMA(BE-_ZT—N\E=A
=+—BIEFE -ME)ATZHMEm
S

i

o

Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
—®-NF  —E)F
+ZA=+—-8B =A=+—H
EAEA HFE
FET FET
Salaries and allowances e LR 985 1,800
Retirement benefits scheme contribution 3R #4852 5% 14 32
999 1,832
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 13. EE - FETHAERESHM
EMPLOYEES’' REMUNERATION (continued) € (&)
Employees’ emoluments (continued) EEMS (&)
The emoluments of each of the above non-director i EEESHEATIHEN T
highest paid individuals were fell within the following T&E :
bands:
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
No. of No. of
employees employees
—E-N\F —E-N\E
+=A=+—-B =A=+—H
EAEA LFE
EEAZ EEAE
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T 1 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7L £ 1,500,000/ 7T - 1
14. DIVIDENDS 14. R &
No dividend was paid or proposed to ordinary RBZE-_Z-\F+_A=+—HL
shareholders of the Company during the nine months JUIE A 3 SR A s IR AR B T AR
ended 31 December 2018, nor has any dividend been NEIERBERE NERRERBE
proposed since the end of the reporting period (31 March BERBEFRMNEAKRE (BE-Z
2018: Nil). —NE=ZRA=+—BILFE &) -
15. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE 15. BR (B1R) Z2F
The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss) earnings ARRHEEAEBEERERNRES
per share attributable to the owners of the Company is (BR)BFDBRBEUTE®RTE

based on the following data:
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZE— N\F+_-_A=+—HI-NEA

15. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued) 15. 8 (B#8) BF (4#)
Earnings figures are calculated as follows:
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HK$'000 HK$°000

BE-T-\fF HE_T\F
+=ZA=+t—-A =A=t+—H

IERER IHEE
FET FEL
(Loss) profit for the period/year attributable XA 71 A A B R EAfE /B
to owners of the Company (EB) &= A (80,964) 156,326
Number of shares B EE
Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
‘000 ‘000

BE-S-/\F BE-T %
+-A=+-8 =A=+-H

EAEA LEE
TR T Az
Weighted average number of ordinary ARGTEERER (BR) BNz E
shares for the purpose of basic (loss) AR T
earnings per share 4,458,901 4,348,418
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: & @B L@ v #8552
Share options =t g - 3,667
Unlisted warrants IE FT AR IEE - 49,410
Weighted average number of ordinary BRETESREHE (BiE) Bz
shares for the purpose of diluted (loss) ERR NEE 358
earnings per share 4,458,901 4,401,495
Share options i IR AE
For the nine months ended 31 December 2018, the 22—/ \E+_A=+—HI1th
computation of diluted loss per share does not assume A FESREEHEBEIRERKRIT
the exercise of the share options because the assumed EEERE ARZTEHSERERE
exercise will result in decrease in loss per share. BRD -
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. ¥ BERRZRE

2

Furnitures,

office
equipment
Leasehold and motor
Buildings improvements vehicles Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HAR -
HE BAERE
EF MELE RAE @t
FET FET FAET FET
CosT %N
At 1 April 2017 RZZE—+%EMA—H 4,904 2,938 10,211 18,053
Exchange adjustments RIS 529 88 529 1,146
Additions NE - - 684 684
Disposals HE - - (293) (293)
At 31 March 2018 RZE-N\F=A=+—H 5,433 3,026 11,131 19,590
Exchange adjustments 0 5 & (481) (80) (278) (839)
Additions NE - 4,47 1,116 5,587
At 31 December 2018 R-E-N\&+-HA=+—H 4,952 7,417 11,969 24,338
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION 2HIE
At 1 April 2017 RZE—+FMA—H 2,045 2,393 7,245 11,683
Exchange adjustments R 280 73 287 640
Provided for the year NEEEE 994 342 841 2,177
Eliminated on disposals HE B R 3 - - (237) (237)
At 31 March 2018 RZE-N\F=A=+—H 3,319 2,808 8,136 14,263
Exchange adjustments RIS (322) (72) (296) (690)
Provided for the period AEE A 988 114 873 1,975
At 31 December 2018 R-E-N\&+=-A=+—H 3,985 2,850 8,713 15,548
CARRYING VALUES RAE
At 31 December 2018 R-E-N\E+-B=+—H 967 4,567 3,256 8,790
At 31 March 2018 RZE-NF=ZA=1+—H 2,114 218 2,995 5,327
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 16. ¥ -BERRZE (&)
EQUIPMENT (continued)
The above items of property, plant and equipment are Lt - BERZHFEEEZRESE
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the following ERBA T AIEAFETE:
estimated useful lives:
Buildings 20% BF 20%
Leasehold improvements 20% HEWEEE 20%
Furnitures, office equipment R BRERE
and motor vehicles 10% - 20% NoqE 10% - 20%
17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 17. REY=*
Completed
investment
properties
HK$'000
EERREWE
FET
FAIR VALUE NE
At 1 April 2017 RZZE—+FWMA—H 3,551,719
Exchange adjustments PE 5, 38 & 384,182
Additions NE 12
Increase in fair value recognised in RIBRANERZ AN EE N
profit or loss 2,796
Transfers from inventory of properties MERE 14,289
At 31 March 2018 RZE—-NF=ZA=+—H 3,952,998
Exchange adjustments ME 3, 58 B (350,184)
Decrease in fair value recognised in RIBHAER 2 A FERD
profit or loss (1,055)
At 31 December 2018 R=F-NF+=A=+—H 3,601,759
All of the Group’s property interests held under operating AREEKRKEHESFAURIESH
leases to earn rentals are classified and accounted for as FTAEYEREZ DO BRI E Y
investment properties and are measured using the fair A WHUAFEERSS-
value model.
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 17. REWZE (8)
As at 31 December 2018, the fair value of the Group’s RZE-—N\F+_A=+—8B" K
completed investment properties of HK$3,601,759,000 SEERIREMENRFTER
(31 March 2018: HK$3,952,998,000) was arrived at on 3,601,759,0008 T (—F—/\F=H
the basis of a valuation carried out by Asset Appraisal =+—H:3,952,998,000%7T) * )
Limited, an independent professional qualified valuer B EEENEBRF AR ARET
not connected with the Group, which has appropriate WEEMETE P EEENERERM
qualifications and recent experiences in the valuation of BERARA—FRERNEEN HAEDN
similar properties in the relevant locations. BUAERBEMGEM REEEE
1% B A AT h AR R R SR 5
HERNKS -
The valuations of completed investment properties as at RZE-N\F+A=1+—HBK=ZE
31 December 2018 and 31 March 2018 and at the date —N\F=ZA=+—H BRIKEY
of transfer from inventory of properties are determined ¥ HEREBEREMEFE AT
based on direct capitalisation approach (level 3). BBEEEENMLE (BRAI=Z)EE -
In determining the fair value of the relevant properties, ﬁrﬁii‘ﬁ BmEZATFE AR ﬂ%
the board of directors of the Company has set up RYMEZE® THARD
a valuation committee, which is headed up by the & Ei\%'b(iﬂi@zﬁﬁﬁiz ”"fE
Chairman of the Company, to determine the appropriate BERME28-
valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements.
The direct capitalisation approach was based on the net BEBRERNENZMERBYERR
rental income that can be generated from the property EUMEREAZHEWRAFREAE
under the leases to be executed for the property with due WM WExNZREEDN AR ESR
allowance on the reversionary interest upon expiry of the Bm B ERALREREE
leases as assessed by the comparison method on vacant EREFHBH FAEHSWAZEE
possession basis. Discount rate at an opportunity cost of B @ZREMEZEARBEHA -
capital is considered in arriving the present value of rental
income.
In estimating the fair value of the properties, highest and PEETREME AT ER %%
best use of the properties is their current use. ¥R kaxEREREENAE-
The Group has pledged its investment properties with RZE-NF+A=+—8H"
carrying amount of HK$3,569,200,000 at 31 December AEBCEERAREEDFAEAR
2018 (31 March 2018: HK$3,952,998,000) to secure the 3,569,200,0008 L ( —ZE—\F=H
banking facilities granted to the Group. =+ —H:3,952,998,000/ 7T) 2 &
BWME ARRAAREBREREZRITE
ERMHER-
The following table gives information about how the TERHAWRZZE-—NF+_A=*+—
fair values of these investment properties as at 31 HE—ZE— }\¢ A=+—B&Z%&
December 2018 and 31 March 2018 are determined (in EMEZATFEEEAR (FRIEE
particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used), as Rz ER R ABE) ’J%&
well as the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value RIRRFE R FEH ﬁim)\%@ﬁﬂ’j—ﬁéﬁ
measurements are categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based BRI M & 5 E’] AFED FRH R (R
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value Bl—E=Z)2E%-

measurements is observable.
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

17. BREWHE (&)
SEEATESHE=RIIBENE
118 BT R E R e B A B

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Below is the valuation technique used and the key
unobservable inputs to valuation of the investment

properties categorised within Level 3 of the fair value ™

hierarchy:
Significant Relationship of
unobservable unobservable inputs to

Valuation technique inputs Range fair value
EATARE TOBEHAYE
BRI LN ¢ BE HATENEE
Furniture shopping Direct capitalisation Discount rate 6.1%  The higher the discount
mall, Fuzhou, the approach (31 March 2018: rate, the lower the fair
PRC 6.0%) value
BRI 2 AL ERERE BB X 6.1%=FE—\F HREHS ATEBE
BYas ZA=T—H:6.0%)
Rental value RMB150to  The higher the rental value,
(per square metre RMB430 the higher the fair value
and per month) (31 March 2018; M4 EEHS A TFEHS
HEeBEEYIA RMB150 to
kER) RMB430)
AR50 E
ARB4307T
ZT-N\%&
=A=+-8:
ARKIS0TE
AR®4307)
Kindergarden, Xian, Direct capitalisation Discount rate 8.4%  The higher the discount
the PRC approach 8hI8 & (31 March 2018: rate, the lower the fair
FEITE L 2 ) 5 E BERERE 82%)  value
8.4% HEXUE ATEHE
(ZE-N\%F
=A=+—H:82%)
Rental value (per square RMB72  The higher the rental value,
metre and per month) to RMBI1 the higher the fair value
MeBEBTAK (31 March 2018:  HeEEES RAFEYS
k&8R) RMB72
to RMBI1)
AR®T2TZE
AR
(ZT-N\F
=RA=t-8:
AR®T2tZE
AE#91TT)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERR N

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

18. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT/ 18. ¥R ¥ FENHEERE

PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

The properties under development were located in the
PRC.

BRTERMLNFE-

RETH ZERTVEFEEEY
X BEARREREE-

On completion, properties under development will be
transferred at the carrying value to property, plant and
equipment.

R—ZE—NEFE+_A=Z+—8"
162,146,0008 T (ZE—\F = H
=+—H:177,907,000 7t ) Z i A
PRl T EAECENEEFRIED
RIEMENEEIR THER -

As at 31 December 2018, HK$162,146,000 (31 March
2018: HK$177,907,000) of prepaid lease payments for
land use rights located in the PRC was recognised under
non-current assets.

R-ZE—-NE+-_A=+—H K
& B B 1 H 42 ¢ %8 A358,080,000
Brx(Z2E—-—N\F=ZA=+—8:
358,190,000/ 70 ) 2 R A N8
NBEERE UBRAAEERHZIR

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has pledged
its properties under development and prepaid lease
payments in aggregate amounted of HK$358,080,000
(31 March 2018: HK$358,190,000) to secure the banking
facilities granted to the Group.

ITIEERMEIEE-

19. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE 19. A—RBE AR 2 &S
At At
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
R-ZE-NF RZIZE-N\F
+=A=+—H —A=+t—H
FET FEL
Cost of investment in an associate REEE DR 2 RER A 292,659 -

Share of post-acquisition loss and other
comprehensive expense

FERBRBRREMEEAX
(740)

291,919

On 9 August 2018, Fujian Sinco Industrial Company
Limited (“Fujian Sinco”) and Grand International

RZZE-—NFNANAE BEEME
EERQA ([BEEM]) REXE

FREREARAB ([EABEEK]) (15
REARAZE2EMBAR) BALR
LEXARAB([REEX]) (K
SEBYE=T7)F k& ([E2
RXWE])  ARBALEREER
BRAB([ERE] RPBKILZ
BRAR)Z37%KE - BREFK
292,659,000/ 7T ©

Development Limited (“Grant International”), both being
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, entered into
an agreement (the “Major Transaction Agreement”)
with Xi‘an Chongfeng Real Estate Company Limited
("Chongfeng Real Estate”), an independent third party of
the Group, to acquire total of 37% equity interest of Xi‘an
Zhichengda Real Estate Company Limited (“Zhichengda”),
a company established in the PRC with limited liability, at a
consideration total of approximately HK$292,659,000.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 &% —

INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)

The consideration comprise of:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Cash consideration of RMB6,200,000 (equivalent to
HK$7,059,000) and US$30,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$228,783,000); and

Shareholder’s loan of RMB360,900,000* (”Shareholder’s
loan"”) (equivalent to HK$410,902,000); and

Provisional consideration (being capital occupation
interest**) of RMB50,382,000 (recognised as other
payable) (equivalent to HK$56,817,000).

Major assets of Zhichengda is a piece of land (the
“Land”) situated in Xi‘an province, the PRC. On the date
of acquisition, Zhichengda has not commenced operation
and it is not constitute a business in accordance with

HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations”.

Accordingly, the

acquisition has been accounted for acquisition of assets.
The acquisition was completed on 30 September 2018.

* %

As at the date of these consolidated financial
statements authorised for issuance, the
shareholder’s loan has not yet been provided and
the relevant terms are still under negotiation.

According to the Major Transaction Agreement,
Fujian Sinco and Grand International agreed to
pay Chongfeng Real Estate a capital occupation
interest on 50% of the land premium (being
RMB568,100,000, equivalent to HK$646,782,000)
calculated at interest rate of 13% per annum for
the period from the date of payment of the loan
provided by Chongfeng Real Estate to Zhichengda
for acquisition of the Land to the release of the
shareholder’s loan as above (ii).

19. R—EHBE

mEBMBRRHME

E-NF+_A=+—HILNEHA

NAEIZER (&)
REBIE:

)y BEE2REAR®E6,200,000
7T (HEMN7,059,000/% T
% 30,000,000% 7T (& R
228,783,000/87T) : &

(ii) Hxﬁfﬁ A R #360,900,000
T ([BREEZ])*(HER
410,902,000?@1) P M

(i) FREFRE AEMEAFIE A
R #50,382,00070 (FE R A& H 4B
JETRIE) (1HE 456,817,000
EIL) e

BREZEREER/UNTEALS
Mt (TtH]) -RUEREH-
BREYERGEENRBEENE
HELERNEINR [XHAH] THEX—
HEK -Fit WBEERKRBEEA
R-WEBER-_Z—N\FNLA=1+H
TR °

* 3 EREMERIERETEA
B IR E R E R TR R ARRE E
= WE%%?SEF'

> RBEBIEXZHE BELARK
EAEERZERMEZ50% (A
A K #568,100,0007T * #HE R
646,782,000/ L) M= L B %
THESHARNE  BREEX
MERERWB L HIREERT
NEHBHZ@BRRREERILHE
BFEFE13%TE (= EX(i)FT
i) o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERR N

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

19. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 19. R—EBE QT 2R ()
Details of the Group's associate at the end of the REmERRAEERE AR ZFEN
reporting period is as follow: TR

Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting rights
Place of interest held by the Group held by the Group
Name of establishment/ rEBBEZFBRELA AEEBEZREELH Principal
entity operation 31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March  activity
2018 2018 2018 2018
AMAL EE “E-\F  ZZ)\E “E-NE T )\F
BERaR L] tZA=t-B ZA=1t-H +ZA=t-B ZA=1t-H ZEZX%
Zhichengda The PRC 37% - 37% - Property development
BRE HE NEER
Summarised financial information of material BERBEEATNEEREBE
associate
Summarised financial information in respect of EBREREZVBENBEHIINT
Zhichengda is set out below. The summarised financial Mo THMBERMBERIBEERE
information below represents amounts shown in the M mEEGRR 2 E QR EHR
associate’s financial statements prepared in accordance KPP RERE-
with HKFRSs.
The associate is accounted for using the equity method in HERNBIRZERE M BERETPER
these consolidated financial statements. R IENER -
At
31 December
2018
HK$’000
R=-ZB-N\F
+ZBA=+—H
FER
Current assets MENVE E 2,583,110
Non-current assets ERBEE 166,782
Current liabilities nEBaRE (1,368,902)
Non-current liabilities JEMBAR (592,020)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEBMBRRHME

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

19. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 19. R—REBELATI 2R (&)

Summarised financial information of material EARBENTMBEREE (£)
associate (continued)

Nine months

ended
31 December
2018
HK$’000
—E-N\F
+=B=+-—H
tEh@EA
FET
Revenue Wz —
Loss and total comprehensive expense AEEEEREZARX B
for the period 2,000
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial TR ERMEERG A BIRE
information to the carrying amount of the interests in R E N AR 2 BREENY
an associate recognised in the consolidated financial iR :
statements:
At
31 December
2018
HK$°000
R-ZZE-N\F
+=—BA=+—H
FET
Net assets of Zhishengda BREZEEFE 788,970
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest  N&EE{GE RiE 2 A ERER L
in Zhishengda 37%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest REBREREER ZKREE
in Zhishengda 291,919
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERR N

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

20. DEFERRED TAX 20. EEBLE
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated RNEEMBRAKRZSY) & FERT
statement of financial position, certain deferred tax MEEERABREHRIE RUB2R
assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is BEEERBEER TR

the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial
reporting purposes:

At At

31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HK$'000 HK$°000

R-ZZ2-NF R-T-)\F
t=A=+-8 ZA=t+-*H

FET FET

Deferred tax assets EIERIEEE 13,096 14,396
Deferred tax liabilities EIEMBEEE (711,136) (757.337)
(698,040) (742,941)

2 1 0 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018 . ;



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEBMBRRHME

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

20. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 20. IEEBLE (#)
The deferred tax liabilities (assets) recognised by the RE/ FRARNEBEBRRAZELTIEER
Group and movements thereon during the period/year BE(EE)REEHOT :

are as follows:

Change in Temporary ~ Temporary  Temporary
fair value of Accumulated  differences  differences  difference
investment tax of provision on contract on contract Provision of
properties  Tax losses depreciation of LAT costs liabilities impairment Total
HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000
itR1%
RENZ EifBE  BERz GRHAZ AHERZ

AYERD  HEER fE ERER ENIE ERER  6ERR it
TET  TEr  TEr  TEr  TEn  TEr  TEr  TER

At 1 April 2017 RZE-+EMA-H 627,661 (30,450) 68,516 - - - - 665,727
Charge (credit) to NBE GIA) ER

profit or loss for the year  #4 (#/7£12)

(note 12) 699 6,119 12,957 (11,781) - - (2,903) 5,091
Exchange adjustments & 3 5% 67755 (2,921) 8,161 (700) - - (172) 72123

At 31 March 2018 RZE-N\F

=R=1-H 696,115 (27,252 89,634 (12,481) - - (3,075) 742,941
Adjustments (note 3)  FE (K13 - - - - 3439 (363) - 3076
At 1 April 2018 (restated) H=Z—-NEMA-A
(m&5)) 696,115 (27,252) 89,634 (12,481) 3,439 (363) (3,075) 746,017
(Credit) charge to ke GrA)EnE
profit or loss & (H3t12)
for the period (note 12) (264) 2613 9,783 (1,488) 8,140 38 (177) 18,645
Exchange adjustments ~ [EH AE (61,664) 2,339 (8.218) 1,148 (536) 3 277 (66,622)
At 31 December 2018  H=ZF-N\%
+-A=1-H 634,187 (22,300) 91,199 (12,821) 11,043 (293) (2,975) 698,040
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERR N

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

20. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

20. IEAERIIE (&)

2

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had unused
tax losses of HK$256,799,000 (31 March 2018:
HK$231,854,000) available to offset against future
profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of HK$89,200,000 (31 March 2018:
HK$109,008,000) of such tax losses. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining
tax losses of HK$167,599,000 (31 March 2018:
HK$122,846,000) due to the unpredictability of future
profits streams.

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by
PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred
taxation has not been provided for the period/year in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary
differences attributable to retained profits of the PRC
subsidiaries amounting to HK$107,275,000 (31 March
2018: HK$89,992,000) as the Group is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

21. INVENTORIES OF PROPERTIES

RZZE—-NE+-_A=+—80 K&
B 5 KRB A IEE1E49256,799,000
Br(ZE—N\F=ZA=+—8:
231,854,000/ 7t ) A] A {E K 85 R 2K
i 1] o Bt 5% 55 7 18 /B9 18 1 89,200,000
Brx(Z2E—-—N\F=ZA=+—8:
109,008,000/8 7T ) E MERIEERIEE
E-mRBREENRIFRHAEE A
It 3P 4% 3k 84 T B I8 518 167,599,000
BErT(ZE—N\FE=ZA=+—8:
122,846,000/ 7T ) ERIE L I8 &
Eo

BEFRCEMSHE B-ZF
NF—A—Be 1HKBIAA
FE BRI 2% F TSR 2 % B8N
EMH - REBRRL R F
B ARRB &FSI B B =5
107,275,000 L (ZE— \F = H
=+—H:89,992,0005 7T ) 5t 1% &7
SERNEERERE RRAEAEE
RESmIT B O R = KA 2 B[ > T
R R TR A T8 R A sk el -

21. MEREFE

At At

31 December 31 March

2018 2018

HK$’000 HK$'000

R-ZB-NE RZZ-N\F

+=ZA=+—HB =BA=+—H

FET FET

Completed properties for sale BERZHFEME 86,604 80,310
Properties under development for sale FERRPYME 2,631,984 1,168,869
2,718,588 1,249,179

All the inventories of properties are situated in the PRC.

1 2 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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22,

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 &% —

INVENTORIES OF PROPERTIES (continued)

Included in the amount are properties under development
for sale of HK$2,099,559,000 (31 March 2018:
HK$1,168,869,000) in relation to property development
projects that are expected to be completed in more than
twelve months from the end of the reporting periods.

At 31 December 2018, the Group's inventories of
properties with carrying value of HK$34,020,000 (at
31 March 2018: HK$1,249,179,000) were pledged for
certain banking facilities granted to the Group.

LOAN RECEIVABLES

As at 31 March 2018, the loan receivables are secured,
interest bearing at fixed rate of 8% per annum and
repayable according to the date specified in the
respective loan agreement. The amount was fully settled
during the nine months ended 31 December 2018.

The loan receivables represents the redeemable
exchangeable bond (”Exchangeable Bond”) reclassified
from financial assets at FVTPL to loan receivables upon
application of HKFRS 9. On 27 November 2018, the
Group entered into New Loan Agreement (as detailed
in note 24(a)) for settlement of the outstanding sum of
the Exchangeable Bond. The loan receivables are secured
by certain equity interests, interest bearing at fixed rate
of 20% per annum and repayable for a term of 18
months from 27 November 2018 (detailed in note 24(a)).
Accordingly, the amount of RMB110,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$125,235,000) it is classified as non-current asset.

No impairment loss was recognised as at 31 December
2018 and 31 March 2018.

Based on evaluation on expected loss rate and gross
carrying amount, the directors of the Company is of the
opinion that ECL in respect of the balance is considered
immaterial since the value of secured equity interests
is higher than the carrying amount of loan receivables.
Therefore, there has not been a loss allowance provision.

Details of impairment assessment for the year ended 31
December 2018 are set out in note 33.

21.

22,

mEBMBRRHME

E-NF+_A=+—HILNEHA

MEEFEE (2)
%%ﬁﬂh@?ﬁﬁm?ﬂ%qﬂmﬁ
2,099,559,000/8 T (=T — N\F= H
=+—H:1,168,869 oooﬁém)
BHEEREERRERE+ @A Vw
TZM¥ERIEHER-

R—ZZE—-—NF+=_A=+—H"
AEE B K IR {E A34,020,000
Br(ZE—NF=ZA=Z+—8:
1,249,179,0008 ) 2 W EF & » IA
ARAEERTEZETRITEERMH
-

FEW & 7K
R-F—\FZA=+—H EYEH
HARBIIR R E R FFE8%st 8 B

ERBESDERMZETRIHBHE
E-FRBECRNBE_T—/\&+1+=

A=1+—BINEARBEEN-

EUREFERERT BN REEL
FORZRERANTFEFAABRZZH
BEEEN D BRERKRERNATED
ARBES ([AIRBESR]) - R=F
—N\FEt+—A=-+th AKETL

&St aE (FR R0 M 7E24(a) ) LA (E
NARXBMEFZREESHE BEE

KUAH TRREEERT  IREEFFIE
0% EBERE-ZE—N\F+—A
“t+EHR+NEABHRRESE (F
MR FE24(a)) cE I AR
110,000,0007T ( #8 & 72 125,235,000
BIL)EDERIERBEE-

RZE-N\F+A=+— El&:;:
7)-\£E ﬂ —'— = *EEMEEE/L/
B

REHBEMEBRXLREARNT
e RARRIEFRR ARERKE
BESREWESRREE  GHAR
MIEMEEBEL TEX B &
FHEE IR R

BE_ZT-N\F+-_A=1T—HL*F
E/WEQHEZEJF\ I HIEE33 ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER 23. EWBRX - HthBEIWFIE R T8
RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS N7

At At

31 December 31March

2018 2018

HK$’000 HK$'000

R=-ZB-N\F RZIZFT-N\F
+=A=+-8B =A=+—H

FET FET

Trade receivables FE U BR 5K 8,426 7,329

Other receivables H fth & Y kI8 18,358 12,221

Prepayment to suppliers (note a) AR R (ffata) 130,675 394,633

Deposits for acquisition of land for property WM ¥ EME L2

development (note b) we (Kab) 42,226 621,712

Other refundable deposits Hip i REZ S 1,825 4,440

Other tax prepayment H fth 7518 B A R IE 74,650 39,969

Less: Allowance for impairment loss (note ¢) & : S {EE 18 & (HfzEc) - (375)

276,160 1,079,929

Notes: Mfat -

(@) The amount mainly represents prepaid construction (@) ZABXZENAEEGEERES
cost of approximately HK$5,440,000 (31 March 2018: Y 3 9 T8 1+ 3 5% B AR 495,440,000
HK$389,931,000) for the Group’'s properties under BrT(ZE—-NF=A=+—8:
development for sale. 389,931,000/ 7T) ©

(b)  The deposits were made by the Group for the acquisition (b) ZESHASFEINEARAAEEZ
of land use rights in the PRC for the Group's property HERETYEREPEZ i
under development for sale. FAHE-

() Changes in the allowance for impairment loss (credit (0 EMEWRFEBEZREREGEZE (4
impaired) on other receivables are mainly due to: HEERE)EZHM:

At At

31 December 31 March

2018 2018

HK$°000 HK$'000

R-ZZE—N\&E K- N\F

+=—B=+—H =A=+—H

FHT FET

At 1 April R A—H 375 338
Impairment losses reversed BEREREERE (375) -
Exchange adjustments PE 3 38 2 - 37
- 375

2 1 4 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018 . ;



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEBMBRRHME

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER 23. EWRERR - Htt BUURTEAR R
RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS (continued) ES-NE P
Trade receivables mainly arise from rental income which is BRERETEREBETRBEAEEER
paid monthly in accordance with the terms of the related a2 R B s B BRGS0 A E
rental agreements, normally within 30 days from the date A HESWA -

of agreement.

The following is an aged analysis of the Group's trade T AREERERE R BUER
receivables at the end of each of the reporting period: K2 ERER AT

At At

31 December 31 March

2018 2018

HK$'000 HK$°000

R=B-N& R-T-)N\F
+=A=+—-B =A=+—H

FET FHET
0 - 30 days 0£30H 2,395 818
31 -90 days 31290H 1,095 1,334
Over 90 days 90H A £ 4,936 5,177
8,426 7,329

Aging of trade receivables which are past due but not JE W BR 3 2 R e B2 180 BB R ORU(E

impaired:

At
31 March
2018
HK$'000
RZFE—N\F
—A=+—H
TFET
31 - 90 days 31290H 1,334
Over 90 days 90H M E 5,177
6,511
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

23.

24,

TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER
RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

The above trade receivables which were all past due but
not impaired as the trade receivables are generally fully
recovered by the rental deposits from corresponding
tenants.

The Group applies the simplified approach to providing
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision
for all trade receivables. To measure the expected credit
losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.
Based on evaluation on expected loss rate and gross
carrying amount, the directors of the Company is of
the opinion that the ECL in respect of these balances is
considered immaterial and therefore there has not been a
loss allowance provision.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL/

23.

24,

FEWERM - HitEWFEIERTE
FRIE ()

|t e U BE 2R 35 B 6 HR B SR RAE - T
PR e U B X — g R B AR E R B 2 A
i e REULE -

REBIRE BB 15 W& ERIE 5 W
HRERBE(CEIREBEERE
Bl ZRE R RTLPT B R U AR R AL
REHEREERE RAEBRBE
EEE BUSRFERAREERRR
HREHBBETOE RIZFBEHE
BERAKREEN G AARESER
B REEBCBREERBEYTE
K WA EET IR R

HIFEERE RAVMER

INVESTMENTS HELD FOR TRADING ANBBZHBEE
At At
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HK$’000 HK$000
RZE-NF RZIZE-N\F
+t=A=+-B =ZA=t+-H
FET T
Financial assets mandatorily measured at 38 &35 A FE ABRTE 20
FVTPL: BE
Unlisted bond securities (note a) FEMEHFEEZESR (Fita) - 133,857
Investments held for trading — Equities BIEEERE-RNEE LM 2K
securities listed in Hong Kong (note b) 5 (WD) 69,006 125,745

1 6 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEBMBRRHME

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZE— N\F+_-_A=+—HI-NEA

24. BEBEERE BROAFE
ABRZHMBEE &)

24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL/
INVESTMENTS HELD FOR
TRADING (continued)

Notes: Bzt -

(@ On 19 February 2016, the Company as subscriber, Sundo (@ RZZE—RF-ATNIAHE XRF
Gas Limited (“Sundo Gas”) as issuer and Mr. Zhong (fEAmE A) *Sundo Gas Limited
Changming entered into a subscription agreement (ISundo Gas] fEREEITA) K&
(“Subscription Agreement”), pursuant to whom the RISFEET L —DREHE ([RE

B AR BB B RTE

Company has conditionally agreed to subscribe for the el

exchangeable bonds (the “Exchangeable Bonds”) in the BB 48%8133,300,000/8 T F
aggregate principal amount of HK$133,300,000 with FIZE 20% 2 A 22 EH ([A] R4
20% interest rate per annum. BEH]) -

The subscription of Exchangeable Bonds was completed RBAIXREFR_ZE—RFTA

on 13 October 2016 (“the Issue Date”) and its maturity
date was 29 October 2017.

The Exchangeable Bonds confer the right (“Exchange
Right”) upon the Company thereof, exercisable in whole
or in part upon the occurrence of an initial public offering
("IPO") and listing of and permission to deal in the shares
of UC Energy Technology Limited (“UC Energy”), which
is a subsidiary of Sundo Gas, on the Stock Exchange,
to exchange for in aggregate up to a maximum of
123,934 shares in UC Energy at the exchange price of
approximately US$138.764 per share in the capital of UC
Energy, representing approximately 18.5% of the issued
ordinary shares of UC Energy as at the subscription date.

Sundo Gas may request early redemption of the
Exchangeable Bonds at any time prior to the maturity
date at a price equal to the sum of (a) the outstanding
principal amount with respect to the portion of the
Exchangeable Bonds to be redeemed, (b) a fee of 1%
on such outstanding principal amount, and (c) interest
on such outstanding principal amount at the rate and
period specified in the Subscription Agreement. Unless
previously redeemed, exchanged or cancelled and subject
to the occurrence of an IPO, Sundo Gas shall redeem the
Exchangeable Bonds on the maturity date the whole of
the principal amount of the Exchangeable Bonds at par,
together with accrued interest calculated in accordance
with conditions set out in the Subscription Agreement.

+=8 ([#7EH]) =X B
—+F+HF=-thNB-

R E S T A A FER ([

#]) > 7 UC Energy ( Sundo Gasfff
BARRNDBEXAREES (THK

AHREE]) RAEBZMETRE
B A2 EkBrRmeEH RS
123,934%UC Energy Technology
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERR N

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL/
INVESTMENTS HELD FOR
TRADING (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a)

(continued)

The Exchangeable Bonds are secured and supported by
the followings:

(i)  the share charge created in favour of the Company
on 19 February 2016 by Sundo Gas in respect of
200,627 shares in UC Energy;

(i)  the pledge of not less than 36.7% equity interests
in Jiangsu Guosheng Hengtai Energy Development
Co., Ltd. CI&HBIRIEREIRE R B R X F)) given
by Shannan Tianyuan Investment Centre (1LF X
R AR (BBRAIK)) (“Shannan Tianyuan”) in
favour of Fujian Sinco Industrial Co., Ltd (“Fujian
Sinco”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company;

(i) a personal guarantee given by Mr. Zhong
Changming, the substantial shareholder and
controlling party of Sundo Gas and Shanna
Tianyuan in favour of the Company (collectively
referred to “Exchangeable Bonds Securities”).

Further details of the subscription of the Exchangeable
Bonds are set out in the Company’s announcements dated
24 August 2015, 29 December 2015, 19 February 2016,
14 June 2016 and 13 October 2016.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Exchangeable
Bonds had matured on 29 October 2017, and subject
to the mutual agreement of the Company and the
exchangeable bond issuer, the maturity date may be
extended. As at 31 March 2018, the potential extension
is under discussion between the Company and the issuer
and no extension agreement has been reached.

After taking into account the latest progress in
reaching settlement of the Exchangeable Bonds with
the exchangeable bond issuer and the guarantor, and
the Exchangeable Bonds Securities with supporting
information in respect of the estimated value of certain
of the Exchangeable Bonds Securities, the directors of the
Company considered that there is no recoverability issue
of the bond at year ended 31 March 2018.

1 8 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEBMBRRHME

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZE— N\F+_-_A=+—HI-NEA

24. BEBEERE BROAFE
ABRZHMBEE &)

24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL/
INVESTMENTS HELD FOR
TRADING (continued)

Notes: (continued)

it : (&)

(a)

(continued)

Upon application of HKFRS 9, the Exchangeable Bonds
was reclassified from financial assets at FVTPL to loan
receivable.

On 27 November 2018, the Company and Sundo Gas
entered into arm’s length negotiations on settlement
of the said outstanding sum of the loan receivable and
eventually a loan agreement (the “New Loan Agreement”)
was signed between Shannan Tianyuan and Shannan
Shengyuan Investment Center ([l & BRI & b
(BRAM)) (“Shannan Shengyuan”), collectively
referred to “Joint Borrowers” and Fujian Sinco, a loan
in principal amount of RMB110,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$125,235,000) with interest of 20% per annum with
a maturity of 18 months. This amount is classified as
loan receivable as at 31 December 2018. The difference
between the loan receivable amounted to HK$8,622,000
is recognised in the profit or loss during the period.

The New Loan Agreement is secured by the pledge of
98.12% equity interest of Jiangsu Guosheng, of which its
equity interests of 86.34% and 11.78% were beneficially
owned by Shannan Tianyuan and Shannan Shengyuan
respectively.

In November 2018, pursuant to the supplementary
agreement entered into between Fujian Sinco, the
Joint Borrowers and Gujiao Guosheng Hengtai Coalbed
Methane Exploitation Co., Ltd (& 32 Bl 2% 18 2= H 2 & 59
BEHEBEABEMR DA ("Gujiao Guosheng”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Jiangsu Guosheng, the New Loan Agreement
was further secured by the pledge of 90% equity interests
of Gujiao Guosheng.

Jiangsu Guosheng and Gujiao Guosheng are engaged in
exploration and production of coalbed methane in PRC.

In addition, Mr. Zhong Changming agreed to grant an
irrevocable joint liability guarantee in favour of Fujian
Sinco for a term of two years commencing from the expiry
date (i.e. 27 May 2020) of the New Loan Agreement.

(a)

(%)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERR N

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL/

25.

INVESTMENTS HELD FOR
TRADING (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)  As at 31 March 2018, the equity securities were classified
as investments held for trading as they have been
acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near
term. Changes in their fair values are recorded in profit or
loss.

As at 31 December 2018, the equity securities were
mandatorily measured as financial assets at FVTPL upon
application of HKFRS 9.

RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK
BALANCES AND CASH

Restricted bank deposits

Bank balances which, in accordance with the applicable
government regulations prevailing in 2018, are placed in
restricted bank accounts, amounting to HK$575,000 (31
March 2018: HK$630,000), which can only be applied in
the designated property development projects.

Bank balances and cash

The bank balances carry interest at variable interest rates
ranging from 0.13% to 0.35% (31 March 2018: 0.13%
to 0.35%) per annum.

24. BEBEERE ROAFE
ABRZHMBEE &)

fiet: (&)

) M-Z—NE=A=+—0 %%
BAEXSBEABEEERE T
BABARSEATEAREBY
o HATERBEAABH -

RZZ—NF+ZA=+—8"R
ERBEAWBWMEERFRR &
ERAFB AT ERIBRATE
FABRBRZUBEE -

25. SRFIBITER BITEEH
)
ZRFEIBITER
BIE - — N\NFIR 178 A BT IED -
R 1T 45 82575,0008 7T (— & — )\ 4F
= A=+—H:630,000&7T) FZFER
ZRAHBTEHRES B ABAREED
¥EREIER -

RITHEBRES

IRITHEBRIEN TEF0.13%=£0.35%
(ZBE—-N\EFE=A=+—H0:0.13%%&
0.35% ) Z FEF KT8 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEBMBRRHME

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND

26. FEAYBRFNA I E Al B RO

ACCRUALS RETTE A
At At
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HKS$'000 HK$'000
R-ZE-NFE RIE-N\F
+=ZA=+—-H =A=+—H
FET FET
Trade payables (Note) FERTBRER (FaE) 285,128 159,307
Other payables and accruals Hith fe {5 5178 M 5T B A 37,311 49,855
Provisional consideration payable JENEERE (KiF19)

(Note 19) 56,817 -
Deposits received from tenants B AR AR S 23,413 20,830
Accrued construction cost FE 5t 2 SRR 10,805 12,789

413,474 242,781

Note: The following is an aging analysis of trade payables

HiaE: AT REREZEHETE ZEN

determined based on the invoice date: BRREARER D AT -
At At
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
RZB-NE RZZ—N\F
+=A=+—H =F=+—H
FET FET
0 - 30 days 0230H 75,333 69,708
31 - 90 days 31%90H 4,178 19,585
91 - 365 days 91%365H 29,227 2,465
Over 1 year —FE 176,390 67,549
285,128 159,307
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERR N

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

27. CONTRACT COSTS AND CONTRACT 27. BHRAEAREHNER

2

LIABILITIES

At At

31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HK$'000 HK$°000

R=ZF-N\F RZFT-N\F
+=A=+-8 ZA=t-—*H
FET FETL

Incremental cost to obtain contracts (Note) EUS& #2718 & B (FT5)

44,170 -

Note: Contract costs capitalised as at 31 December 2018 relate
to the incremental sales commissions paid to property
agents whose selling activities resulted in customers
entering into sale and purchase agreements for the
Group's properties which are still under construction
at the reporting date. Contract costs are recognised as
part of other expenses in the profit or loss in the period
in which revenue from the related property sales is
recognised. No capitalised costs has been recognised in
profit or loss during the period. There was no impairment
in relation to the opening balance of capitalised costs or
the costs capitalised during the period.

As at 31 December 2018, the amount of HK$39,183,000
included in contract costs is expected to be realised after
twelve months from the end of the reporting period.

The contract liabilities of HK$2,421,850,000 as at 31
December 2018 and HK$1,356,682,000 as at 1 April
2018 represent the deposits received from pre-sale
of properties. As at 31 December 2018, the amount
of HK$1,740,796,000 included in contract liabilities
is expected to be recognised as revenue after twelve
months from the end of the reporting period.

The Group receive payments from customers based on
billing schedule as established in property sales contracts.
Payments are usually received in advance of the
performance under the contracts from sales of properties.

Included in revenue recognised for the nine
months ended 31 December 2018, approximately
HK$30,746,000 was included in the contract liabilities at
1 April 2018.

22 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEBMBRRHME

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

27. CONTRACT COSTS AND CONTRACT 27. EHRAEARENER (&#)

LIABILITIES (continued)

In addition, the Group considers the advance payment
schemes contain significant financing component and
accordingly the amount of consideration is adjusted
for the effects of the time value of money taking into
consideration the credit characteristics of the relevant
group entities. As this accrual increases the amount of

poh AEBERS ANREGERS
BERBMERS ALK ESHEAEE
MEREETZEFELHE X EEIE
BEEER ZEERIE AR ER
IR MEZRMENS ORGSR
BIEMERTYERHIREREER

the contract liability during the period of construction, it

R RERR A B 58 ©

increases the amount of revenue recognised when control

of the completed property is transferred

28. BANK BORROWINGS

to the customer.

28. IRITEE

At At
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
R-ZE-NF RZZT—N\F
+=ZA=+—-B =ZA=+—H
FET FET
Secured bank borrowings BHEIFRTEE 736,575 1,230,070
At At
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
R-ZEBE-NFE RZIZ—N\F
+ZHA=+—H —A=+—H
FET FET
Carrying amount repayable EEEREE
Within one year —FR 136,335 184,623
More than one year, but not exceeding —FEE - BETBBME
two years 82,154 243,205
More than two years, but not exceeding MEN L - BAEBRF
five years 301,293 444,155
Over five years AL E 216,793 358,087
736,575 1,230,070
Less: Amount due within one year BORBBEBETAZ —FR
shown under current liabilities BHeE (136,335) (184,623)
Amounts shown under non-current liabilities IR EN R EIB AT R4 600,240 1,045,447
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERR N

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

28. BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

All the Group’s borrowings are denominated in RMB

28. RITIRE (&)
AEBFEEEYUAREE

At At

31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000

R=B-NE R-T-NE
+=ZA=+—H =A=+—8H
FET Fi4T

Fixed rate borrowings BEMEEE

736,575 1,230,070

The range of effective interest rates of the borrowings at

REREHRREE 2 BN R & F 40

the end of each reporting period was as follows: T
At At
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HK$'000 HK$°000
R-ZEB-NE RZIZT-N\F
+ZA=+—H —A=+—8H
FET FET
Fixed rate borrowings BEFEEE 5.70%%5.88% 5.70%%9.5%
At 31 December 2018 and 31 March 2018, the bank RZE—NFF+_A=Z=+—"BKEKZZE

borrowings were guaranteed/secured by the followings:

(@) corporate guarantees provided by the Company
for the bank borrowing with principal amount of
approximately HK$676,929,000 (31 March 2018:
HK$814,858,000);

(b) Fuzhou Gaojia, which is beneficially owned
and controlled by Mr. Guo lJiadi, has provided
guarantees to banks for the bank borrowings with
principal amount of approximately HK$59,646,000
(31 March 2018: HK$415,212,000);

(€)  Guo Shi Investment Co. Limited, which is ultimately
owned as to approximately 95% by Mr. Guo
Jiadi, has provided guarantees to banks for
the bank borrowings with principal amount of
approximately HK$59,646,000 (31 March 2018:
HK$127,903,000);

224 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018 . ;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEBMBRRHME

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

28. BANK BORROWINGS (continued) 28. SRITIEE (4)
(d) Mr. Guo Jiadi and Ms. Shen Bizhen, the spouse of (d)  Fohnzhok A MBIt E 2 BB
Mr. Guo Jiadi, have provided guarantees to banks LB X TERBITEERRT
for the bank borrowings with principal amount of REH R & EEL) /736,575,000
approximately HK$736,575,000 (31 March 2018: T(ZE—-NE=A=+—8:
HK$1,230,070,000); 1,230,070,000/8 70 ) Z &%
(e) details of pledged assets as set in note 35. () MIFESATEMERIFEEFS-
29. SHARE CAPITAL 29. IR
Number of shares Share capital
REAEE TS
At At At At
31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March
2018 2018 2018 2018
'000 ‘000 HKS$'000 HK$'000

RZB-NF HZZ-N\F RIF-NF HIT-\E
+ZA=+-B Z=ZA=t-8 +zR=t-B =ZA=1-H

TR Tk FEn FET

Authorised EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each BREBIMNATZEER 200,000,000 200,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000
Convertible preference shares BRE LR 602,000 602,000 6,020 6,020
Issued and fully paid BRITRAR
At beginning of period/year R/ E7) 4,458,901 3,346,401 44,589 33,464
Acquisition of entities under common B S REIZHINBE (ffta)

control (note a) - 800,000 - 8,000
Exercise of warrant subscription rights  17{5 IR & 288 4 (fifs2b )

(note b) - 312,500 - 3,125
At end of period/year R/ EXR 4,458,901 4,458,901 44,589 44,589
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERR N

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

29. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Company incorporated outside Hong Kong

Notes:

(a)

In December 2016, Fujian Sinco, an indirectly wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, and Fuzhou Gaojia
Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (“Fuzhou Gaojia”), the
vendor which is beneficially owned and controlled by Mr.
Guo Jiadi, entered into agreements pursuant to which
Fujian Sinco conditionally agreed to acquire and Fuzhou
Gaojia conditionally agreed to sell each of 95% of equity
interests of Fujian Jingdu Land Co., Ltd. (“Fujian Jingdu"”)
and Xian Sandi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (“Xian
Sandi”).

Fujian Jingdu

On 26 May 2017, the Group completed its acquisition
of 95% of equity interests of Fujian Jingdu. The
consideration for acquiring the Fujian Jingdu is
RMB455,816,462, which comprises RMB196,000,000
(equivalents to HK$219,600,000) for acquiring 95%
of the equity interests of Fujian Jingdu (“Fujian Equity
Consideration”) and RMB259,816,462 (equivalents to
HK$291,100,000) for the entire amount of the loans
owed by Fujian Jingdu to Fuzhou Gaojia as at 31 October
2016 (“Fujian Loan Consideration”). The Fujian Equity
Consideration was settled through the Company allotting
and issuing 800,000,000 new shares at the issue price
of HK$0.2745 each to United Century International
Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI which is
directly and owned by Mr. Guo lJiadi, on 26 May 2017.
Part of the Fujian Loan Consideration was settled in cash
by Fujian Sinco to Fuzhou Gaojia in January 2017 and
the remaining portion of RMB109,816,462 (equivalent
to HK$137,183,000) was paid during the year ended 31
March 2018.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEBMBRRHME

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

29. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Company incorporated outside Hong
Kong (continued)

Notes: (continued)

Xian Sandi

On 16 June 2017, the Group completed its acquisition of
95% of equity interests of Xian Sandi. The consideration
for acquiring the Xian Sandi is RMB202,437,651,
which comprises RMB95,000,000 (equivalents to
HK$111,440,000) for acquiring 95% of the equity
interests of Xian Sandi (“Xian Equity Consideration”)
and RMB107,437,651 (equivalents to HK$120,300,000)
for the entire amount of the loans owed by Xian Sandi
to Fuzhou Gaojia as at 31 October 2016 (“Xian Loan
Consideration”). The Xian Equity Consideration and part
of the Xian Loan Consideration were settled by Fujian
Sinco to Fuzhou Gaojia in January 2017 and the remaining
portion of RMB57,437,651 (equivalent to HK$71,751,000)
was paid during the year ended 31 March 2018.

The directors of the Company have determined that the
application of merger accounting to the acquisitions
of Fujian Jingdu and Xian Sandi, being a business
combination involving entities under common control,
under Accounting Guideline 5 “Merger Accounting for
Common Control Combinations” (“AG 5") issued by the
HKICPA, will provide more relevant and useful information
to financial statement users as it better reflects the
economic substance of the transaction.

On 21 December 2017, the Company received written
notice issued by the holder of warrant for a full exercise
of the warrant to the extent of HK$75,000,000 at
exercise price of HK$0.24 per share. On 22 December
2017, the Company issued 312,500,000 new ordinary
shares with par value of HK$0.01. Upon the full exercise
of warrants, the balance of warrants reserve amounting
to approximately HK$9,261,000 was transferred to
share premium. Approximately HK$3,125,000 and
HK$81,136,000 were recognised in share capital and
share premium respectively during the year ended 31
March 2018 upon the exercise of warrants.

29. BA& (%)

REBRINEMRILZAE (#)

Ftat: (%)

HR=3H

RZZE—tF A+ B KAFTE
BRURER PO 2 = 38995 % IS HE - URBE 7
7= RERARYE202,437,651
ToHEABEERERKEBAL = !
95%% # &) A R #95,000,0007T
(F8E 111,440,000/ 7T) ([ %
REREBEER-_Z—XE+ A
Tt+—BREZ-HBEXRBINSES
B A R107,437,6517C (HEE R
120,300,000/ L) ER (AL E
HRE]D -FALRERERBSE
ZERREBER -_Z—+E— Al
BEEMAEBNSEENREE S
T-NFZA=Z+—RHLEE &
TEBD AR¥S57,437,6517T (FBER
71,751,000/ ) B X +f »

AAREFEE REF LT
NEBMEEFHESI L5 [HFE
Haptmaptesta] (T85H1E3
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ARATRBIRREZTFFE AED
B 31T B B HR0.2478 TTREITHE
75,000,000 TR R EZFNEE
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B A2 & #17312,500,0008% 5 A%
EE0.0E T 2 ¥ WA - B &7
FRIREZRE RREZRESRTE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERR N

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 30. URIAEREZRS

2

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on
16 September 2011, the shareholders of the Company
approved the adoption of a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”).

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide
the Company with a flexible and effective means of
incentivising, rewarding, remunerating, compensating
and/or providing benefits to the participants. The Share
Option Scheme covers any employee (full time and part
time) holding salaries, agents, contractors, consumers,
suppliers and others providing similar services as the
Board in its sole discretion considers eligible.

The exercise price, vesting period, the exercisable period
and the number of shares subject to each option will be
determined by the Board at the time of grant.

The maximum number of unexercised share options
currently permitted to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to
30% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time.
The maximum number of shares issuable under share
options to each eligible participant in the Share Option
Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any
further grant of share options in excess of this limit is
subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates,
are subject to approval in advance by the independent
non-executive directors of the Company. In addition, any
share options granted to a substantial shareholder or
an independent non-executive director of the Company,
or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time and with an
aggregate value (based on the price of the Company’s
shares at the date of the grant) in excess of HK$5 million,
within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’
approval in advance in a general meeting.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 &% —

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within the date specified in the offer, upon payment
of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the
grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted
is determinable by the directors of the Company, and
commences after a certain vesting period and ends on a
date which is not later than 10 years from the date of the
grant of the share options or the expiry date of the share
option scheme, if earlier.

On 22 February 2016, a total of 46,000,000 shares
options (“Batch 1 Options”) were granted to the
directors, employees and others providing similar services
of the Group at a cash consideration of HK$1 per grantee
which entitle the grantees to subscribe for new ordinary
shares of the Company at an exercise price of HK$0.285
per share. It shall be exercisable during the period from
the date of grant, first, second and third anniversary of
the date of grant respectively in the following manner:

(@) 25% of the option will be exercisable during the
period from the date of grant;

(b) 25% of the option will be exercisable during the
period from the first anniversary of the date of
grant;

() 25% of the option will be exercisable during the
period from the second anniversary of the date of
grant;

(d) 25% of the option will be exercisable during the
period from the third anniversary of the date of
grant.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERR N

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 30. URHBAREEZRS (#)
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
On 24 April 2018, a total of 59,700,000 shares options RZZE-N\FOA=-+MA " &H#
(“Batch 2 Options”) were granted to the directors, 59,700,00017 BE f& & (55 — #HL BB AR
employees and others providing similar services of the BIERTAEE2ESE BERRE
Group at a cash consideration of HK$1 per grantee which B BEABRAEZZNBARKENE
entitle the grantees to subscribe for new ordinary shares TT o AR A RR BRI IR B AR0.42078
of the Company at an exercise price of HK$0.420 per EZT‘J@F;] BARRFEBRH
share. It shall be exercisable during the period from the SRREBEERE HEHBB—EF
date of grant, first and second anniversary of the date of &ﬂﬁ?@ﬁﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁ WIRIA T AT
grant respectively in the following manner:
(@) 40% of the option will be exercisable during the (a) MELBHRIARMAEAIITE
period from the date of grant; 40% AR HE
(b) 30% of the option will be exercisable during the (b) A BE—EFRIMAEA
period from the first anniversary of the date of 1T1£30% i I 1
grant;
() 30% of the option will be exercisable during the (0 RELHHEMBFRHABAZ
period from the second anniversary of the date of FT1F30% 08 IR i
grant.
Details of specific categories of options are as follows: BREAERENZFBENT:
Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period Exercise Price
R A8 BEHHE TREHE THE
Options granted to an ex- 22 February 2016 Immediately to 22 February 2016 to HK$0.285
director, directors, employees —ZF—REZAZ+=H 3 years from the 21 February 2022 0.285% T
and others providing similar date of grant —T-RE
services ARZEREAHEs —AZ+ZHZE
KT—4MEE &% EER - “E--Ff
REFURB EMAT B —+-H
ftE
Options granted to directors, 24 April 2018 Immediately to 24 April 2018 to HK$0.420
employees and others ZT-\EMAZF+MA 2 years from the 23 April 2024 0.420%8 7T
providing similar services date of grant —ZE-N\F
RTE2 EERREBURE PEzEgREASet WAZTHAZE
ZEMATZ BRE ME “ZNFNA
—t=H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEBMBRRHME

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The following table discloses movements of the
Company’s share options held by ex-director, directors,
employees and others providing similar services during
the nine months ended 31 December 2018.

30.

URDAEEZRS (&)

TERBBE-T—\&+- A
=t-AUNEAAMEANES E

£ EERFEBUREZ

HAib A £

B2 ARABBIES 28 -

Outstanding

Outstanding Granted Forfeited of
of  duringthe  during the 31 December
Option type 1 April 2018 period period 2018
RZE-N\%¥ RZB-N\F
A—H +ZA=+—-H
EREER i RAT LA ARl e R AT B8
Batch 1 Options: E-HBRE:
An ex-director —ZHES 2,500,000 - - 2,500,000
Directors B2 5,400,000 - - 5,400,000
Employees and others providing B E RIREELIRBE
similar services EMAL 23,100,000 - - 23,100,000
Batch 2 Options: EMBRE:
Directors 5% - 15,200,000 - 15,200,000
Employees and others providing {8 8 RIBRHBELRS 2
similar services HE AL - 44,500,000 - 44,500,000
Total st 31,000,000 59,700,000 - 90,700,000
Exercisable at the end of HRATE
the period 90,700,000
Weighted average exercise price  JEFHITHE B HK$0.352% 7t
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERR N

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 30. URBAREREZRF (#)
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
The following table discloses movements of the TREREE_T—N\F=A=1—
Company’s share options held by ex-director, directors, AIEFFERAES EF EE Rt
employees and others providing similar services during BHURB o EMATRHEZARARGE
the year ended 31 March 2018. MRtE 2 2o
Outstanding
Outstanding Granted Forfeited of
of during the during the 31 March
Option type 1 April 2017 period period 2018
RZT—+F R_E-N\%F
mA—H =A=+—H
BRERR MARITE AR BRI mMARITE
Batch 1 Options: E-HBRE:
An ex-director AEE 2,500,000 - - 2,500,000
Directors o 5,400,000 - - 5,400,000
Employees and others providing & E R iREELRE 2
similar services Hib AL 23,100,000 - - 23,100,000
Total Bt 31,000,000 - - 31,000,000
Exercisable at the end of HARATE
the period 31,000,000
Weighted average exercise price  flEFH977EE HK$0.285/8 1T
During the nine months ended 31 December 2018, REBEZ-_T—N\EFE+_A=+—8H1F
59,700,000 options were granted on 24 April 2018. The NLE A - 59,700,000 EEIREE R —
estimated fair values of the option granted on this date is T-NFOA-_+TIHEEL -RZHE
HK$0.209. B R R E 2 5 A FER0.209
BT °

2 3 2 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018 . ;
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZE— N\F+_-_A=+—HI-NEA

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 30 URGOAREZRS (&)
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
These fair values were calculated using Binomial model. ZEATECAZEARIEAE-T

RYIRER 8 A\ B

The inputs into the model were as follows:

24 April 2018 22 February 2016
—E-NF —E-RE
MAZ—+HmA —A=+=H
Weighted average share price HK$0.420 HK$0.285
IHEFHITEE 0.4207% 7T 0.285/8 7T
Exercise price HK$0.420 HK$0.285
11fEE 0.420/8 7T 0.285%& 7T
Expected volatility 61.23% 63.39%
TE HA R 8
Risk-free rate 2.05% 1.17%
g L B ) 2
Early exercise multiple 220% - 280% 220%
REITERER
Dividend yield 0% 0%
Y%
Vesting period 1 to 3 years 1 to 4 years
7 & 5 1234 1544

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous
6 years. The expected life used in the model has been
adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the
effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and
behavioral considerations.

The Group recognised the total expense of HK$8,543,000
for the nine months ended 31 December 2018 (year
ended 31 March 2018: HK$760,000), in relation to the
options granted by the Company.

For the past ten years before the valuation date, no
dividend has been declared and paid to the shareholders
of the Company. Dividend vyield is assumed to be zero in
the Binomial model.

RHREERBERNFARBREZ
SRR TE - X IR AT 2 FBAH
HEREBEEEE 2 &EM A
BE TERVWRITARERMERZ
TETIAHE-

REZE-_Z—/\F+-_A=+—A81t
NER REEFE AR RE LR E
RHAF 8,543,000 T (HE-F
—N\F=ZA=+—HIFE :760,000
BIT) °

MEBHIEE T4 HESHRIK
HH& VFARRPRE - ZIAAEIR
R BB R AT -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERR N

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

31. BONDS PAYABLE 31. ERES

2

On 24 July 2015, the Company issued 7% coupon bonds
of principal amount of HK$11,000,000 (the “Bonds”) to
certain independent third parties. The proceeds received
by the Company were HK$11,000,000, with total issued
cost amounted to approximately HK$1,700,000. The
Bonds are denominated in HK$ and issued at par. Interest
is payable semi-annually and the principal will be repaid
when the Bonds fall due on 23 July 2019. The effective
interest rate of the Bonds is 12.08%. During the period
ended 31 December 2018, interest expense for the Bonds
is approximately HK$948,000 (Year ended 31 March
2018: HK$1,208,000).

The Bonds contain a liability component and an early
redemption option.

Liability component represents the present value of
the contractually determined stream of future cash
flows discounted at the prevailing market interest
rate on the initial date applicable to instruments of
comparable credit status and providing substantially
the same cash flows, on the same terms, but without
the embedded derivatives. The interest charged on the
Bonds for the period is calculated by applying effective
interest rates of approximately 12.08% per annum to
the liability component since the Bonds were issued.
Early redemption options are regarded as embedded
derivatives not closely related to the host contract.

The directors consider that the fair value of the above
early redemption options is insignificant on initial
recognition and at the end of each reporting period.

34 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

32. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which
includes bank borrowings, bonds payable and amounts
due to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries and
related companies, and equity attributable to owners of
the Group, comprising capital and reserves.

The management of the Group reviews the capital
structure periodically. As a part of this review, the
management reviews the planned construction projects
proposed by engineering department and prepares the
annual budget taking into account of the provision
of funding. The management of the Group assess the
annual budget and consider the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital. The
management of Group also balance its overall capital
structure through issue of new debt or the redemption of
existing debt.

The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from
prior year.
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

2

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 33. &@IT A
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) €T EZESR
As at As at
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HK$'000 HK$000

R=ZB-NE RZZT-N\F
+=ZA=+—B =FK=+—8H

FER F&T
Financial assets MEEE
Loan and receivables (including cash EXRRERZE (BERE R
and cash equivalents) ReEE) - 251,382
Investments held for trading HEEERE - 125,745
Financial assets mandatorily measured B4t EABEESKRE 2
at FVTPL B EE 69,006 133,857
Financial assets at amortised cost REEKAFEZHBEE 303,490 -
372,496 510,984
Financial liabilities MEaE
Amortised cost PR 1,370,620 1,604,806
Foreign currency risk management Hp 5 ] i S B

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a
monetary item will fluctuate because of changes in
foreign exchange rates.

Certain Hong Kong subsidiaries of the Company (for
which their functional currency is denominated in
HK$) also have certain related companies balances
and intra-group balances denominated in Renminbi
("RMB”). RMB is not freely convertible into other
foreign currencies and conversion of RMB into
foreign currencies is subject to rules and regulations
of foreign exchange control promulgated by the
PRC government. The Group manages its exposures
to foreign currency transactions by monitoring the
level of foreign currency receipts and payments.
The Group ensures that the net exposure to foreign
exchange risk is kept to an acceptable level from
time to time.

3 6 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEBMBRRHME

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(a) Categories of financial instruments (continued)

Foreign currency risk management (continued)

The Group considers its foreign currency exposure
is mainly arising from the exposure of RMB against
HK$. The Group regularly reviews the balances of
assets and liabilities and the currencies in which the
transactions are denominated so as to minimise the
Group's exposure to foreign currency risk.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign
currency denominated monetary assets and
monetary liabilities and intra-group balances,
with exposure to foreign currency risk which are
considered as significant by management, at the
end of the reporting periods are as follows:

33. £ T H (%)
(@) £RMIEZER (7)

IEEREE (&)
AEER R EINEE R EER
BARBLBTZAR ~AEHE
R EEENMBERRIANR
RPZEEHEEN  FERD
ARE B FE Y 2SN R o

762 B DASMNE SHE I E TSNS R
R EREENEBRABIAR
SERNRGIEER (BERERR
BAE)RBRERRZEEEN
T

Liabilities Assets
B8 £
As at As at As at As at
31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March
2018 2018 2018 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
R-B-N& RIZ-\F RIE-NF RIZ-\F
tZB=+-B ZA=t-B +tZB=t+-B ZA=t-H
FET FET T FiEr
RMB - intra-group balances ANRE-SBEARAREEH 183,763 16,034 112,470 112,565
RMB - other balances ARB -k 249,194 155,901 - -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 33. @ T A (&)
(a) Categories of financial instruments (continued) (a) I EBEZER (&)

Foreign currency risk management (continued) Sl ] B (4% )
The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to TRFVWRKEENAREH B
a 5% increase and decrease in HK$ against RMB. TT T R 18 40 K% 36 405 % B 7 B =%
5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting EougmANLLTESTIEABER
foreign currency risk internally to key management SNEE | B B 0 B 5% A B E
personnel. The sensitivity analysis includes only R o G E S AT Bk i
outstanding foreign currency denominated BN AINE A E 2 E¥IEE - B
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the AR 4 HA TR 15 B 3R 7 59, & &)y it
end of the reporting period end for a 5% change THERHE TRy FTHERE
in foreign currency rates. A positive number below THARE FA5% (—F—+
indicates a decrease in post-tax loss/increase in post- F 5% ) EMEBEZRLY B
tax profit where HK$ strengthen 5% (2017:5%) BEMZIEM - BT ARKET
against RMB. For a 5% (2017: 5%) weakening of 5o (—FE—FF:5% )
HK$ against RMB, there would be an equal and R HR A EE TR R M
opposite impact on the post-tax loss/profit and the EES 2= iR o Y

balances below would be negative. 8o

At At
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HK$°000 HK$'000

R=-B-N\F RZIZFT-)N\F
+=A=+-8B =A=+-AH

FEL F# T

Decrease in post-tax loss for the period/ HIRFi & EEF D,/ FR

increase in post-tax for the year T2 12 12,018 2,226
Interest rate risk Fil 2 |71 B
The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk AEERERER - RITEER
in relation to loan receivables, bank borrowings ERES (2RI E22 28
and bonds payable as disclosed in notes 22, 28 KINAERE) B A FEMEE
and 31 respectively. These financial instruments o 2% & b T A IRE E A X%
issued at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value T BYAEEAZ A TEME
interest rate risk. The Group cash flow interest rate b AEBEBRRA X @R E
risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of BERPPIRITEE SR 2 N EIRE) -
interest rates on bank balances. The directors of the AAREZRRIRES M EE
Company consider that the cash flow interest rate WAER - FE I 25 §RE
risk is insignificant and accordingly, no sensitivity A AEBEWEERA T A2
analysis is presented. The Group has not used any T AR E 7 BERE -

financial instruments to hedge potential fluctuation
in interest rates.

2 3 8 China Sandi Holdings Limited Annual Report 2018 . ;
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZE— N\F+_-_A=+—HI-NEA

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 33. & T B (&)
(a) Categories of financial instruments (continued) (a) I EBEZER (&)
Other price risk H it IR 18 )7 B2

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investments in equity securities measured at FVTPL
(31 March 2018: investments held for trading).
For equity securities measured at FVTPL (31 March
2018: investments held for trading) quoted in the
Stock Exchange, the management manages this
exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments
with different risks.

The sensitivity analyses have been determined based
on the exposure to equity price risk at the reporting
date. For sensitivity analysis of equity securities with
fair value measurement categorised within Level 1,
the sensitivity rate is increased to 5% for the period
ended 31 December 2018 as a result of the volatile
financial market.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments
had been 5% (31 March 2018: 5%) higher/lower,
the post-tax loss for the period ended 31 December
2018 would decrease/increase by HK$3,450,000
(post-tax profit 31 March 2018: increase/decrease
by HK$6,287,000) as a result of the changes in
fair value of investments at FVTPL (31 March 2018:
investments held for trading)

Credit risk

At 31 December 2018, other than those financial
assets whose carrying amounts best represent
the maximum exposure to credit risk, the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a
financial loss to the Group arising from the amount
of financial guarantees provided by the Group is
disclosed in note 38. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its
credit risks associated with its financial assets and
financial guarantee contracts, except the credit risk
of loan receivables is limited because it is secured by
assets of which the value is higher than the carrying
amount of the loan receivables.

AEBFBHKRER N FES
ABHAEZRAZFRF(ZZ
—N\F=A=+—H #HEE&E
?ﬁﬁ)ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁ{ﬁﬂﬁ o L PO B
RETFREHR N FET ABEET
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A=+—H HEEERE)M
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ez I EHEERE R LR R

BURE DT TR
AR R MEE - SER R
Rl—AD B R FEFEZRA
EHFZBEESTME BEZ
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£5% °
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

2

Trade receivable arising from contracts with
customers

The Groups’ exposure to credit risk arising from
default of the customers is limited as the customers
have continuous repayment. Other monitoring
procedures are in place to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model upon application of
HKFRS 9 (31 March 2018: incurred loss model) on
trade balances based on provision matrix.

Other receivables

The Group has applied 12-month ECL in HKFRS
9 to measure the loss allowance unless there
is significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. The Group uses past due information to
assess whether credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 33. @@ T A (%)
(a) Categories of financial instruments (continued) (a) I EBEZER (&)
Credit risk (continued) EERE (&)
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

33. £ T H (%)
(a) €MIAEZEA (&)

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(a) Categories of financial instruments (continued)

Credit risk (continued) EERE (&)
Loan receivables FEUE 7

The Group has applied 12-month ECL in HKFRS
9 to measure the loss allowance unless there
is significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. The Group use the value of secured
assets to assess whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition.

Amounts due from related companies

The credit risk of amounts due from related
companies are managed through an internal
process. The Group actively monitors the
outstanding amount owed by each related party
and identifies any credit risks in a timely manner
in order to reduce the risk of a credit related loss.
Further, the Group closely monitors the financial
performance of the related companies which
mainly engage in properties development in the
PRC. In addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model upon application of
HKFRS 9 (31 March 2018: incurred loss model) on
the outstanding balances individually.

Bank balances

The credit risks on bank balances are limited
because the counterparties are banks with high
credit ratings assigned by international credit rating
agencies.

Financial guarantee contracts

For the financial guarantee contracts provided
by the Group to banks in connection with the
customers’ borrowing of mortgage loans to finance
their purchase of properties, the Group measured
the loss allowance on financial guarantee contracts
by reference to the loss on default based on the
current property value and the pre-sale deposits
already received. The directors considered that the
loss allowances on financial guarantee contracts
at 1 April 2018 and 31 December 2018 were
insignificant to the Group.
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

33. £@ T H (%)
(a) SMTEZER (&)

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(a) Categories of financial instruments (continued)

Credit risk (continued) EERE (&)
The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment REBAPEEEHILTER
comprises the following categories: ELATER

2

Other financial

Internal assets/other
credit rating Description Trade receivables items
Hitb i BEE/

LAESEERS it FEWUR HiE B

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does Lifetime ECL - 12-month ECL
not have any past-due amounts (provision matrix)

(KRR REZUFNENERREEYREMAHSE  2HEHER- REARBEES

(BiEER) E#&

Watch list Debtor frequently due after due dates but usually  Lifetime ECL - 12-month ECL
settle after due date; or the counterparty operates  not credit-impaired
in industry with higher risk while the debt is
secured by assets which the value is higher than
carrying amount of the receivables

BREE EBARLERRHABESENABABRE 2HEHER- NEAESEE
1 HHFHEEMETERRRS  MEBNU FERAE E#B
EESRERTREREEL EEEER

Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk ~ Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
since initial recognition through information not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
developed internally or external resources

2 RANTESHENINIERERBNIER 2HEHNEER- THREERE-
SAR 12 B E IR A BB E N FERRE FERRE

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit- Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired

B#E REBETEECHRGEERNE PHERER- THREER-

FERE EERE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor isin ~ Amount is written off ~ Amount is written off
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery

f 34 FEBBREBARRBENKNALAEEY SECHHA THECHE

BYWEFENAERAR
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 33. & T B (&)
(a) Categories of financial instruments (continued) () €MIBEZER (&)
Credit risk (continued) EEEE (&)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of TRFANAREBYEEE (B
the Group’s financial assets, which are subject to SIEEE BRI e
ECL assessment: EERK:
External  Internal Gross
credit credit carrying
At 31 December 2018 Notes rating rating 12-month or lifetime ECL amount
HK$°000
HEBER  ABER
R-ZB-NF+ZR=+-0 Mt BE AR NEARZHRNEESRE HREAH
TET
Financial assets at amortised cost
REHERATECHBEE
Other receivables 23 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL 20,183
(Note 2)
H it M TR IE TER  BRER REAESREEEE
(Hizt2)
Amounts due from related 39 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL 15
companies (Note 2)
JEN R N R FUE NERA {5 2 B REAEHEESSE
(Kizt2)
Loan receivables 22 N/A Watch list 12-month ECL 125,235
(Note 3)
ERER TER  BERE REAESREEEE
(H1i3)
Restricted bank deposits 25 A2 N/A 12-month ECL 575
ZRERITER A2 TEH REAEHEEESSE
Bank balances and cash 25 A3toAa3  N/A 12-month ECL 149,056
RITEBRE 2 A3ZAa3  PiEA REAEHEESSE
Other items
HipER
Trade receivables - 23 N/A (Note 1) Lifetime ECL 8,426
operating leases
AR — ~ER (Kar) PHRBEERR
KeHME (B fEmRE)
Financial guarantee 38 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL 1,437,026
(Note 4)
BB RER TER  ERER REREHREEER
(fita)

20185 243

. TEZBEZERARAR
-h



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERR N

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

33. £@ T H (%)

(a) @WMITEZER (&)
Credit risk (continued) EERE (&)
Notes: Hfat -

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(a) Categories of financial instruments (continued)

2

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the
simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECL. The trade receivables are
assessed for ECL in provision matrix. The customers
in relation to leasing of investment properties are
under watch list as they frequently due after due
dates but usually settled after due date.

FUERME  AREERA
FEW RS LERIFIE A
AT E2 HFEAEEEEY
B - EURA N B R
R EIEERER B
HEREMEREREE T
RAAREFREBRBAHALRE
BEEXNBHBEHEEE-

For the purposes of internal credit risk management, 2. BANEERMEEmMES A
the Group uses the financial information of the EEFEREMEEARBEED
other debtors and related companies to assess AWM BRI EEERR 2
whether credit risk has increased significantly DEVFSFERE AL - &
since initial recognition. The related companies are BEZ AREBEATAGEREY
considered by management to have sound financial BAFERR B E (B R
position and do not have any past-due amounts. S8 HMEE A 2 B hE
The balances of other debtors are not past due. ErHEf o

For loan receivables, the Group uses the financial 3. BEWEEZms AEBFEH
information of the debtors and the value of secured BIEA T B FEERIA R B K
assets to assess whether credit risk has increased HRYEE SEEEERRE
significantly since initial recognition. The directors of TS FERE ANGIE AN o A
the Company considered that the value of secured NEEEZ A FEBELEER
assets are higher than carrying amount of the loan EESNEREZMEEE 14
receivables that the amount of loss given default is B EBABEI A EA
insignificant.

For the financial guarantee contracts provided 4. BAEBREEEAKEED

by the Group to banks in connection with the
customers’ borrowing of mortgage loans to finance
their purchase of properties, the Group measured
the loss allowance on financial guarantee contracts
by reference to the historical default rate of the
purchasers, the loss on default based on the current
property value and the pre-sale deposits already
received and the forward looking information. The
directors of the Company considered that the loss
allowances on financial guarantee contracts at 31
December 2018 were insignificant to the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEBMBRRHME

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(a) Categories of financial instruments (continued)

Liquidity risk management

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management
rests with the board of directors, which has built an
appropriate liquidity risk management framework
for the management of the Group’s short, medium
and long term funding and liquidity management
requirements.

The Group manages liquidity risk by:

o continuously monitoring forecast and actual
cash flows;

o maintaining adequate level of liquid assets
mainly comprise of cash and cash equivalents
and held for trading equities securities;

o receiving pre-sale deposits for sale of
properties from customers; and

o applying long-term finance including bank
borrowings.

The following table details the Group’s contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities. The table has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash
flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay.
The table includes both interest and principal cash
flows.

33. £ T H (%)

(a)

EWMITARZER (£)

T B & 2 E
REERDESERE  N&E
ERAKEEENRERN I
MPEEERRRNASAEEE
BRRHEE S LRERE RENE
TENR PR FEKE-E
BEEEREENERER X E
RETERRE-

AREBFEBATTNIENRBE
TR

s FEEERAINERRS

=B .
V==

e RERANMBEEKF

TERIEReMNREEE
A RFIER 5 IR A E
5

s NEHEMFKRIFFEE
we M

e HEHBE (BRERITE
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TRFAIARETHREZEL
BERIE M  RIGTHIRBEAN SR E A
Bz &P AN EEVBAR
ZARMBREREFL - TRE
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z —ZE— N\F+_-HA=+—HI- @A
33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 33. & T B (&)

(a) Categories of financial instruments (continued) (a) I EZER (&)
Liquidity risk management (continued) REELEBREE (&)
Liquidity table MENE 2 K15

Weighted
average  ondemand 3 months Total Total
effective or less than to 1-2 2-5 Over undiscounted  Carrying
interest rate 3 months 1 year years years 5years cashflows  amount
% HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
METHER REXD AERRS
HE SRR ERZE  1E:F 125 EESE  BEE  REE
% Tér TR TEr  TEr  TEr  TET TEn
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\E+ZA=1-H
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ SEAT4 8 & &
Trade and other payables MR R E Ao 20 397,557 - - - - 397557 397,557
Amount due to related companies N EIE L EFE 22,644 - - - - 22,644 22,644
Amount due to non-controling  ERHBA A3HERRE A
shareholders of subsidiaries 226,550 - - - - 26550 226,550
Bank borrowings R/iTRRE
~ fixed rate -EEH® 587 144,338 - 86,976 318,979 229,519 779,812 736,575
Bonds payable ERES 1208 - 12,000 - - - 12,000 10,707
Financial quarantee contracts HREREH
(note 38) (Bt:£38) 1,437,026 - - - - 1,437,026 -

2,228,115 12,000 86976 318979 229519  2,875589 1,394,033

At31 March 2018 RZE-NEZA=T-H
Non - derivative financial liabilities T4 KEE
Trade and other payables &R &Hﬁtﬁfﬁ 229,326 - - - - 29326 229326
Amount due to related companies B/ 2,016 - - - - 2,016 2,016
Amount due to non-controling ~ ERHEL T?H’“Hx oA

shareholders of subsidiaries 153,885 - - - - 153885 153,885
Bank borrowings RiTRRE

- fived rate -ETHE 587 195,460 - 257 481 470,227 379107 1,302,275 1,230,070
Bonds payable ERES 1208 11,588 - - - - 11,588 10,339
Financial quarantee contracts HHBEREY

(note 38) (Bt:£38) 911,259 - - - - 911,259 -

1,503,534 - 257481 470227 379107 2610349 1,625,636
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Categories of financial instruments (continued)
Liquidity risk management (continued)
Liquidity table (continued)

The amounts included above for financial guarantee
contracts are the maximum amounts the Group
could be required to settle in cash or other
financial assets under the arrangement for the
full guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed
by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based on
expectations at the end of the reporting period, the
Group considers that it is more likely than not that
no amount will be payable under the arrangement.
However, this estimate is subject to change
depending on the probability of the counterparty
claiming under the guarantee which is a function
of the likelihood that the financial receivables held
by counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit
losses.

Fair value measurements

Financial assets that measured at value on
recurring basis

Certain financial assets of Group are measured at
fair value at the end of each reporting period. The
following table gives information about how the fair
values of these financial assets are determined (in
particular the valuation technique and inputs used).

33. £ T H (%)

(a)

(b)

SMIEZER (&)
ABESEBEE (4)
FBESER (F)

B ERFIREBRRA D2 SHE
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Fair value measurements (continued)

Financial assets that measured at value on
recurring basis (continued)

Fair value at Fair value at

31 December 31 March  Fair value

Financial assets 2018 2018 hierarchy
HK$'000 HK$°000

R=B-NF  HZTNF
tZAZ+-8 ZA=f-H

33. £@ T H (%)

DFEE (HE)
RELEEMEEZEETELZ
MBEE (&)

Valuation technique
and inputs used

FREEREREARE

HBEE ZAYE JDVTE DVEESR
T#rn FEL

Financial assets at FVTPL - 133,857  Level 3

BATEFARHLZ RA=

NBEE

Financial assets 69,006 125,745  Level 1

mandatorily measured RAl—

at FVTPL/Investments

held for trading.

BERDTET ARG

EVHBEE/HEE

E/REED

Financial assets and financial liabilities not
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The fair values of financial assets and financial
liabilities of the Group are determined as follows:

o the fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities carried at amortised costs is
determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on discounted
cash flow analysis; and

o the fair value of financial guarantee
contracts at initial recognition is determined
to be insignificant, using option pricing
models where the main assumptions are
the probability of default by the specified
counterparty extrapolated from market based
credit information and the amount of loss,
given the default.
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Income approach - discounted cash flow
method was used to capture the present
value of expected investment returns to be
derived from the investment, based on an
appropriate discount rate.

BAERERBRREREEREREEEHT
R RRETERBRARENENRE-

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets.
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

34. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 3. MERBHFEENAEEYHER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TRAVNAEEERETHEENE
arising from financing activities, including both cash B AEReERIREEFH - BEE
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing BEANBEERAEEZGZERSE
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future MERTBEREREGHELALER
cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated RAEREFERMETHRERE
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing ZBfE-
activities.
Amounts
due to
Amounts non-controlling
dueto shareholders
Bank Interest Bonds related of
borrowings payable payable  companies  subsidiaries Total
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Note 28 Note 31 Note 39(a) Note 39(a)
ERMELT
ERBE FERRR
BITRE EfFE EfiE% GER 35 @t
FEr T T T T T
Fii2s Basr  WE9e  HiE9e)
At 1 April 2017 R=F-+£MA-H 1,399,979 - 9,900 211,152 - 1,621,031
Financing cash flows HERSR (303,706) (78,045) (769) (236,391) 145,253 (473,658)
Foreign exchange translation Eihg 133,797 - - (4,745) 8,632 137,684
Finance costs BEARA - 78,045 1,08 - - 79,253
Non-cash transaction FRETH
(Note 39 2) (i) (3 3903)i) - - - 32,000 - 32,000
At 31 March 2018 R-B-N\E=R=1-H 1,230,070 - 10,339 2,016 153,885 1,396,310
At 1 April 2018 R=%-\EMA-A 1,230,070 - 10,339 2,016 153,885 1,396,310
Financing cash flows MERER (399,734) (43,637) (580) 31,613 79213 (333,125)
Foreign exchange translation ERAE (93,761) - - (10,985) (6,548) (111,294)
Finance costs BERL - 43,637 948 - - 44,585
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\E+ZA=1-H 736,575 - 10,707 22,644 226,550 996,476
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

35. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 35. EEEH
The following assets were pledged to secure bank RBEBRR THEELERUER
borrowings granted to the Group at the end of the BRI AEERITEEZER:
reporting period:
At At
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HK$'000 HK$°000

R-ZZ2-NE RZ-T-)\F
t=A=+-8 ZA=t+-*H

FET FET

Investment properties (note 17) (note a) &M (Hfz£17) (Kizta) 3,569,200 3,952,998

Properties under development (note 18) ~ Z&E R ¥ % (Kf7L18) 195,934 180,283

Prepaid lease payments (note 18) TENMEERIE (HaE18) 162,146 177,907

Inventories of properties (note 21) MERFE (Kat21) 34,020 1,249,179

3,961,300 5,560,367

Net asset of a subsidiary (note b) —fRMB AR 2 EEFE (HiFb) N/A 84,695

Notes: B st -

(@) The rental proceeds on the investment properties were (@) WREMENHHESMERIEDERA
pledged to secure the bank borrowings granted to the ERETAEBZBITEE-
Group.

(b)  As at 31 March 2018, the entire ordinary shares of Xian b)) RZE-NF=A=+—RH A2
Sandi, a subsidiary of the Company, were pledged to AMBARIALR =2l EEK
secure the bank borrowings with principal amount of EEFAERR T AEERSED
approximately HK$287,309,000 granted to the Group. 287,309,000 T Z iR1TEE - HRE
The relevant bank borrowing was fully repaid and the RITEEESBEERE ADEAR
pledged shares were released during the nine months PREZE-_E—N\F+_A=1+—
ended 31 December 2018. BiENE A BBk
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mEBMBRRHME

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

36. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 36. KEHERH

The Group as lessee AEBERAEBEA
At At
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
R=B-N\F RZT-N\F
+=ZA=+t-B =A=t+—H
FET T

Minimum lease payments paid under B/ FARBEEHEEN 2 &E

operating leases during the period/year HEMK 804 2,040

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments under

RBEYR AEBRE DA HEL
SHERAN NI REBH 2 KK &

non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as K8 & - JRAEHE
follows:
At At
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HK$'000 HK$°000
RZE-NFE RZZT-N\F
+ZA=+—H —A=+—H
FET FET
Within one year —FR 492 327
Later than one year not later than five years —F B L ER 296 -
788 327

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by
the Group for certain of its office properties. Leases are
negotiated for term of three years.

REHENFEAREREE THA
WERNzEE KBRH HHMA=

Fo
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

36. OPERATING LEASE 36. REHELTH (&)
ARRANGEMENTS (continued)
The Group as lessor AEBERAEHAA

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
contracted with tenants for the following future
minimum lease payments:

RI|BEHR AEBE S EBEPFTHE
B IIIRRFEHEENK:

At At

31 December 31 March

2018 2018

HKS$'000 HK$'000

R-ZB-NE RZIZT—N\F

+=ZA=+—-HB =ZA=+-—H

FET FHET

Within one year —ER 74,389 70,201
In the second to the fifth year inclusive E_FEENF (AEEEMET) 61,065 136,775
More than five years REME 37,786 146,453
173,240 353,429

Leases are negotiated for an average term of one to
fifteen years with fixed rentals.

BuEm BT ANF—FETRF
Hy - FHEBEE -

37. OTHER COMMITMENTS 37. Hh&IE
At At
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
RZE-NFE RZIZT—N\F
+ZA=+—H —A=+—H
FET FET
Commitments contracted for but not RFERADFTLEE
provided in the reporting period B2 AR

— for investment properties (note) —&E&EWE (i) 273,240 299,813

— for properties under development and —BRPYERMEFS
inventories of properties 814,957 923,531
1,088,197 1,223,344
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 &% —

37. OTHER COMMITMENTS (continued)

Note:

During the year ended 31 March 2017, Fujian Sinco has
entered into an agreement (the “Refurbishment Agreement”)
in respect of the refurbishment work on its investment
property (the “Refurbishment”) with an independent
contractor (the “Contractor”). The estimated contract sum
of the Refurbishment is RMB240 million, and Fujian Sinco
has paid RMB240 million as a deposit (the “Refurbishment
Deposit”) for the Refurbishment during the year. According to
the Refurbishment Agreement, the time of completion of the
Refurbishment shall be 300 days.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, Fujian Sinco has
also entered into a loan agreement with the Contractor and
pursuant to which, a loan in the sum of RMB240 million (the
“Contractor Loan”) has been granted to Fujian Sinco by the
Contractor. The Contractor Loan is unsecured, interest-free
and repayable in the earlier of the date of completion of the
Refurbishment or five years. After taking into account the
substance and overall commercial effect of these transactions
by the directors in the context of the aspects and implications
of these transactions as a whole, for the financial reporting
purpose, these transactions are regarded as a single linked
transaction and accordingly, the Refurbishment Deposit and
the Contractor Loan are not separately presented in the
Group’s consolidated financial statements. As at 31 December
2018, the contract sum of the Refurbishment amounted to
RMB240,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$273,240,000
(31 March 2018: equivalent to HK$299,801,000)) is thereon
disclosed as the Group’s other commitment in the consolidated
financial statements.

mEBMBRRHME

E-NF+_A=+—HILNEHA

37. HA&AE &)

e

HE-_Z—+H=-A=+—HIFE &
BEME—ZB AN ([Z8%H]) 5%
HSEME s BH TR ([E8F]) T —
mieE ([BFhE]) - BF o Bsteane
%85 4 AR #240,000,0007T © 18 22 5 Rl F
MW E X AR 240,000,000 & 4 &
2z ([Bke]) - REBHHBE =
B BY 3T 2 85 78 A300K

Hz-Z—tHF=-A=+—BLFE"
REARNMEHEABEILER G &
HABEMERAERELHBEEAEARE
240,000,000t 2 &5 ([FBEHER]) -
AEBERAEEIF 2ERARPF T
ﬁiaﬁﬁﬁi(ufi‘%ﬁ/iﬂgg E3S

BEMEZERGZEMAEAREE &
ERNERZER G NARBEFESE
B HUBREEN ZEXHIEHRAE—
BEBEENR S EILENRE AR
FERUREAEE IGETBHRERE
BEY -R_ZE—N\F+=-_A=+—8"
Bz 64485 AR240,000,0007T
(HERL 273,240,000 T (—F— N\
F=ZA=+—H:HERL 299,801,000
BIL) IR E U BREARBR AL EE
2 E A AR
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

38. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 38. HAREE

At At
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HK$'000 HK$°000
R-ZB-NE RIZT-N\F
+ZA=+—H —A=+—H
FERT FET
Guarantees givens in favour of banks for: [ #R1T{EH &R
Mortgage facilities granted to purchases of A FAEBEWMEER 2
the Group's properties (Note) WBRE M) 1,437,026 911,259
Note: The Group had provided guarantees in respect of BieE s AEBERE TRITRL ZIZBRE

2

mortgage facilities granted by certain banks in connection
with the mortgage loans entered into by purchasers of
the Group’s properties. Pursuant to the terms of the
guarantees, if a purchaser defaults on the payment of
its mortgage during the term of guarantee, the bank
holding the mortgage may demand the Group to repay
the outstanding amount of the loan and any accrued
interest thereon. Under such circumstances, the Group
is able to retain the customer’s sales deposit and sell the
property to recover any amounts paid by the Group to the
bank. The guarantee period commences from the dates
of grant of the relevant mortgage loans and end after
the buyer obtained the individual property ownership
certificate. In the opinion of the directors, no provision for
the guarantee contracts if recognised as the default risk is
low and the fair value of the financial guarantee contracts
is insignificant.
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 30. FEEALTZR S
BALANCES
(@) The Group had the following balances with related (@) MBEBEHR FNEEHEAUT
parties at the end of each reporting period: RANE T AR

Maximum amount

during the period/
year ended
EETIRALE/
A At EngELE
At 31 December 31 March T Aprl 31 December 31 March
2018 2018 2017 2018 2018
HK$000 HKS$'000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$'000

RZB-NE RZE-\& RZE-+ ZE-N\F “E-)\E
tZB=+t-B  ZAZt-E EWA-B +ZA=t-B ZA=f-E

TR T FET FEn TiET
Non-trade nature (note (i) FESUE M)
Amounts due from related parties  FERRE 53 (fifst i)
(note (i) 15 140 295,441 140 314,070
15 140 295,441 140 314,070
Amounts due to related parties — ENEE 738 (M) N/A N/A
(note (i) 22,644 2,016 211,15 TER T
Amounts due to non-controlling ~ ERMBA AIHERREFE N/A N/A
shareholders of subsidiaries 226,550 153,885 - TER UL
N/A /A
249,194 155,901 211,152 TER AR
Notes: Ffat -
(i)  The above balances are of non-trade in nature, () FiEHBIEEFHHE - mIK
unsecured, interest-free, repayable on demand. W . pBRERERES-
(i) Mr. Guo lJiadi is a director and beneficial owner of (iy SBIEEEAZENTIZES
these companies. LEZEBAN.
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES (continued)

30. ERAEALTZR R (&)

(@) (continued) @) (&)

Notes: (continued) fiaE: (&)

(i) During the year ended 31 March 2018, the (i) BE=ZF-—N\F=A=+—H
Group has entered into a multi-party agreement IEFE REBEHEBIMEL
with related companies of which Mr. Guo Jiadi is HERERZENRINS
beneficially interested in, and has legally enforceable Fhz WEEEFERI TR
right to offset balances among the related parties FILAIRSHRAE A L 2 2584 &
in an aggregate amount of HK$32,000,000. % 32,000,000 LB 2 =
The relevant arrangement under the multi-party T-NFZA=Z+—HILF
agreement was completed during the year ended 31 - ZFHE TREELTEER
March 2018. As at 31 March 2018, an amount of FREK - R _ZT—NF=A
HK$2,016,000 due to related parties were resulted =t+—HB RHABTHEEL
and recognised as current liabilities after such 2,016,000/8 7T 2 & 1~ Bd 38 A
arrangement. THREXERSREEE -
This arrangement is regarded as non-cash W eSS RS RER
transaction for preparation of the consolidated BHHEABIFERERSH-
statement of cash flows.

(b) The Group entered into the following transactions (b) MH /FRNAREEEEBE ]

with its related parties during the period/year: NIATR S

Nine months
ended Year ended
Name of 31 December 31 March
related parties Nature of transaction 2018 2018
HKS$'000 HK$°000
BE=S-N\F HE-F\F
+ZHA=+—H —A=+—H

BEL A8 REME N8R EFE

FET FET

Fujian Sandi Real Estate Rental income received 211 283

Development Co., Ltd. (Note)
BE-ZEEHEREERAF (MF) DRESEA

Note: Mr. Guo Jiadi is a director and controlling
shareholder of the related company.

ffat: FBIELEERBEB AR ZE
= N PEROR -
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES (continued)

30. FRAEALTZR R (&)

(c) Remuneration of directors and other members of (0 RAHRE FE BHENEAME
key management during the period/year was as EERBEKBEZHMeNT
follows:

Nine months
ended Year ended
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HK$'000 HK$°000
BE-2-N\¥F BE2_T-)\#F
+ZHB=+—H —A=+—8H
Eh{@A LFE
FET FET
Short term benefits S B3 A 4,891 5,419
Post-employment benefits BB 12 12 A 89 50
Share-based payments ARG 15 A E A 30 2,391 158
7,371 5,627

(d) Fuzhou Gaojia, which is beneficially owned and (d) mEiakEBmREAR RIEHH
controlled by Mr. Guo Jiadi, and Guo Shi Investment AR = B e 2B N3 5 A AR AR
Co. Limited, which is ultimately owned as to BHRShEDNBRKERR
approximately 95% by Mr. Guo Jiadi have granted REERRETAKEZRITEE
guarantees to banks for the bank borrowings MERTTIR P ER © BRFFBHR
granted to the Group. Details of guarantees are set Bf5E28 °
out in note 28.

(e) Mr. Guo Jiadi and Ms. Shen Bizhen, the spouse of (e)  ZBhniade 4 K BB Fe A B AL

Mr. Guo Jiadi, have granted guarantees to banks for
the bank borrowings. Details of guarantees are set
out in note 28.

B2 LT RRITEERRITR
R - BRFBH N 28
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 40. X AT T EMEB AT 2F15

OF THE COMPANY

General information of subsidiaries MELT—RER
NBEHRARAFTEEREESAZ
EAR 2 BEHMNAT -

Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by

the company at the end of the reporting period are set

out below.
Place of
incorporation/ Paid up issued/ Proportion Proportion of
Name of registration registered ownership interest voting power held Principal
subsidiary Joperations capital held by the Company by the Company activities
AL/ HRBRARE/
KELTER BRIEERY HEs FEEREFERRRLA RREAREZREELA IRER
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
& B Ef B
At At At At At At At At
31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March
2018 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018
% % % %
RZB-NE RZE-NE RZ8-NE i
t=A=t-8 tZA=t-R tZA=1-8
% % %
Fujian Sinco* The PRC RMB290,000,000 - - 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Property investment
BREM # A& %290,000,0007C NERE
Fujian Jiake* The PRC RMB131,200,000/ - - 51% 51% - - 51% 51%  Property development
RMB216,000,000
BRER i ARH131,2000007/ NEER
AR#216,000,00010
Fujian Jingdu Land Co., Ltd* The PRC RMB100,000,000 - - 95% 95% - - 95% 95%  Property development
RERBEXARAT HE AE#%100,000,0007C NEER
Xian Sandi Real Estate Development  The PRC RMB100,000,000 - - 95% 95% - - 95% 95%  Property development
Co, Ltd*
ERZ#EHERRARAT: 98 AFR#100,000,0007C NEUR
Nanping Sandi Property development  The PRC RMB50,000,000 - - 55% 55% - - 55% 55%  Property development
(o, Ltd*
BY-RRHERZERLE  E AR H50,000,0007C NEUR
Strike Again Group Ltd BVI Us$1 100% 100% - - 100% 100% - -
Strike Again Group Ltd ABRAES (9
Shenyu Timber Co., Ltd Hong Kong Us$1 100% 100% - - 100% 100% - - Money lending
BFAZERAT £k B30 &
Weinan Sandi Real Estate Development The PRC RMB10,000,000 - - 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Property development
(o, Ltd*
BRZEEMERRARAT  9E \E#%10,000,0007 NEUR
Grand International Hong Kong HK$100 - - 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
Development Limited
EXERZRARAR 3 100%7 AR
* These companies are wholly foreign owned enterprise * RERAB/RFBEKLINEEE
. . . N 2 A N S = )
established in the PRC. The English names of these BX-ZFRRRAXLHERSE
companies are for reference only and have not been fe) AR FE A o

registered.
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

General information of subsidiaries (continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected
the results or assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, results
in particulars of excessive length.

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that
have material non-controlling interests
The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned

subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-
controlling interests:

40. "RATEEMBE AT 215
(#)
MEAR—REN (&)
ERIMEERRYEEBREEY
EYBRAEMEE AARNER
R-EERA JHAMHEARZ
HEREBAFRRIEBD TR

BEERFEREZZFZENE

DA ZFHE
TRAVIAEBESERFERE R
ZIHEEMBARFE:

Place of Proportion of ownership
incorporation interests and voting
Name of and principal rights held by non- (Loss) profit allocated to non- Accumulated non-
subsidiary place of business controlling interests controlling interests controlling interests
AMEIBER FERBEEE
HEARER TEERME FERRERRERLA AREFERESR (58)EN i FRRER
At At At At At At
31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March
2018 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018
HKS$'000 HK$ 000 HKS$°000 HK$ 000
RZB-Nf  RZT-\F  RIB-NE RIE-\F RCBR-NE RIE)E
tZf=t-B =A=t-B tZB=t-B =A=t-H tZB=t-B =A=1-H
FiEr FAT FEn AT
Fujian Jiake The PRC 49% 49% 17 (91) 18,127 25,616
RRER i
Nanping Sandi Xiang Song Co. ~ The PRC 45% 45% (3.308) (95) 22,310 (101)
Ltd ("Nanping Xiangsong”) R
BE-@ABARAA
(EBTEE])
Individually immaterial 3,137 12,970
subsidiaries with
non-controlling interests
ARFERERNENEEX
HEAT
63,574 38,485

Summarised financial information in respect of each of
the Group’s subsidiaries that has material non-controlling
interests is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts before intragroup
eliminations.

AEBEBEAFEREDZNNE LR
AINMBERBIEHSIT - T X
BEMBEESEREHERNERE-
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 40. X AT T EMEB AT 2F15

OF THE COMPANY (continued) (#)

Fujian Jiake is a 51% indirectly owned subsidiary of the BEERAAQRANRZE—Z=ZFK
Company established in 2013. The registered capital is VREEEAS Y ERNMB AR -
RMB216 million, in which RMB110 million and RMB106 St E AR A AR ®216,000,0007T
million are attributable to Fujian Sinco and Fuzhou Gaojia Heh AR %110,000,0007T & A R #&
respectively. In prior years, Fujian Sinco’s portion was fully 106,000,000t 7 Al S5 B R t@ i %
paid up while an aggregate amount of RMB27.5 million MEBMNEE-RBEFE BEZL
was paid up by Fuzhou Gaojia. There are no further paid MESEREBE MEBBARE
up capital contributed from Fuzhou Gaojia since then. 27,500,000;tEBHBEMSEHZE - 8

- wMEELEE-—SEHER-

Fujian Jiake rEEN
At At
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HKS$’000 HK$'000

R=ZB-N\F RZT-N\F
t=ZA=t-B =ZA=1-H

FET T

Current assets mEEE 159,512 174,968

Current liabilities MEAE (2,130) (2,325)

Net assets BEFE 157,382 172,643
Equity attributable to owners KARER AE(LREZR

of the Company 139,255 147,027

Non-controlling interests of Fujian Jiake BEERZIEERES 18,127 25,616
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

40. RATREENB AR ZFH1E

OF THE COMPANY (continued) (4)
Fujian Jiake (continued) BEEN (&)
Nine months Year
ended ended
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
—E-N\E —E-NF
t=A=+-8 Z=ZA=1-H
IEHhEA IHFEE
FER FET
Revenue g 25 B B
Other income HEbUg A 120 -
Expenses 53 (85) (185)
Profit (loss) for the period/year AERE,/ FERF (BE) 35 (185)
Profit (loss) attributable to owners AREEE AEIERT (BE)
of the Company 18 (94)
Profit (loss) attributable to of the IR EREG RN (EE)
non-controlling interests 17 91)
Profit (loss) for the period/year AHRE/FERH (BB) 35 (185)
Other comprehensive (expense) income ARAHEBEARGEMZE (FAX)
attributable to owners of the Company U %5 (7,790) 8,578
Other comprehensive (expense) FrEkEmEOEMEE (AxX)
income attributable to the I %
non-controlling interests (7,506) 8,241
Other comprehensive (expense) income AHRE/FEHME2E (FAX) K
for the period/year (15,296) 16,819
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 40. X AT T EMEB AT 2F15

OF THE COMPANY (continued) (&)
Fujian Jiake (continued) BRER (£)
Nine months Year
ended ended
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HKS$'000 HK$°000
—E-N\EF —T-N\F
+ZA=+—H —A=+—H
ER@EA EFE
FER FHET

Total comprehensive (expense) income RAREE AEEZ2E (X)W

attributable to owners of the Company ok (7,772) 8,484
Total comprehensive (expense) R EREGE2E (X)W

income attributable to the 4az8

non-controlling interests (7,489) 8,150

Total comprehensive (expense) income AHE/FEE2E (X)) REEE
for the period/year (15,261) 16,634

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 2 1 JE¥E AR 25 7 IR &, - -

Net cash inflow (outflow) from msEE VIR A (Rl ) 35
operating activities 18 (702)

Net cash inflow from investing activities KETZH RS TRAFE - -

Net cash inflow from financing activities @& EFBZRERAFEE - 236

Net cash inflow (outflow) Be&ERA(RE)FE 18 (466)
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 40. X AT T EMB AT 215

OF THE COMPANY (continued) (&)
Nanping Xiangsong BEEME
At At
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
RZBE-NE RZZ—N\F
+ZH=+—H —A=+—8H
FET FETT
Current assets BN EE 702,425 640,272
Non-current assets ERBEE 5,666 315
Current liabilities mEAE (601,041) (640,810)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (57,472) -
Net assets (liabilities) BE(AE)FE 49,578 (223)
Equity attributable to owners of the AREER AEGER
Company 27,268 (122)
Non-controlling interests IR = 22,310 (101)
Nine months Year
ended ended
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-N\F —E-N\F
t=ZA=t-B =ZA=1—H
LEh@EA IHFE
FET FET
Revenue g - -
Expenses X (7,353) (211)
Loss for the period/year AHE/ FEBE (7.353) 211)
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 40. X AT T EMEB AT 2F15

2

OF THE COMPANY (continued) (%)
Nanping Xiangsong (continued) HEYEME (&)
Nine months Year
ended ended
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HKS$’000 HK$'000
—E-N\F —T-N\F
+ZRA=+—-H =ZA=+—H
EAfEA H5E
FET FET
Loss attributable to owners of the Company AR RIEE AJE(LEE (4,045) (116)
Loss attributable to the non-controlling R R E(R SR
interests (3,308) (95)
Loss for the period/year AHE/ FEEBE (7.353) (211)
Other comprehensive expense attributable ARG HEE ABEEM A
to owners of the Company (2,919) (7)
Other comprehensive expense attributable JEIEAZER FE(L H b 2 E B X
to the non-controlling interests (2,388) (5)
Other comprehensive expense AHE/ FEAMZERSE
for the period/year (5,307) (12)
Total comprehensive expense AR EARGEZERSBE
attributable to owners of the Company (6,964) (123)
Total comprehensive expense FEREREEEERTEE
attributable to the
non-controlling interests (5,696) (100)
Total comprehensive expense AR/ FEEERAT RS
for the period/year (12,660) (223)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 2 1 JE 1% ik i 25 2 % &, - -
Net cash inflow from operating activities ~ &4 E8 2R & R A ERE 28,581 18,399
Net cash outflow from investing activities & & G827 IR &R HE5E - -
Net cash outflow from financing activities @& EFB 2 RE R L F58 - -
Net cash inflow ReanAFsE 28,581 18,399
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41. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 21 September 2018, Grand Supreme Limited
("Grand Supreme”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a conditional sale and purchase
agreement (the “VSA Agreement”) with the vendor,
Primary Partner International Limited (“Primary Partner”),
being 100% equity interest held by Mr. Guo Jiadi and
Mr. Guo Jiadi (as guarantor), pursuant to which Grand
Supreme conditionally agreed to acquire, and Primary
Partner conditionally agreed to sell the entire issued
share capital in All Excel Industries Limited (“All Excel”)
at the consideration of HK$1,500 million, which shall
be satisfied as to HK$200 million by way of cash, as to
HK$600 million by way of the issue of the promissory
note, as to HK$200 million by the issue of a maximum of
485,436,893 new shares and as to HK$500 million by the
issue of the convertible bonds.

Further detail of the above acquisitions, are set out in the
Company’'s announcement dated 21 September 2018 and
circular dated 26 December 2018.

All conditions precedent of the VSA Agreement had
been fulfilled and the completion of the acquisition took
place on 30 January 2019. Upon the completion, the
assets and liabilities of All Excel will be accounted for in
the consolidated financial statements of enlarged group
using merger accounting in accordance with Accounting
Guideline 5 “Merger Accounting for Common Control
Combinations” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

The directors are still in the process on estimate of the
financial effect on the acquisition on the approval date of
the consolidated financial statements.

41.

mEBMBRRHME

E-NF+_A=+—HILNEHA

HERERER
RZZE-—NFALAZ+—H"
Grand Supreme Limited ([Grand
Supreme | * KRR Z 2 EMBRF)
B2 & J3Primary Partner International
Limited ([Primary Partner]) (H
100%REBRBMBEERTE) R
FmEkE (ERERAIGINA
BHEEEHE([FFERKES
E#a]) ¥t Grand SupremeB
B &R Z U HE - mPrimary Partner
EERUHRELEEZREEXEGRA
AI([2E)z2ME FITRA:
X {8 A1,500,000,0007 JT - £
200,000,000/ 7T # i@ B IR & > 7
600,000,000/ 7T # i@ @ BT R H B
1% 3% <t~ 200,000,000 7T i i i@ 2
17 £ % 485,436,893/ 1 Ik 5 = 1 &
500,000,0007% 7T 1% i 38 #& 17 A # AR
BEH e

iR EIR 2 — T HIFERN AR
ARARA - N\FAA-+—-BZ

NEREARRBPAE-ZT—N\F+=
AZ+RXHEZBKX
FEERKEEBEREMBILR

REHEER MRBEHEER -F
—ﬂE—HE-E—EI%ﬁJZOJ‘EQ%BZ%N
RPRZEENABEBREREGED
’“/\?61?52 AHHE5I B 5% [ K RHEH
/\HE’JAHE.:Jr}iJﬁﬁﬁ/a\Tﬁaqu&
RIEBAKEZGRAMBHREAR -

EENRA W HAIE B BIDER
A SEENM R E -

20185 26 5

HE S BERERA T
h
-/



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M ERR N

For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 42. KA T ZHBR AR EER

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2

At At
31 December 31 March
2018 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
RZE-NFE RIZT—NF
+=A=+-A =ZA=t-H
FET FET

Non-current Assets FRBEE
Unlisted investments in subsidiaries MEBARZIELTIRE 1,979,813 1,790,730
Property, plant and equipment ME BB KR 110 262
1,979,923 1,790,992

Current Assets REBEE
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEFABR U HBREE - 133,857
Others receivables and prepayments H{th & U 3R IE % TB A 3R 778 11,759
Bank balances and cash RITHEBREIRE 3,144 57,677
3,922 203,293
Current Liabilities REBEE

Other payables and accruals Hit A FIANEER 8,665 5913
Bonds payable e E A 10,707 -
19,372 5,913
Net Current (Liabilities) Assets e (BB EEFE (15,450) 197,380
Total Assets less Current Liabilities EEAEBERRBAR 1,964,473 1,988,372

Capital and Reserves BAR i
Share capital (note 29) fEA (K z529) 44,589 44,589
Reserves i 1,919,884 1,933,444
Total equity MR 1,964,473 1,978,033

Non-current Liabilities *RBEE
Bonds payable ERES - 10,339
1,964,473 1,988,372
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #zZ —Z— \F+_-A=+—HitNLAA

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

42. R T2 BRI R &

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued) (%)
Movement in the Company’s reserves KNl E2EH
Share-based
compensation Warrants Other
Share reserve reserve reserve  Accumulated
premium (note |) (note ii) (note i) osses Total
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
HRHREE
ZRERE ARERRE Rt
RGEE (W) (W) (W) ZiER @it
THT THT THT TET FHT FHT
At 1 April 2017 R-E-—+EMA-B 312,411 3,302 9,261 1,462,051 (117,856) 1,609,169
Loss and other comprehensive FEEBBRENZERY
expense for the year - - - - (19,960) (19,960)
Recognition of equity-settled share BN BEE 7 5
based payments - 760 - - - 760
Issue of ordinary shares and cash ~ E{TERRRAREHTES
consideration of entities under LRERE (Hi296)
common control (Note 29 (a)) 211,600 - - - - 211,600
Exercise of warrant share TERAREER D 81,136 - (9,261) - - 71,875
At 31 March 2018 R-E-N\E=R=1-H 605,147 4,062 - 1,462,051 (137.816) 1,933,444
Loss and other comprehensive FHEEERAN2ERY
expense for the period - - - - (22,103) (22,103)
Recognition of equity settled share BN BEE 2 {3
based payments - 8,543 - - - 8,543
At 31 December 2018 RZE-NE+ZA=1-A 605,147 12,605 - 1,462,051 (159,919) 1,919,884
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For the nine months ended 31 December 2018 #Z - ZE— N\F+_A=+—HI- @A

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Movement in the Company’s reserves (continued)
Note:

(i) Share-based compensation reserve represents the fair
value of the actual or estimated number of unexercised
share options granted to employees, directors and others
providing similar services of the Company recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted for share-
based payments.

(i) Warrant reserve represents the net proceeds received from
the issue of warrants of the Company. The reserve will be
transferred to share capital and share premium accounts
upon the exercise of the warrants.

On 22 December 2017, the holders of the warrants
exercised the warrants for 312,500,000 new shares at the
subscription price of HK$0.24 per share.

(iii)  The other reserve, which is the contributed surplus
account of the Company, represents the difference arising
from the share premium reduction which was being
effective and approved by the Bermuda Registrar of
Companies on 11 May 2016. Under the share premium
reduction, entire amount standing to the credit of the
share premium account of the Company as at 29 February
2016 in the sum of approximately HK$3,640,117,000 be
reduced, with part of the credit arising therefrom being
applied to offset the accumulated losses of the Company
in the sum of approximately HK$2,178,066,000 in full
and the remaining balance of the credit in the sum of
approximately HK$1,462,051,000 being credited to the
other reserve of the Company.

Details of the share premium reduction are set out in the
Company’s circular dated 15 April 2016.

The share premium reduction was approved at the
Company’s special general meeting held on 10 May 2016.

43. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The comparative figures of this consolidated financial
statements have been reclassified to conform to current
period’s presentation. The reclassification has had no material
impact to the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 1 April 2018. Accordingly, the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 1 April 2018 was not presented.
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42. KT 2 BRI R A&

(#)
FREREEZRE (&)
Wit

() ARG BEEZ BEREBERER
BB AR 2 MR TR 4 2 Bt
BEFERETFALRIEE EF
BEAR BRSO E AL
RITEBR RS BE 22
T

(i) RBIERFEHBEARR R ETREE
BTSRRI - TR ER -
RSB ERA R EERE

RZE—+tF+A=+=H"
RBREBREAETERRE
B URABETRO 24 TRE
312,500,0000% A% 17 °

(i) HitbFEE (BEARAZEHABE)
EROEERIEENEZRE R
- RNFRAT—HLEERERA
FE T BE B R M A Ak o IR IR HRL R
19335 (B - BB A2 &) B 1D % B BR R
—E-RE-A-tTHABZEE#E
BF 58 493,640,117,0005 7T » A bk 2
7 ERFIAR D ARBEE A
NAZ BETEEX2,178,066,0007%
TG+ 8 N AR FRIE 491,462,051,000
PETLRT AR Bl E A 1

BRI 00 5 8 2 sF IS HN AR AR R
BR-_Z-—XR"EFONA+RAZA

BRI (& B R AR AN —T—X
FRAATERTHERREAE L
FERLAE

43. B EF

AGAaMBERROLBRBFEER
DR AREANHENIHR-R_F
—N\FUA—RB BHHBEHEGEEM
BRI EBEBALE - F I I &
2N =_F-N\EFNA-ANEFEA MK
AR o
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